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Corporate Information
AEEH
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Mr. LIU Weijin
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Dr. WU Jiesi

Independent Non-Executive Directors
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Mr. ZHANG Yijun
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Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
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Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo, Solicitors & Notaries

Principal Bankers

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Ltd.
The Bank of East Asia, Ltd.

The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Ltd.

Hang Seng Bank Ltd.
Nanyang Commercial Bank Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Ltd.

Registered Office

8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre
9 Science Museum Road
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Shareholding Structure
MRS

RE (RH) BRATH KEEREERDIBAL
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited Strategic Investors and the Public

EYNEZERER Q)
Shenzhen Investment Limited
B 1R % Stock Code: 604

47.42% 52.58%

BYHEZERAT
—— Road King Infrastructure Limited
BR42X 5% Stock Code: 1098

HEZERERRA R
— Coastal Greenland Limited
B 19185% Stock Code: 1124

DO

Principal Subsidiaries

Y N
Principal Associates
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Financial Highlights
MBHE

Results

Continuing Operations

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Share of profits and losses of associates

Profit before tax

Profit for the year attributable to
shareholders

Basic earnings per share (HK cents)
— For profit for the year

— For profit from continuing operations

Dividend per share (HK cents)

Balance Sheet

Net assets after minority interests
Cash and deposits

Net borrowings

Net assets per share after
minority interests (HK$)

Major Ratios
Gross profit margin (%)

Net debt to net assets after
minority interests (%)

FYER AR A T 2008F F3R

ES |
FEET
e
$HE R
EH

FE A5 Bt & 2 )it 7 K B 1R
B 35 A1 i A

P R P& A5 F 1A A

SIREARF CB)
— 4 P F
— B EE T
SRS GBI

BEREX
BRAOBBRERRFEE
e MiFxR
fEEFER

BrAOEAR R 1R
SRFEE (BT)

FEER
12 B 7 B (%)

FEFIE R D BURR
R RIFEEL (%)

2008
HK$ million
BEEER

4,080.82
2,368.04
1,712.78

432.87

1,724.73

873.02

27.19

26.63

11.00

10,691.88

4,570.86

7,680.46

3.33

41.97

71.83

2007
HK$ million
BEEHET

3,342.80
2,007.81
1,334.99

436.45

2,509.75

1,714.82

56.97

51.71

29.00

9,848.80

4,689.83

4,947.78

3.05

39.94

50.24

Change in
Percentage

A

22%
18%
28%
-1%

-31%

-49%

-52%

-49 %

-62%

9%
-3%

55%

9%

5%

43%



Analysis of Turnover and Profit

iz A 73 A

SRR

2008 2007
HK$ million HK$ million
Continuing Operations BFEER BERRT BEBTT
Turnover EXE
Property development MEER 2,528.55 2,015.11
Property investment MERE 362.98 300.02
Property management I E =g 563.51 463.45
Manufacturing Bl 282.85 291.83
Transportation services BB (L REEX®)

(taxi and passenger business) 194.03 150.56
Others Hitp 148.90 121.83
Total LR 4,080.82 3,342.80
Segment Results DEEE
Property development MEER 881.02 650.57
Property investment (note) MERE (ME) 796.71 939.06
Property management MEE R (10.15) 26.94
Manufacturing Bl 14.14 (0.77)
Transportation services (taxi and BB RE (M T REFEXET)

passenger business) 31.82 43.10
Others Hit (1.32) 0.64
Total gl 1,712.22 1,659.54
Share of Results of Associates B E AR XA
Property development, MEER-

investment and management KRERER 251.27 235.46
Road King Infrastructure Ltd and ~ EESIEZHR A A

others K EA 181.60 200.99
Total e 432.87 436.45

Note: Segment results after increase in fair value of investment properties of  Fff 7k :
approximately HK$515.3 million (2007: HK$725.5 million).
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

In the context of a grimy macroeconomic environment of 2008
coupled with a lack luster market sentiment in property sector,
the Group persistently abided its stable operation principles,
strengthened its sales in property business, and thereby able to
sustain a stable growth in its core business, and at the same time,
further improved its management standards.

—ETN\F EHHEK ﬂbzE’Jf%ﬂ%%)%ﬁfaiﬁ%ﬂ}%imﬁﬁﬁﬁE’J?ﬁ%ﬁfﬂ’
AEEEBFRARBESRE NRBFIHE  EERSTZOEBH
=g Hﬁ—iﬁ%l“’\:ﬂkﬁ —FETre

Maintaining Our Conservative Operating Strategy RIGBEKSERR

The Group effectively adjusted its operating strategy in time AEBEBIETIHE (L KA D H
by adapting to market changes. We adopted flexible pricing 2 7 4L & KB - ¥ jE N ¥ E W IE)
measures to our property portfolio for accelerating the circulation ~ EYEEREIE - MNRE B - AREE
of capital. At the same time, we moderately downsized the T TRKREFHNIER TIT KHIG
completion and commencement schedules of the projects in the #|- HAERMHY - EEE2FRIFR
coming years and reduced capital expenditures. Throughout the HFMEEBBELEBETRNIRNESR-
year, the Group was able to maintain a healthy balance sheet

structure with adequate cash flow.

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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Sustaining Growth In Our Core Business Segment

Since transforming our business as a property development-
oriented company in 2004, the profitability of the Group’s core
business segment has sustained a steady growth in its fourth
consecutive years. During the year, the development progress
and sales of the main property projects under the Group were
satisfactory with both income from property sales and projects
under construction attained significant increases over the same
period last year. As a developer holding the largest investment
property portfolio in Shenzhen, we keep on optimizing our
investment properties portfolio. During the year, we achieved a
stable growth in rental income over last year.

On-going Elevation of Our Corporate Management
Standards

The Group has all along been maintaining a transparent and
regulated operation, enhancing its internal management and
safeguarding the interests of its shareholders. Our internal
management standards and investor relationships were highly
recognized by our peers. During the year, the Board of Directors
of the Group was awarded the “Directors of the Year Award —
Listed Companies (HKEx — Non-Hang Seng Index

Constituents) Executive Directors Category” by

the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Prospects and Outlook

The Group believes that, as there is no
fundamental change in respect of the
essential factors supporting the property
sector, the future outlook of the property
sector in PRC remains flourish in the medium
and long run. After the comprehensive

adjustments of the property markets in

Shenzhen and the Pearl River Delta regions,

currently, we see explicit signs of rebound. As
Shenzhen and the Pearl River Delta regions are
one of the fastest growing and the most affluent
regions in PRC’s economic development, they
possess strong market purchasing power. The
Group will maintain its conservative but
optimistic attitude towards the recovery in

these markets.

FYERERAT 20085 F i
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Looking forward, with the immense support from our
shareholders, the Group will strategically put more emphasis in
Shenzhen and the Pearl River Delta regions. We shall refine our
plans and schedules and actively participate in the urbanization
reconstruction plan in Shenzhen. We shall fully explore the
redevelopment potential of our properties located at Shenzhen
city centres, bring into full play the competitive advantages
of the resources and professional capabilities gained through
our years of establishment in Shenzhen. At the same time, the
Group will persistently abide our stable operation principles,
ensure adequate cash flow and optimum gearing ratio. Through
strengthening the establishment of our brand name, we aim at
enhancing the awareness of “Shumyip” property brand name and
our market influence.

We are confident to achieve satisfactory results in 2009 as
well as maintaining an on-going stable growth of our business
in the years to come, thereby bringing fruitful returns to our
shareholders.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, | am grateful to the shareholders of the
Company, individuals as well as institutions of the society for
their continuous understanding, trust and support to the Group
during the year. | am also grateful to the management and all
staff of the Group for their persistence, diligence, dedication and
contribution.

HU Aimin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 April 2009
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEE W&k

Business Review

In 2008, the domestic property sector was affected by
international financial tsunami and consolidation of PRC
economy and had entered into an adjustment phase. Our
property sales had remained lack luster. In facing this serious
situation, with securing the funding resources as our primary
objective, the Group accelerated its property sales and thereby
able to sustain its stable development.

In 2008, we recorded a turnover of HK$4,080.8 million from
our continuing operations, up by 22% when compare with the
previous year. Profit before taxation was HK$1,724.7 million,
down by 31% from the previous year. Net profit attributable to
shareholders amounted to HK$873.0 million, a drop of 49%
from 2007. Basic earnings amounted to HK27.19 cents. Net
assets per share at end of 2008, amounted to HK$3.33, up by 9%
from a year earlier.

By not taking into account the net effects of changes in fair
values of financial assets and liabilities, investment properties
and their respective deferred taxation, net operating profit
attributable to shareholders for the year amounted to HK$829.6
million, a drop of 19% from the previous year. Moreover,
net profit attributable to shareholders in 2007 included an
extraordinary gain of HK$533.7 million in respect of the
disposition of associated companies and subsidiaries. Such an
amount represented a higher proportion in profit last year. Not
including this factor, net profit attributable to shareholders for
the year achieved an effective growth of 59% that clearly showed
the core businesses of the Group were operating normally and its
overall development was stable.

EBOoE

—E)N\F XERSHEW AP EL
BORENEE  BAFMET S AR
B FEHENZEXRE -HYHR
e S REEIRIET HE - AR
RESLRERTFEEH EARFTH
B FRER-

ZETN\F AEEFELCEEBER
EEE4,0808F2 BT L EFRAR
& EF22% o B AR FI1,724.78 875
JL ot EETE31% - BIR AR (4D
F873.08EB Tt EF T E49% °
EREXRAERAE27198 L -FX &
FEEZER 3BT th EFRER
T9% °

mylkemEERBE REMENA
AREEZERABECHFFE X
FEERRENCEEBLT AH829.6
BEET REFTMEI9% B =
T LFEREEGCEHBELEH
BAE RMBAR 2 FRIE£533.7
BEBL AMEEFRFILARK-5
B 5kt A = - A F %R E A
B EBEIERS% - HILRAAE
EZOEKEFELER BERERB AR
fLo
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Property Development

During the year, sales performance of all our main projects
remained satisfactorily. Net turnover of HK$2,528.5 million was
recognized in respect of 260,000 square metres of contract sales,
a growth of 25% from the previous year. The average gross profit
margin was 51%, an increase of 6 percentage points over 2007.
Up to the first quarter of 2009, salable floor area of signed pre-
sale contracts for the properties developed by the Group was
133,000 square metres, which were mainly come from Shumyip
Coast Phase IlI, Purple Kylin Hill, Noble Residence, Wanlin Lake.
The pre-sale of this portion will be recognized in 2009.

Projects Under Development and land reserves

As of end 2008, we had 18 projects under construction with a
total gross floor area of approximately 1,973,000 square metres.
Out of these projects, 10 were at their pre-sale stage with a
scheduled salable floor area of approximately 228,000 square
metres. These projects include Water Pine, Nanhu Phase |,
Shumyip Coast Phase Ill, Purple Kylin Hill Phase I, Noble
Residence, Walin Lake Phase | and Phase Il. In 2009, 19 projects
with a scheduled salable floor area of approximately 428,000
square metres will enter their pre-sale stage. Some of the major
projects include Red Pine, Purple Kylin Hill Phase I, Shumyip
Coast Phase Il (Part 2), Royal Spring Villas and Nanhu Rose Bay
Phase II.

The land reserve currently held by the Group has a total gross
floor area of 11,634,000 square metres, with attributable gross
floor area 10,405,000 square metres (excluding our attributable
gross floor area of 694,000 square metres in Coastal Greenland
and 1,537,000 square metres in Road King respectively). There
was no addition to our land reserve during the year.
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Table of land reserves by location (including projects in progress)

REES B2 LR BER (SEEER)

Provinces Cities GFA
14 b EEME
sqm “F 75 K

Guangdong JE®R Shenzhen iRl 1,722,241
Huizhou 2 /M 1,548,222

Dongguan R 52 423,679

Foshan™ {311/ * 1,722,998

Heyuan™ JalJ&* 1,530,000

Hubei 43t Wuhan &2 527,956
Hunan J# & Changsha &% 1,735,693
Anhui Z# Chaohu & # 191,600
Maanshan®™ E5#11* 1,460,000

Jiangsu T &k Taizhou Z= M| 570,094
Liaoning %  Shenyang &[5 201,282
Total & &t 11,633,765

*  Part of the land premium of these three pieces of land is still
outstanding

Land Reserve * it &5

Attributable GFA Percentage
EEEEEE a5t
sqm 75K %
1,615,754 15.53%
1,522,792 14.63%
423,679 4.07%
1,722,998 16.56%
1,530,000 14.70%
361,646 3.48%
1,388,554 13.34%
153,280 1.47%
1,022,000 9.82%
570,094 5.48%
94,603 0.92%
10,405,400 100.00

R IR RN

Land reserves sorted by Provinces Land reserves sorted by Usage
RED Dz T #E RABRD 2z TR

0.92% 4.09%

Liaoning Commercial

5.48%

Logistics

13.34% W
/)

Hunan
piilzz)

3.48%
Hubei

514

Property Investment

In 2008, the property investment business under the Group
maintained a stable growing trend. The total size of our property
investment was approximately 633,000 square metres. Our rental
income for the year was HK$363.0 million, an increase of 21%
over last year. During the year, we recorded a revaluation gain of
HK$515.3 million in our investment property portfolio, and had
already been reflected in our profit this year.

FYERERAT 20085 F i
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Table of returns on property investments (excluding associated companies)

NEREDHRBERR (FTEBEBRELQT)

Total GFA (In"000 sqm)
Attributable GFA (In"000 sqm)

Fair value of investment properties
at end of year (In HK$ millions)

Total assets of the Group
at end of year (In HK$ millions)

Net assets of the Group
at end of year (In HK$ millions)

Percentage of investment properties
on total assets at end of year (%)

Percentage of investment properties
on net assets at end of year (%)

Water Pine
KA

31 December

2008
—EENE
+=-A=+—8H
REZEEE (FFEHK) 633
EmEREEE (TEAK) 576
REMEFRAAEBE
(B8HBT) 3,914
SEFRBEE
(B8BT) 27,719
EEFRFEE
(B8HBT) 10,692
FRIGEWHE
{548 & EE LL B (%) 14.1%
FRIGEE
73 & ZE L B (%) 36.6%

31 December
2007

3,316

25,526

9,849

13.0%

33.7%
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For the 12 months ended
31 December

BE+t=-ZA=+—-HL

+=@EA

2008 2007

—BEN\F —ETLF

Rental income (In HK$ millions) HeEBA(BESET) 363 300
Segmental results excluding changes RET AR EEEE)

in fair value (In HK$ millions) DRFXE(BEET) 281 213

Increase in fair value during the year 4 ‘A 7t {B B8 I

(In HK$ millions) (B&ET) 515 726
Segmental results including changes B &I AR EBEZE 2

in fair value (In HK$ millions) DEXE(AEBT) 796 939

Results of Associate Companies BENTEE

During the vyear, the results of our investments in associated
companies were satisfactory. Of which, Road King Infrastructure
Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong, contributed a net profit
of HK$177.0 million to the Group, a drop of 6% when compare
with last year. Coastal Greenland Limited, a listed company
in Hong Kong, contributed a net profit of HK$89.5 million to
the Group, an increase of 368% when compare with last year.
Shenzhen Tian An Cyberpark Co., Ltd. contributed a net profit of
HK$116.7 million to the Group, an increase of 5% from last year.

Discontinued Operations

On 18 June 2007, the Group entered into letters of intent,
proposed to dispose the industrial assets held by the Group.
Owing to the impact of global financial crisis during the year,
we were unable to reach an agreement with potential buyers in
respect of the detailed terms of the agreement and therefore, the
disposition is suspended temporarily. Hence, these assets were
being transferred to continuing operations from discontinued
operations.

On 3 December 2007, the Group entered into a letter of intent,
proposed to dispose the 80% equity interest it held in Shum Yip
Shumkang (Group) Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “Shum Yip
Shumkang”). As the respective proposal was not approved by the
relevant departments of Shenzhen Municipal Government, the
disposition works is suspended temporarily. Currently, the Group
is actively co-operating with Shenyang government to promote
the Wuai Bus Terminal Project owned by Shum Yip Shumkang.
Wuai Bus Terminal is a commercial property project located
at Shenyang city centre district with flourishing development
prospects. The asset will be transferred from discontinued
operations to continuing operations.

FINERBERAE 20085 F35
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In June 2008, the Group completed the disposition of its entire
equity interests in Shum Yip Transportation Company Limited.
Details of the disposition are set out in the announcement of the
Company issued on 18 December 2007.

In August 2008, the Group completed the disposition of the
51% equity interests it held in Hubei Shumyip Huayin Traffic
Development Company Limited to RZSEEEGR QA (formerly
known as RYITREKEHZABRAF). Details of the
disposition are set out in the circular of the Company issued on
18 April 2008.

Business Outlook

With the gradual sprawling of global economic crisis as well as
its devastating effects, the PRC economy in 2009 will be facing
a double downward pressure both in cyclical and structural
adjustments. It is expected that China’s property sector will
remain its adjustment sentiment with property pricing becomes
more rational. We believe that, since the second half year of
2008 to date, following the inclined aggressive financial policy
adopted by the PRC government as well as its moderate relaxed
monetary policy, domestic governments will introduce different
measures one after another to support the healthy development
of property sector. Amid further consolidation of property
sector pricing in the short run, however, in the long run, such
an adjustment, augmented by the effective implementation of
the above measures, will benefit the recovery and sustained
development of property sector.

In 2009, the Group has a total of 19 projects scheduled for sale.
Most of them are located at the prime districts in Shenzhen
with comprehensive ancillary facilities. These projects include
Shumyip Coast, Purple Kylin Hill, Noble Residence and Water
Pine. Since the end of 2008, there are signs of sustained
rebounds of transaction volume in Shenzhen’s property sector.
Recently, the provincial government in Guangdong has also
introduced a series of measures supporting the development
of property sector. As the consolidation of property sectors in
Shenzhen and Pearl River Delta districts started quite early and
with greater momentum, we expect that the rational pricing
adjustment and the effective implementation of different
supporting property sector development policies will gradually
catalyze the demand for self-living and home-improving
housings, leading them to recover from their trough. The Group is
confident to achieve its targets of pre-sale GFA of 400,000 square
metres and RMB3.8 billion (approximately HK$4.2 billion) in
pre-sale income in 2009.
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In 2009, the Group will continue to stand on developing its
property operation as its core business. Through our continuous
efforts in strengthening the sales of property projects, aggressive
adjustment and optimization of our land reserve and investment
property portfolio, stringent control in development and
management costs, strive to promote the building up and
marketing of the Group’s brand name, we vouch for maintaining
a stable and perpetual development operation for the Group.

In 2009, the total gross floor area of the Group’s expected
completion projects for the year is approximately 895,000 square
metres. It is expected that, by 2010, the gross floor area of the
Group’s completed projects will approximately be 1,079,000
square metres.

“TENF AREBBEBRERE
MEZRDESR  BBEENEEER
BHE BRAEELLHREENRE
AR BRI R EEK
R RNES S B R B EEE -
REEEMNRBREEMNAFELR -

ZETNF EAAKEERFEIEE
PR EEIEL89.58F K BRI =
T-TF AEERETHB ZEEEE
4510798 F K-

Expected completion in 2009 —EENFHEFEIEA
Project Location Usage GFA  Shareholdings
EHH ity & A& BEEE B
(sqm) (%)
(FEFXK) (%)
Red Pine Shenzhen Industrial
FARVN 3l I 45,800 75%
Nanhu Phase I Wuhan Residential
M 5 EWE F= 125,645 75%
Garden Hill Phase I (Part 1) Huizhou Residential
FlRE—H8(—E) =M F= 40,780 100%
Times Industrial Park Shenzhen Industrial
- EE Pl I% 87,662 100%
Wanlin Lake Phase Il Huizhou Residential
- 9 =M F= 117,806 100%
Wanlin Lake Phase IlI Huizhou Residential
(Section 1 of a villa)
BEMH=E (1128 R E) =M (E=s 12,000 100%
Shumyip Coast Phase III (Part 2) Shenzhen Commercial/
Residential
MEE-H(ZR) Pl ke 86,174 100%
Purple Kylin Hill Phase I (Part 1) Shenzhen Residential
EEL—H(—&E) a3l E=E 63,795 100%
Royal Spring Villas Dongguan Commercial/
Residential
oD SR 1L Y 22 = [k 29,400 100%
Noble Residence Shenzhen Residential
BRI L BB 2l F=® 84,846 100%
Wouai Shopping Mall Shenyang Commercial
B EN e [EES 201,282 47%
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Expected completion in 2010

Project

HE

Snow Pine Building

)

Wanlin Lake Phase Il (Section 1 of
a small high-rise building)

EMNH=8ERNNEE)
Garden Hill Phase I (Part 2)
FZm—H (=)

Noah Mountain Forest Phase IlI
7 0a LMk = 5

Euro-view Garden Phase | (Part 1)
B=Bn—#(E—R&)

Splendid City Phase |
#HAEEH — 5

Purple Kylin Hill Phase I (Part 2)
EBL—3(ZR)

Purple Kylin Hill Phase II

EN 1 b

Royal Spring (high-rise)

RS E
Shunde Shumyip City Phase |

B8R 5 45— 2

Chaohu Phase |
W — 5

Location
&

Shenzhen
sl

Huizhou

=i

pan

Shenzhen
3l
Changsha
=90
Dongguan

=5
7o

Jiangyan
ZiE

Shenzhen
]
Shenzhen
el
Dongguan
L]

Foshan

1L

Chaohu
=i

—E-BEEMHETIESA

Usage
itk

Industrial
T

Residential

E=2
Industrial
I
Residential
F=E
Residential
F=E
Residential
F=E
Residential
F=E
Commercial/
Residential

[

Commercial/
Residential

AE

Commercial/
Residential

[

Hotel
B IE
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GFA
BEERE
(sqm)
(F75%)

50,400

35,500

41,500

77,147

180,000

65,000

40,433

169,692

142,481

246,908

30,400

Shareholdings

R
(%)
(%)

75%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

80%
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Financial Position

As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s financial position was
healthy. Our net assets (after minority interests) amounted to
HK$10,691.9 million (2007: HK$9,848.8 million). Net asset per
share (after minority interests) was HK$3.33 (2007: HK$3.05), up
by 9%.

As at 31 December 2008, cash on hand amounted to
HK$4,570.8 million (2007: HK$4,689.8 million), of which
84% and 16% were denominated in RMB and other currencies
(mainly in US$ and HKS$) respectively. Renminbi is not a freely
exchanged currency. However, according to the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange, the Group is allowed
to exchange RMB into other currencies through banks with
approved rights to transact foreign exchange business.

Our total borrowings as at 31 December 2008 amounted to
HK$12,251.3 million (2007: HK$9,637.6 million), of which
HK$9,508.9 million were at floating interest rates (31 December
2007: HK$3,724.0 million) and the balance were at fixed interest
rates. In the amount, long-term portion amounted to HK$6,873.5
million (2007: HK$6,090.4 million) and short-term portion was
HK$5,377.8 million (31 December 2007: HK$3,547.2 million).
Net debt to net asset (after minority interests) ratio was 72% (31
December 2007: 50.2%).

FYHRRARAT 20084 45

Bt 7 AR R
BHE_ZZN\F+_A=+—H1k &K
SEBBMAER  BROBIRFEERTF
BER FEE10,691988EL (=
TEL4:9,8488F8BL) BB
LERRESEEEEFEARIIZETL
—ETHF:3.0587m)  BRI% °

HE_ZZNF+_A=+—HIit"
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As the cash inflow of the operating business of the Group is
mainly in RMB, and the assets held and debts undertaken by
the Group are mainly in RMB and USS$, therefore, fluctuations
in RMB exchange rates have short-term positive effects to the
Group.

Shareholding Structure

As at 31 December 2008, our biggest shareholder, Shum Yip
Holdings Company Ltd., held approximately 47.42% of our
shareholdings.

During the year, the Company granted 24,000,000 shares options
to directors and employees, of which 12,000,000 share options
had an exercise price of HK$3.85 per share with the balance of
12,000,000 share options having an exercise price of HK$3.49. A
total of 19,823,000 options were exercised during the year, and
a total of 40,470,000 options were cancelled. During the year,
34,860,000 shares of the Company were being repurchased.

As at 31 December 2008, the issued share capital of the
Company was 3,213,295,090 shares.

Headcount and Remuneration

As at 31 December 2008, the total number of staff employed by
the Group was 12,454, of which 30 of them, mainly managerial
and financial professionals, were working in Hong Kong. The rest
of the 12,424 staff was working in Mainland China.

Our remuneration system is operated on a merit basis which
takes into account the factors like individual performance,
professional qualifications, industry experience and respective
market trend. The management of the Group regularly reviews
the remuneration policy and assesses the performance of our
staff.

Employee benefits include salaries, allowances, medical
insurance and mandatory retirement contributions. We also issue
bonuses and grant share options, under the share option scheme
of the Group, to employees based on individual performance and
the results of the Group.

HRAEEETAREXERHR ZRER
ARAREBRT MAKERENEE
RFABRHEBEETAARBRE
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Directors and Senior Management

EERSRITHAE

Executive Directors

HU Aimin
HER

ZHANG Yijun
RE

FYER AR AR 20085 F 3R

BITES

Mr. HU Aimin, aged 60, is Chairman of X & E
BB 27A], Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited
(“Shum Yip”) and Shenzhen Investment Limited.
He is also a director of various members of the
Group. He graduated from the Hunan University
of China and obtained a master degree in Business
Administration. Prior to joining Shum Yip in April
2003 and being appointed Chairman of Board of
Directors of Shenzhen Investment Limited on 3
June of the same year, he was the secretary-general
and chief of administration office of Shenzhen
Municipal People’s Government, deputy secretary-
general of the Shenzhen Municipal Committee,
a standing member of district committee of
Futian District, Shenzhen Municipality, head of
the Organisation Department of Futian District,
Shenzhen Municipality, and the director of
Leadership Science and Talents Studies Research
Office in Hubei G & REREEBATHARE) -
and the assistant executive editor-in-chief of a
periodical named Studies on Leadership ( ({8& T
YEFFFE) ) . He has over thirty year of experience
in administrative management. He is also the non-
executive director of Ping An Insurance (Group)
Company of China, Ltd., Road King Infrastructure
Limited and Coastal Greenland Limited, listed
public companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. ZHANG Yijun, aged 54, is the president of
REEBEBGR AT, “Shum Yip” and Shenzhen
Investment Limited. He is also a director of various
members of the Group. He graduated from South
China Normal University in China. He is now a
senior economist and holds a degree of EMBA from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. He joined Shum
Yip in October, 2004. Prior to such date, he was
previously the chairman and CEO of Shenzhen
Construction and Investment Holdings Company
Limited and before that the commissioner of
Bureau of Supervision of the Shenzhen Municipal
Government. Mr ZHANG studied corporate
management and real estate management in Japan.
Mr ZHANG has over 20 years’ working experience
in investment and corporate management. He
is also the non-executive director of Road King
Infrastructure Limited and Coastal Greenland
Limited, listed public companies in Hong Kong.
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ZHAO Gesheng
HEE

LIU Weijin
B2

Mr. ZHAO Gesheng, aged 59, is a graduated of
Inner Mongolia Engineering College and a senior
economist. He joined Shum Yip in 2001. He is
currently Vice President of Shum Yip. He is also
a director of AEEB AR QA and various
members of the Group. Prior to this appointment
he was Chairman of the Labour union of Shum Yip,
Assistant Managing Director and General Manger
of Shenzhen Shum Yip Logistics Group Holdings
Company Limited, He also served in corporations
like Shenzhen Lionda Holdings Company Limited,
Shenzhen Petrochemical Group Co., Ltd. and
Chemical Mining Planning & Design Institute of
CNCIM. Mr. ZHAO has more than twenty years of
management experience.

Mr. LIU Weijin, aged 52, He is currently Vice
President of Shenzhen Investment Limited. He is
also a director of various members of the Group.
He is a graduate of Jiangxi Institute of Technology
and an engineer. Prior to joining the Company in
November 2003. He was Assistant to President,
Office General Manager and Board Secretary of
Shum Yip. Managing Director and General Manager
of Shenzhen Nandao Industrial Development
Company, Investment and Development Manager
of Shekou Enterprise (Group) Co., Ltd, and Deputy
Director of the Foreign Investment Unit subordinate
to the Foreign Economic Office of the People’s
Government of Jiangxi. Mr. Liu has rich experience
in investment and corporate management.
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Non-executive Director

WU Jiesi
HER

FYER AR AR 20085 F 3R

FHBTES

Dr. WU Jiesi, aged 57, he is a non-executive
director of the Company. Mr. Wu holds a doctorate
degree in Economics. He conducted post-doctorate
research work in theoretical economics at the
Nankai University in the PRC and was conferred
a professorship qualification by the Nankai
University in 2001. Mr. Wu served in The Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China ([ICBC]) from
1984 to 1995 and was the President of ICBC
Shenzhen Branch. Later, he was appointed
the Deputy Mayor of the Shenzhen Municipal
Government from 1995 to 1998. And from 1998
to February 2000, he was appointed Assistant
to the Governor of Guangdong Province. He
was the Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer of Hopson Development Holding Limited
between April 2005 and January 2008. He was the
Chairman of BR B EE K AR 2R and GDH
Limited, an Honorary Chairman of Guangdong
Investment Limited and Guangdong Tannery
Limited. At present, Mr. Wu is a executive director
and Deputy chairman of China Aoyuan Property
Group Limited; He is also an independent non-
executive director of listed public companies in
Hong Kong, namely Beijing Enterprises Holdings
Limited, China Insurance International Holdings
Company Limited, China Merchants Bank Co.,
Limited and Yingli Green Energy Holding Company
Limited (which is listed on New York Stock
Exchange) and non-executive director of China
Water Affairs Group Limited. Mr. Wu has rich
experience in finance and corporate management.
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Directors and Senior Management EE R S R1THA S

Independent Non-Executive Directors BY FHITES

WONG Po Yan
BERMR

LI Wai Keung
e

Mr. WONG Po Yan, G.B.M, C.B.E., J.P., aged 86,
was appointed as Independent Non-Executive
Director on 16 December 1996. He is the
founder of United Oversea Enterprises, Ltd, the
Honorary President of Chinese Manufacturers
Association of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is formerly
the Vice Chairman of the Basic Law Committee
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
under the Standing Committee of the National
People’s Congress of the PRC, and a member of
the Hong Kong Legislative Council, the Chairman
of the Airport Authority of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong
holds an Honorary Doctorate Degree in Business
Administration from the City University of Hong
Kong and an Honorary Doctorate Degree in Social
Science from Hong Kong Baptist University. Mr.
Wong is also Independent non-executive director
of the following listed public companies in Hong
Kong: namely, Allied Group Limited, Fintronics
Holdings Company Limited, China Electronics
Corporation Holdings Company Limited, Sinopec
Kantons Holdings Limited and Alco Holdings
Limited.

Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 52, was appointed as
Independent Non-Executive Director on 27th
September, 2004. He was graduated from Hong
Kong Polytechnic. Mr. Li holds a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration from the University of
East Asia. He is a Fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
has held a number of positions with listed public
companies in Hong Kong, including Henderson
Land Development Company Limited and Sino
Land Company Limited. He has been a non-
executive director of Guangdong Investment
Limited, a listed public company in Hong Kong,
since May, 2000 and has been appointed as
Executive Director and Financial Controller of
GDH Limited since August, 2000. Mr. Li has been
an independent non-executive director of Hans
Energy Company limited, a listed public company
in Hong Kong, since July, 2002.
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WU Wai Chung,
Michael
RER

FYER AR AR 20085 F 3R

Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael, aged 59, was
appointed as an independent non-executive
director in 2002. He was formerly the Deputy
Chairman of the Shanghai Stock Exchange and
a Commissioner in the strategy & Development
Committee of the China Securities Regulatory
Commission in the PRC. Prior to that, Mr. Wu
was the deputy chairman, chief operating officer
and executive director responsible for the
intermediaries Division, comprising the Licensing
and Intermediaries Supervision Departments until
his departure from the SFC on 31st December,
1997. He is also the Independent Non-Executive
Director of SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited,
First Mobile Group Holdings Ltd and Tradelink
Electronic Commerce Ltd, being listed public
companies in Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management EE R S R1THA S

Senior Management SHRITHAER

Mr. WANG Yongda, aged 58, joined the Group in 1997. He is an
Economist, Chairman of Shum Yip Southern Land (Holdings) Co.,
Ltd.. He was appointed as the vice general manager of Shenzhen
Tianan Cyber Park Co., Ltd. and the vice chairman of Shum Yip
Terra Holdings Co., Ltd. Mr. Wang has over 30 years experience in
property development, marketing, construction as well as enterprise
management

Mr. MA Xinjian, aged 56, is a graduate of Henan Xinyang Normal
University and a Senior Economist. Mr. Ma joined Shum Yip
Holdings in 1994. He is currently Director and the party committee
Secretary of Shum Yip Terra Holdings Co., Ltd. Prior to this
appointment, he was the party committee Secretary and Assistant
general manager of Shum Yip Pengji (Holdings) Co., Ltd, Director
and Party committee chairman of Shum Yip southern land (Holdings)
co., Ltd. He also served in organizations like {55 E 2,
Hubei Provincial Military Region DPA, Hubei Provincial Economic
Commission, Mr. Ma has more than twenty years of corporate
management experience.

Mr. XU Ruxin, aged 56, joined the Group in 1996. He is Director
of Shum Yip Pengji (Holdings) company limited. Mr. Xu completed
his education in the department of modern economy management
in the Beijing University of economics in the PRC in 1988 and
was formerly deputy general manager of Shenzhen Construction
Holdings Company. Mr. Xu has over twenty-eight years of
experience in areas of construction, property development and
corporate management.

Mr. HE Jingcheng, aged 46, joined Shum Yip Holdings in September
2003 and is an senior professional manager. He is Director of Shum
Yip Taifu Logistics Group Holdings Company Limited. Mr. He was
graduated from Party School of the Committee of C.P.C in 1992 and
obtained a master’s degree in law. Currently, he is undergoing the
Doctor of degree research Management Science and Engineering
course of Huazhong University of Science and Technology. Mr. He
was formally human resource director of the Company, Deputy
Director of the Organization Department in Shenzhen Municipal
Party Committee Organization Department, Mr. He has over twenty
years of experience in administrative management and Human
Resources management.
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Mr. TAM Ping Lung, aged 57, is Deputy General Manger and
Secretary of the board of the Company. He holds an MBA degree.
Prior to joining the Company in February 1997, Mr. Tam held senior
positions in various multinational corporations and had 9 years of
experience in an international accounting firm Hong Kong.

Mr. ZHU Guogqiang, aged 36, is Chief Operating Officer of Shenzhen
Investment Limited. Mr. Zhu obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration (MBA) from Hong Kong University of Science &
Technology. He joined Shum Yip Holdings and Shenzhen Investment
Limited in 2004, and held positions as general manager of Assets
Management Department and Investment Department in Shenzhen
Investment Limited. Prior to above appointments,
Shenzhen Construction Investment Holdings. He has been familiar
with the real estate market and property development process and

he worked in

has maintained good communication with investors and capital
markets.

Mr. QIU Guizhong, aged 36, is Chief Human Resources Officer of
Shenzhen Investment Limited. Mr. Qiu obtained a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration (MBA) from School of Economics &
He joined Shum Yip
Holdings in October 1997 and held positions as General Manager

Management, Tongji University in Shanghai.

of Human Resources Department, Secretary of the Board, General
Manager of Administration Department, Deputy General Manager
of Corporate Management Department in Shum Yip (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. Qiu has extensive experience in company
operation analysis, corporate management and human resources
management.

Ms. KWAN Ka Yuet, aged 44, has been the Deputy General Manager
of the Finance Department since October, 2004. She is a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics and Master of
Science degree in Accountancy. Ms. Kwan is qualified accountant of
the Company.
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Overview

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the
highest standard of corporate governance. The Directors strongly
believe that good corporate governance is an essential element in
steering the development of the business of the Group.

The Board and its management understand that it is their
responsibility to establish a good corporate management
system and practice and strictly comply with the principles of
independence, accountability, responsibility and impartiality so
as to improve the operation transparency of the Company, protect
the interest of shareholders and create values for shareholders.

In 2008, the Board of Directors and the Chairman of the Board
HU Aimin of the Company were awarded “Directors of the
Year Award — Listed Companies (HKEx — Non-Hang Seng Index
Constituents) Board Category” and “Directors of the Year Award
— Listed Companies (HKEx — Non-Hang Seng Index Constituents)
Executive Directors Category” respectively. To be selected and
won these two grand awards at the same time, demonstrating
that the recognition and affirmation from business community
in Hong Kong to the outstanding results achieved by Shenzhen
Investment in respect of corporate governance and operating
management.

The following is a summary of our improvement in corporate
management in accordance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices:

Code on Corporate Governance Practices

Throughout the year of 2008, the Company had complied with
the code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Listing
Rules”).

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Structure
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Board of Directors

Responsibilities

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board is responsible
for formulating the overall strategy and policy of the Company,
to supervise and evaluate the business and financial performance
of the Company. Through the setting up of appropriate risk
control policies and procedures, the Board ensures the operation
of the Company is running effectively and by setting up a
comprehensive corporate governance structure, it is able to
facilitate the communication with its shareholders.

Nomination of Directors

The Board is responsible for selecting and nominating suitable
candidates eligible to join the Board of Directors of the
Company. The executive directors are responsible to review and
assess the conduct, qualifications of the candidates and whether
they possess the respective business experience applicable to the
Company. Thereafter, they will present their recommendations to
the Board for consideration and approval.

Composition

Exg

BE

EEEHEFTEIRNAET AEH
EARNAIHEERMRBER B 7T
ERARMZERYHERE - EFER
BB R BRI R R AR
RRARBRGET WABTELEE
VAZRTE - (R ERIR Z I HYEE o

EERA
E=ZSRERERRERABAENA
ARREFE WITEFRERZNLT
BEREEE 2R BF REEEH
BERRARRRG &R Hi&G2
EREHEBEFTSEEMREM-

Composition of the Board

EEgdm

(As at 31 December 2008)
(B2 —ZFFENF+-A=+—HI)

4 Executive Directors + 3 Independent Non-executive Directors + 1 Non-executive Director

MURTES + ZUBILFATES + (LIFATESR

After their appointments, all directors shall offer themselves for
re-election at annual general meetings. The term of each director
shall not be more than three years and shall retire once every
three years. The retiring directors can offer themselves for re-
appointment and re-election. In the event of a vacancy, the
proposed candidate for the position shall be submitted to the
Board for review and approval, with the objective of appointing
persons with leadership capabilities for maintaining and
enhancing the management standards of the Company.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/related
relationship existing among the directors.

MEBEEEZARANBRRBEF RS
LREES SREFOMBEHY
THRE=F S=FHESE K R
TEFAEIBERTRBRBE-
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Chairman and President of the Board

The Chairman and the President of the Board are two clearly
defined independent positions and are held by Mr. HU Aimin
and Mr. ZHANG Yijun respectively.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for leading the
Board, to formulate good corporate governance practices and
procedures together with the directors, decide the strategic plans,
business plans and investment proposals of the Company, assess
the performance of the Company and supervise the business
affairs of the management in ensuring an effective operation of
the Board.

The President of the Board shall lead the management to run the
daily operation of the Company and to formulate and implement
policies of the Company in ensuring the approved policies are
executed effectively. He is also accountable to the Board in
respect of the overall operation of the Company.

Executive Directors

The executive directors segregate their duties and are responsible
for managing different business segments of the Company, guide
the management team of the Company in accordance with the
formulated strategies and measures, execute the daily operation
of the Company effectively and responsible for ensuring
the businesses are in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

Non-executive Directors And Independent Non-executive
Directors

The primary functions of non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors are to provide advices
and recommendations regarding the decision and business
development of the Company based on their own professional
qualifications and experience, with the objective of assisting the
Company to enhance the management standard of its operation
and financial aspects for protecting the interest of shareholders.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, each of the
independent non-executive directors shall issue a confirmation
letter confirming his/her independence with the Company.

All non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) shall have a fixed tenure and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company.
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Board Meeting Records EEE2RLHE

The board meetings of the Company are held on a regular basis. ARARIZEZSTHEM HE-TZT
Four regular board meetings were held for the year ended 31 NF+ZA=+—HIFHEETTIOX

Mr. LEE Yip Wah, Peter
(Retired on 2 June 2008)

Mr. HU Zuoyuan
(Resigned on 22 April 2008)

A A (A2008F6 A2 HEE)

HHVETT 4 (7A20084F4 A22 B & fE)

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008

December 2008 and the attendance were as follows: EHREFSSE EFHEBRET:
Attendance

Name o= HE =

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. HU Aimin (Chairman) HERAEE (EER) 4/4

Mr. ZHANG Yijun (President) REHELE (ITHRAR) 4/4

Mr. ZHAO Gesheng HEERE 3/4

Mr. XIAO Rihai (Retired on 2 June 2008) B B&LEE (7R2008F6 A2 RE) /1

Mr. LIANG Kaiping 25T E (782008F6 A28 RE) 11
(Retired on 2 June 2008)

Mr. LIU Weijin ZEERE 4/4

Mr. ZHANG Huagiao AL % 4 (7200859 A22 A BHE) 2/3
(Resigned on 22 September 2008)

Mr. TAM Ping Lung HRBELE (FR2008F12 A3 A BHT) 3/3
(Resigned on 3 December 2008)

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHBITES

Mr. WONG Po Yan =IRIR ST £ 4/4

Mr. LI Wai Keung FEATE 4/4

Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael RERELE 2/4

Non-Executive Directors FETES

Dr. WU Jiesi (whose term is HEBEL (EHH200665 118 E 3/4
from 11 May 2006 to 10 May 2009) 200955 H10H Ikb)

11

1/1
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Model Code

The Board adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers of the Listing Rules (hereinafter
referred to as the “Model Code”) in January 2005 as the code
of conduct of the Company regarding securities transactions by
directors. Having made specific enquiry to all the directors, all
directors confirmed that throughout the year, they had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code regarding
directors’ securities transactions. In addition, the Board has
adopted provisions of the Model Code as written guidelines for
relevant employees (as defined in provision A.5.4 in Schedule
14) in respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.
Such relevant employees shall abide by the provisions of the
Model Code.

The Board established two committees, namely Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee respectively, with primary
functions of monitoring the relevant matters of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Board has adopted new terms of reference for the Audit
Committee pursuant to the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
posted on the website of the Company.

The Audit Committee originally comprised three independent
non-executive directors and one non-executive director. Mr. LEE
Yip Wah, the non-executive director, retired as a director at the
annual general meeting on 2 June 2008 and at the same time,
ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee. Thereafter, the
Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, who are all equipped with commercial and financial
skills and experiences required for understanding financial
statements. Mr. LI Wai Keung is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and other members are Mr. WONG Po Yan and Mr.
WU Wai Chung, Michael.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee include the
proposal of appointing external auditors or its replacement,
supervise the internal auditing system of the Company and
oversee the financial information of the Company and its
disclosure, examine the internal control system of the Company
and responsible for the communication functions between
internal audit and external audits.

The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2008, and the
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is 100%.
The Committee reviewed the interim report of the Company for
the year 2008 and the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2008.
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Director’s Responsibilities on Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities of supervising
the preparation of financial statements of each financial period
which shall consistently adopt suitable accounting policies and
to comply with the accounting standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and to reflect the
financial position, the results during the period and cash flow of
the Company in a true and fair manner.

The responsibility statement issued by the auditors of the
Company is set out on page 57 of the annual report.

Auditors Remuneration

The external auditor engaged by the Company is Ernst & Young.

This accounting firm shall not take up any non-auditing
assignment to ensure its independence. The disclosure regarding
the auditors’ remuneration is set out in note 6 of the annual
report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established its Remuneration Committee on
1 January 2005 with specific written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Committee include the study of all
the remuneration policies and the structure of the directors
and senior management; and to set up decent and transparent
procedures to determine the remuneration policies and to make
recommendations to the Board.

The Remuneration Committee comprised three independent non-
executive directors and chaired by Mr. WONG Po Yan. Mr. LI
Wai Keung and Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael are members of the
Committee.

No member or any of his associates is allowed to determine
their respective remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
makes recommendation to the Board regarding the general
remuneration policy and structure of all directors and senior
management. In determining the remuneration of directors and
senior management, the Remuneration Committee shall consider
factors such as time commitment and responsibilities of directors,
employment conditions of other positions within the Group and
whether the remuneration should be performance-based. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on
the website of the Company.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in 2008 with
full attendance from its members. During the meeting, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed the director fees of all
current non-executive directors, determined the remuneration of
all current executive directors and determined and proposed to
determine the number of share options and the terms of share
options to be granted to executive directors and non-executive
directors.

Investors Relationship and Shareholders’ Interests

The Group treasures the communication with its shareholders
and investors. The Company meets with the investors regularly
to enhance corporate transparency. During the year, the
Group met a number of investors, held 3 press conferences
and many presentation seminars, telephone conferences, and
participated in investors conferences organized by institutional
investors. The Company has committed to enhancing corporate
transparency, establishing good relationships with investors,
improving corporate governance standards for the past 12 years
since listing, and has a good reputation and high awareness in
the capital market of Hong Kong. In 2008, the Company was
awarded the “Outstanding Investor Relations Award of the Year”
appraised and elected by “IR Magazine” in USA.

The Company encourages its shareholders to attend annual
general meetings. The Chairman and members of the Board shall
attend the general meetings and be available to answer questions
regarding the business of the Company.

To foster effective communications, the Company shall provide
extensive information in its annual report, interim report and
newspaper announcements and also disseminates information
relating to the Group and its business to the public in time
through its website.

In order to give back to our society, during the year, the
Company also sponsored the artistic activities of Hong Kong
Chinese Orchestra and contributed to the development of
Chinese Orchestra.

Internal Control

The Board shall be overall responsible for supervising the
operations of all business units under the Group. Suitable
candidates will be appointed by the Board to join the boards of
all subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
attend the board meetings and oversee the operations of those
companies. The management of each business is accountable for
the operation and performance of the business under its area of
responsibility.

The Board has conducted a review of the internal control system
of the Group pursuant to the Code and it considers that all the
material aspects of internal control of the Group are adequate
and effective during the year.
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The directors present their annual report and audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2008.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
and associates are set out in note 21 and note 22 to the financial
statements, respectively. There were no changes in the nature of
the Group's principal activities during the year.

Results and Dividends

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2008 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 60 to 178.

An interim dividend of HK3.00 cents (2007: HK8.00 cents) per
share was paid on 23 October 2008. The directors recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK8.00 cents (2007: final
dividend of HK21.00 cents) per ordinary share in respect of the
year to shareholders on the register of members on 29 May 2009.
The recommendation has been incorporated in the financial
statements as an allocation of retained profits within the capital
and reserves section of the balance sheet.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the published results of the assets, liabilities and
minority interest of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 179. This summary is not part
of the audited financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 15 and note 20 to the financial
statements.
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Principal Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 21 to the financial statements.

Principal Associates

Particulars of the Company’s and the Group’s interests in its
principal associates are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Bank Loans

Details of the bank loans of the Company and of the Group are
set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

Share Capital and Share Options

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year, together with the reasons thereof, are set
out in note 36 and note 37 to the financial statements.
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Purchases, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Securities

During the year, the Company repurchased and subsequently ~RAFER » AARRERFEEE T
cancelled the following shares of the Company on the Stock AR > WHRERFIH:

Exchange:
Number
of shares Highest Lowest Aggregate
Date of repurchased price paid price paid  consideration
Repurchase HK$0.05 each per share per share paid
BESR
E{E0.057% 7T BRXMN BRXMN <
BEBAH B z8E ZREE ZRIEE ZHBRE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
24/01/2008 9,972,000 4.00 3.55 37,873,500.00
— T N\F-A-tHMA
25/01/2008 3,470,000 3.95 3.78 13,459,640.00
—ETEN\F-A=-+EHA
28/01/2008 5,000,000 3.80 3.70 18,703,940.00
—EENF-HA=-+NR
29/01/2008 6,706,000 3.80 3.74  25,249,760.00
—EENF-A=Z+AhA
30/01/2008 5,000,000 3.79 3.47 18,100,360.00
—ZETNFE—-HA=1H
31/01/2008 4,712,000 3.58 3.41  16,597,580.00

“TEN\F-A=+—H
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The nominal value of the cancelled shares of HK$1,743,000
was credited to capital redemption reserve and the aggregate
consolidation was paid out from the Company’s retained profits.

The repurchases were made for the benefit of the shareholders
with a view to enhancing the earnings per share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed
securities during the year.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements.

Distributable Reserves

At 31 December 2008, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted
to HK$439,297,000 of which HK$257,064,000 has been
proposed as final dividend for the year.

In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the
amount of HK$4,278,677,000 may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year under review, both the aggregate sales attributable to
the Group’s five largest customers and the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were less than
30% of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest of the Group’s five largest
customers or five largest suppliers.

Report of the Directors EEEHREE
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. HU Aimin

Mr. ZHANG Yijun

Mr. ZHAO Gesheng

Mr. LIU Weijin

Mr. XIAO Rihai (retired on 2/6/2008)

Mr. LIANG Kaiping (retired on 2/6/2008)
Mr. ZHANG Huaqiao (resigned on 22/9/2008)

Mr. TAM Ping Lung (resigned on 3/12/2008)

Non-executive directors:

Dr. WU Jiesi
Mr. LEE Yip Wabh, Peter (retired on 2/6/2008)

Mr. HU Zuoyuan (resigned on 22/4/2008)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. WONG Po Yan
Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael
Mr. LI Wai Keung

In accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. HU Aimin, Mr. LIU Weijin and Mr. WONG Po
Yan will retire by rotation and being eligible offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 26 to 32 of
the annual report.

Emoluments of Directors and the Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the directors’ emoluments and of the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements respectively.

Interest Capitalised

Interest of approximately HK$417,631,000 was capitalised
during the year in respect of the Group’s property development
projects.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No directors had a material interest in any contracts of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Retirement Benefits Scheme

Details of the retirement benefits scheme is set out in note 2.4 to
the financial statements.

Directors’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2008, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the ZANRQAIRGN RBBRMDZHFE

Company:
Underlying
shares Percentage of
Nature of Number of  pursuant to Aggregate issued share
Name of director Capacity interests shares  share options interests capital
BEERE HE BT
216 % NvA
EEpg £ BHEME RHEE RHEE BRER Bok
(Note)
k3]
HU Aimin Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 4,924,000 - 4,924,000 0.15
HER EGEEA Bafs
ZHANG Yijun Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 8,000,000 - 8,000,000 0.25
RE EafEA Enn
ZHAO Gesheng Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 0.12
HBEE EGEEA BifEs
LIU Weijin Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 4,500,000 - 4,500,000 0.14
L2 ExlAA Enn
WU Jiesi Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 6,600,000 3,400,000 10,000,000 0.31
RS ExBEEA BifEs
WONG Po Yan Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 3,400,000 - 3,400,000 0.11
HIRMR ExlEAA Engn
LI Wai Keung Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 3,000,790 - 3,000,790 0.09
TEH ExBEEA BafEs

Note: The underlying shares represent interests of options granted to the 3t : HEIRM JHiEE FIRERERES 2

Directors under the Share Option Scheme to acquire for shares of ERZORBARRKN 2 BK
the Company, further details of which are set out in note to the T BB BEEHN M BREAM T (08
financial statements under the heading “Share Option Scheme”. PtEst 8] —#f-
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
associated corporation — Road King Infrastructure Limited:

Report of the Directors EEEHREE

ﬁwilﬁhﬁ&ﬁ@h@ZﬁF*
BYEZBERRD

Underlying

shares Percentage of

Number of pursuant to Aggregate issued share

Name of director Capacity shares  share options interests capital

REBREZ HEBTRE

Exps a4 BROBE HEROBE nED ZERH

HU Aimin Beneficial owner - 500,000 500,000 0.07
HER EadlBA

ZHANG Yijun Beneficial owner - 500,000 500,000 0.07
RE ESBEA

WONG Po Yan Beneficial owner 50,000 - 50,000 0.01
AR ExkBA

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

of the #B awﬁilﬁAﬂxTﬁ&*ﬁFﬁfo’ﬁZﬁ?F—

associated corporation — Coastal Greenland Limited: HEKEREERA
Underlying

shares Percentage of

Number of pursuant to Aggregate issued share

Name of director Capacity shares  share options interests capital

REBREZ EERTRE

Exps L) BRO®E HEROBE BmER ZEDH

HU Aimin Beneficial owner - 6,000,000 6,000,000 0.22
HER EnEAA

ZHANG Yijun Beneficial owner - 6,000,000 6,000,000 0.22
REH ERmlEAA

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares and underlying shares or debentures of the Company

or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register 2%

required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions

by Directors of Listed Companies.

] B tn R AR BA B 10 S fB 75 2 i Bk
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SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008

ESTRI A

B EXFrIEEIN RIFARFEIRE
HMERIGPIEIS2GFE 2 E LM
BSREBELMRARERETESRRLS
RABMBERZ T2 EF
iR BEARFTEERZSITHRA
EHAARRNR S EEAEREEZE

47



48

Share Options

Details of the share option scheme adopted by the Company on
5 June 2002 and the 10 per cent. limit under the share option
scheme refreshed on 12 June 2006 are set out in note 37 to the
financial statements.

The following share options were outstanding under the share
option scheme during the year:

Number of share options

[

AANFIR —_EE—FXAABAEMD
BRESZEEBER ST ENA
T REEH B E 210%E
R BRI SRERMFE37 -

VAT R 6 AR 43 8 A A 51 81 T 1 R
TEZ B

BREHE
Date of Exercise
At Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled At grant of price of
1 January during during during during 31 December share  Exercise period of share
2008 the year the year the year the year 2008 options share options options
RZZENE
R=BENE t=A R BRE
-A-B  REARY REATE RERKM  REREH =t-B  BRERA OHRERESH TRE
HK$
per share
BhHET
Directors
£
ZHAO Gesheng 1,330,000 - (1,330,000) - - - 9/3/2006  9/3/2006-8/3/2011 1330
BEE
LIANG Kaiping 1,330,000 - (1,330,000) - - - 9/3/2006  9/3/2006-8/3/2011 1330
(retired on 2/6/2008)
2R (RZFBNE
NAZREE)
LIU Weijin 1,330,000 - (1,330,000 - - - 9/3/2006  9/3/2006-8/3/2011 1.330
s
ZHANG Huagiao 13,340,000 - - (13,340,000 - - 9/3/2007  9/3/2007-8/3/2012* 3.540
(resigned on 22/9/2008)
RIB(RZFSNF - 12,000,000 - (12,000,000 - - 11/4/2008  27/8/2009-26/8/2014* 3.850
ARZTZHEE)
- 12,000,000 - (12,000,000) - - 2/6/2008  27/8/2009-26/8/2014** 3.490
WU Jiesi 3,400,000 - - - - 3,400,000 29/5/2006  29/5/2006-28/5/2011* 2.165
RiER
20,730,000 24,000,000 (3,990,000) (37,340,000 - 3,400,000
Other employees
EttEE
In aggregate 10,989,000 - (4,896,000 (930,000) - 5,163,000 18/5/2005  18/5/2005-17/5/2010 1.088
AL 31,917,000 - (10,937,0000  (2,200,000) - 18,780,000 9/3/2006  9/3/2006-8/3/2011 1.330
58,580,000 - - - - 58,580,000 4/7/2007  4/7/2007-3/7/2012 4.768
101,486,000 - (15,833,000) (3,130,000 - 82,523,000
122,216,000 24,000,000  (19,823,000)  (40,470,000) - 85,923,000
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Maximum proportion of option
exercisable including proportion of
option previously exercised

Options will be exercisable in the following manner:

Report of the Directors EEEHREE

* BRETR T RIT6E

Exercisable Period

ATEERERS LA

(BEEACITEBRELSG) 1T EH

1/3 1st year from the date of grant of option
ARLBRERRRAE —F

2/3 2nd year from the date of grant of option
ARLBRERRRAE _F

3/3 3rd year to 5th year from the date of grant of option

*ok

Maximum proportion of option
exercisable including proportion
of option previously exercised

Options will be exercisable in the following manner:

ERHBLERSMEGE=—=F0F

o RBRRAERIR T AT

Exercisable Period

ATEBRESSLH
(BEEMETEBRELS) AT fE I
1/3 a year from 27 August 2009
“EEAFNA T EHRBH—F®
2/3 a year from 27 August 2010
BT —TFN\AZ++HEBH—F%
3/3 27 August 2011 till 26 August 2014

Notes:

1. During the year, 24,000,000 options were granted and 19,823,000 1.
options were exercised under the Share Option Scheme.

2. During the year, 40,470,000 options were lapsed under the Share 2.
Option Scheme. No options were cancelled under the Share Option
Scheme.

3. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share 3.

options exercised during the year was HK$2.701 per share (2007:

HK$5.343 per share)

—E—HFN A THHRE-ZT-WHFNAZ+REL
B 5T -

REAN - RERBBRESEED
24,000,00017 B A& # M 19,823,0001%
BRI -

RER - RIZERERTE1540,470,000
13 SR 30 o W4 BE AR A AR R BE AR A AT &1

RERITEZ BRERITE A B Z 0

BFHRERER2701BT(ZFF
L &F FR5.34387T) ©
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4. The closing price of share immediately before the grant date of
options during the year are as follows:

Number of share options

4. REERAREBRERL B ZK
e Em T

Closing price of
share immediately
Date of grant before the grant

of share options date of options

REERE

FEHAHATZ

BRESE RHBRERDS B W E
12,000,000 11/4/2008 HK$3.677% 7T
12,000,000 2/6/2008 HK$3.22/8 7T

5. The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
was estimated as at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used
for the year ended 31 December 2008:

5. FRE L ARRAE A 2 B
B AR B BRI e M AT
B B E BRI RER
AR B M e TR B ZAEA R
HEZZZNFE+-_A=+—HI

FE o
11 April 2008 2 June 2008
—EENE —BENF
MA+—H ANA=AH
Dividend yield (%) R B &R 2 (%) 7.53 8.29
Expected volatility (%) T8 HI R 08 (%) 50.31-59.53 51.26-60.26
Risk-free interest rate (%) A2 [, B M K (%) 0.664-1.708 1.644-2.521
Expected life of option (year) TR FE (F) 1.5-3.5 1.5-3.5
Exercise price (HK$) 7B (BT) 3.85 3.49
Stock price on date of grant (HK$) RIEEBEZRE (BT) 3.85 3.49

The Black-Scholes option pricing model was developed for
use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have
no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition,
such option pricing model requires input of highly subjective
assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. As
the characteristics of the options granted during the year are
significantly different from those of publicly traded options and
changes in the subjective inputs may materially affect the fair
value estimate, the Black-Scholes option pricing model does not
necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of the
share options.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares and underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.
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Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS IN SHARES” and “SHARE OPTIONS”, at no time
during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debts securities (including debentures) of, the Company or its
associated corporations and none of the directors, or their spouse
or children under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe
for equity or debt securities of the Company or its associated
corporations, or had exercised any such rights.

Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2008, the interests and short positions of
the shareholders, other than a director or chief executive of the
Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Interest in shares of the Company:

Report of the Directors EEEHREE

EERERDZER
BRIEFEZkEa] & [RERE] M
TR EE SN RFRERER A2
Al S E AR AT B B X A A 2 B AR
R SARAESERAEBEALLD
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AR R AR R R E 2 B E
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FERR
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ARBBMD EAERD ((ERAREE
BITRAS %A L) h A ALEHER
ARERERE 7 L EGRPIE3361&T
NEEZERMzBEARWT

FAEARRR Iy 2 ek

Percentage of

Number of shares shares of
Long Short the Company
Name Capacity Nature of interest Position Position in issue
EARAT
RSB BRITRTZ
% 5% ERHE 33} by BOL
AESEERARA Interest of controlled Corporate interest ~ 1,523,731,489 - 47.42
corporation (Note 1)
REEEERRAA REAEzER AAER
(PEET)
Shum Yip Holdings Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 1,523,731,489 - 47.42
Company Limited (Note 1)
RE(EE)BRRF  BEREAA (M) BnfEm
UBS AG (Note 2) - 205,584,526 - 6.40
UBS AG (M&E2)
UBS AG (Note 2) - - 3,984,000 0.12
UBS AG (M)
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Notes:

1. Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited is wholly-owned by &2
EEERATF. REEEBER AT is deemed to be interested in
the 1,523,731,489 shares beneficially held by Shum Yip Holdings
Company Limited.

2. The 205,584,526 shares are held by UBS AG in the following
capacities:

Capacity
514

B 3

1. FE(RE)BRRAGBFEEEEGR
NRIZEREA -REEEEBRAFER
ARFRE(REBE)BRARE/FEZ
1,523,731,489B% B% 10 i B #k & o

2. 205,584,526 8% 1D JThFAUBS AGLATR

NEmFEE:

No. of shares

R 5 #E

Beneficial owner

BHEERA

Beneficial owner

BHEERA

Person having a security interest in shares
NEOEAEMRES 2 AL

Interest of corporation controlled by you

BT AR 2 B i

Save as disclosed above, the register which was required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO showed that the Company
had not been notified of any interests or underlying shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2008.

Saved as disclosed above, no person, other than the directors of
the Company, whose interest are set out in the section “Directors
interest in shares” above, had registered an interest in the share
capital of the Company that were required to be recorded.

Connected Transactions

Details of the connected transactions for the year are set out in
note 43 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions, which
need to be disclosed as, connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive directors as regards to their
independence to the Company pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers that each of the independent non-
executive directors is independent to the Company.
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Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float, as not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares are held by the
public.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee since
September 2004 for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process and
internal controls. The audit committee currently comprises
Mr. WONG Po Yan, Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael and Mr. LI
Wai Keung, independent non-executive directors. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the Group's results for the year in a
meeting held on 20 April 2009.

Continuing Disclosure Requirements Under Rule 13.21 of
The Listing Rules

Banking facilities with covenants relation to specific performance
of the controlling shareholder:

By an agreement (“1st Facility Agreement”) dated 29 September
2006 entered into between, among others, the Company as
borrower and a syndicate of lenders (“Lenders”), a transferable
term loan facility of up to USD$465 million (“1st Facility”) is
made available by the Lenders to the Company on the terms
and conditions as stated therein. The Tst Facility will be made
available to the Company within 6 months from the date of
the 1st Facility Agreement and the Company shall repay to
the Lenders in full any outstanding advances made thereunder
on the date falling 60 months from the date of the Tst Facility
Agreement. The Company intends to use the Tst Facility to first
refinance in full all outstanding loan amounts under certain
existing bank loans to the Company, and thereafter finance the
general corporate funding requirements of the Company and its
subsidiaries.
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By an agreement (“2nd Facility Agreement”) dated 6 February
2008 entered into between the Company as borrower and
the Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited as lender (“BOC”") a
transferable term loan facility of up to HK$1,000 million (“2nd
Facility”) is made available by BOC to the Company on the
terms and conditions as stated therein. The 2nd Facility will be
made available to the Company within 6 months from the date
of the 2nd Facility Agreement and the Company shall repay to
BOC in full any outstanding advances made thereunder by way
of three instalments namely, (i) HK$200 million be repaid in full
on the date falling 12 months from the date of the first advance
of the 2nd Facility (“First Advance”) (“1st Repayment Date”); (ii)
HK$300 million be repaid in full on the date falling 24 months
from the First Advance (2nd Repayment Date”); and (iii) HK$500
million be repaid in full on the date falling 36 months from
the First Advance. The Company intends to use the 2nd Facility
to finance the general corporate funding requirements of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

By an agreement (“3rd Facility Agreement”) dated 18 March
2008 entered into between the Company as borrower and DBS
Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch as lender (“DBS”) a term loan
facility of up to HK$300 million (“3rd Facility”) is made available
by DBS to the Company on the terms and conditions as stated
therein. The 3rd Facility will be made available to the Company
within 6 months from the date of the 3rd Facility Agreement and
the Company shall repay to DBS in full any outstanding advances
made thereunder on the date falling 36 months from the date of
the first advance of the 3rd Facility. The Company intends to use
the 3rd Facility to finance the acquisition by the Company and its
subsidiaries of interests in property development projects and/or
shareholding interest in property development company(ies).
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By an agreement (“4th Facility Agreement”, together with the
1st Facility Agreement, 2nd Facility Agreement and 3rd Facility
Agreement, collectively known as the “Facility Agreements”)
dated 3 April 2008 entered into between the Company as
borrower and China Construction Bank Corporation, Hong Kong
Branch as lender (“CCB”) a transferable term loan facility of up
to HK$300 million (“4th Facility”) is made available by CCB
to the Company on the terms and conditions as stated therein.
The 4th Facility shall be made available to the Company within
6 months from the date of the 4th Facility Agreement and the
Company shall repay to CCB in full any outstanding advances
made thereunder on the date falling 60 months from the date of
the 4th Facility Agreement. The Company intends to use the 4th
Facility to finance the general corporate funding requirements of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

Under the Facility Agreements, it will be an event of default if
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited (“Shum Yip Holdings”),
ceases to own beneficially at least 35% of the issued share
capital of the Company, ceases to be the single largest
shareholder of the Company, ceases to have management
control of the Borrower, or Shum Yip Holdings ceases to remain
beneficially owned as to at least 51% by the Shenzhen Municipal
People’s Government of The People’s Republic of China and in
which event all amounts due under the Facility may be declared
to be immediately due and payable.

Auditors

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

HU Aimin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 April 2009
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B %A RS

Elf ERNST & YOUNG

= ik

To the shareholders of Shenzhen Investment Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Shenzhen Investment
Limited set out on pages 60 to 178, which comprise the consolidated and
company balance sheets as at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

BRYERBERQRAIMIRR
(RBEETMERILZBRAF)

EEOEZINEREOEE178E RYIERBRAFIH
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B %A RS

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors” judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and the
true and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2008 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B %A RS

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 22 to the
financial statements. One of the Group’s associates (the “Associate”)
currently has not obtained effective control over two of the companies
acquired by the Associate in 2007, which were established in the
People’s Republic of China (collectively referred to as the “Investee
Companies”) despite the fact that the boards of directors of the Investee
Companies were appointed by the Associate due to the circumstances
described in note 22. The Associate has commenced legal proceedings
against the former management of the Investee Companies with a view
to obtaining effective control over these companies. However, the legal
proceedings against the former management of the Investee Companies
are temporarily suspended on the basis that unspecified facts which
relate to those proceedings may overlap with unspecified matters under
investigation by the Tianjin authorities. In January 2009, the Associate
received a notice advising that a criminal investigation by the Tianjin
authorities was completed and discharged. Based on the advice of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) legal counsel of the Associate, it
is highly probable that the Associate could lift the suspension of the
legal proceedings, which will result in the effective continuation of the
Associate’s legal proceedings against the former management of the
Investee Companies. The directors of the Associate, based on the advice
of its PRC legal counsel, are of the firm belief that the court ruling will be
favourable to the Associate and accordingly, the Associate will be able to
assume effective control over the Investee Companies in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, in the opinion of the directors of the Associate,
no impairment on the investment cost in the Investee Companies is
considered necessary. However, as the timing of re-opening of the court
hearing and the eventual outcome of the court proceedings cannot be
determined with certainty, there exist uncertainties which may affect the
following:

e the Associate being unable to obtain effective control over the
Investee Companies or otherwise realise the underlying properties of
the Investee Companies, thereby impacting the recoverability of the
Associate’s investments in these companies, of which the amount
attributable to the Group was HK$173,257,000 as at 31 December
2008; and

e the banks seeking payment from the Associate in relation to credit
facilities given to the Investee Companies, of which the amount
attributable to the Group was HK$92,292,000 as at 31 December
2008 which has been guaranteed by the Associate as described
in note 22, in the event that the Investee Companies are not in a
position to repay the credit facilities by the maturity date in June
2009.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

18/F, Two International Finance Centre,
8 Finance Street,

Central, Hong Kong

20 April 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement

= 2
melaEr

Year ended 31 December 2008
BE_ZTT)\F+_A=1+—HBHLEFE

2008 2007
Notes HK$/000 HK$'000
B FHExT FHBT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HEEY
REVENUE &= 5 4,080,821 3,342,802
Cost of sales & A (2,368,044) (2,007,812)
Gross profit E 1,712,777 1,334,990
Other income and gains E g A K M = 5 333,737 696,104
Fair value gains/(losses), net: NAREWZ (B1E) B35
Financial assets at fair value through BRBREAREBEHEZ
profit or loss TREE (75,464) 233,770
Financial liabilities at fair value BREREAABFEZ
through profit or loss TRIBE (209,381) (6,275)
Increase in fair value of investment WEWMERR
properties N 515,280 725,534
Selling and distribution costs HE Ko EE AR (138,845) (91,623)
Administrative expenses THER (541,568) (464,331)
Other expenses Hfbhxr (85,901) (79,893)
Finance costs Bh & B AN 7 (218,776) (274,978)
Share of profits and losses of associates — [E{GHE = A &) F &8 432,870 436,448
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R B Al 5% F 6 1,724,729 2,509,746
Tax sl 10 (677,013) (729,326)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM FREEER
CONTINUING OPERATIONS Al 1,047,716 1,780,420
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS FIFEER
Profit/(loss) for the year from FRIEFEFEL
discontinued operations wmA S (EE) 11 (24,231) 152,983
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 1,023,485 1,933,403
Attributable to: N5l Ak
Equity holders of the parent [SNGIE:EESFEDN 12 873,016 1,714,821
Minority interests DER R R 150,469 218,582
1,023,485 1,933,403
DIVIDENDS KRE 13
Interim H AR B 96,399 238,537
Adjustment to prior year’s final NEFERAKREZ
dividend FE (3,297) 28,360
Proposed final dividends R R BARR B 257,064 677,950
350,166 944,847
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE S A RIZEEZ
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF  #85 A FE{L
THE PARENT SREF 14
Basic BN
— For profit for the year —FE X% A HK27.19 centsi#fl  HK56.97 cents/&
— For profit from continuing —EEER
operations piail HK26.63 centsifl  HK51.71 cents/&
Diluted "
— For profit for the year —F N A HK27.04 cents#fll  HK55.42 centsi&{ll
— For profit from continuing —FEE
operations s ) HK26.48 centsi& | HK50.31 centsia
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

HREEERER

31 December 2008
—EE)N\&E+-_A=+—8H

2008 2007
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 55 FET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE R 15 561,495 277,105
Intangible assets BEE 16 96,596 =
Prepaid land lease payment 2 Fa T 3t € 5KIE 17 4,214 =
Goodwill EES 18 322,600 322,020
Investment properties "EME 20 3,913,739 3,315,710
Interests in associates Bt N A RERS 22 4,898,720 3,353,630
Held-to-maturity investments BEEIHKE 23 382,054 382,244
Available-for-sale investments AHEEHERE 24 17,713 28,987
Other long term assets HitREPEE 25 887,031 =
Deferred tax assets BEETIRE E 35 162,171 65,351
Total non-current assets EMBEEMLTE 11,246,333 7,745,047
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 26 56,298 12,151
Completed properties held for sale RIEFEZEERYE 27 862,094 360,032
Properties under development BERBPYE 19 9,908,772 7,311,087
Trade receivables FE AR 51 28 705,131 305,941
Prepayments, deposits and other BNRIE Re R
receivables H b B WK IE 29 352,276 403,589
Financial assets at fair value through FERBRBRANEFELZ
profit or loss SREE 31 17,308 602,990
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 32 4,570,861 4,689,828
16,472,740 13,685,618
Assets of disposal groups classified DEARBEFEZ
as held for sale HEEBEE 11 - 4,095,563
Total current assets MBEEBTE 16,472,740 17,781,181
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Interest-bearing bank loans FEIRITE R 33 5,377,765 3,547,163
Derivative financial instruments TSR T A 215,656 6,275
Trade and notes payables JE A BR AR N B S R 8% 34 87,438 86,965
Other payables and accruals H A & FR0E e fE At B 1,999,976 1,249,406
Amounts due to the ultimate holding JE T B AR AE IR A B
company RIE 43(b)(iii) 110,838 =
Tax payable FET IR 873,102 490,544
8,664,775 5,380,353
Liabilities directly associated with the EHOBARKEGEEE
assets classified as held for sale BEERENEE 11 - 2,377,543
Total current liabilities mEE EER 8,664,775 7,757,896
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFEE 7,807,965 10,023,285
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REER
LIABILITIES REEE 19,054,298 17,768,332
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAME
Interest-bearing bank loans FTRIRITER 33 6,873,560 6,090,445
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEBE 35 622,127 452,939
Total non-current liabilities ERBBELEE 7,495,687 6,543,384
Net assets BEEFE 11,558,611 11,224,948
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

HREEERER

31 December 2008
—EE)N\&E+-_A=+—8H

2008 2007
Notes HK$’000 HK$fOO_()
Bt E FHET FH&T
EQUITY =
Total equity attributable to BAREEFEA
equity holders of the parent EihEZAE
Issued capital B2EITI’RAR 36 160,665 161,417
Reserves Gk 38(a) 10,274,147 9,009,437
Proposed dividend R AR 2 13 257,064 677,950
10,691,876 9,848,804
Minority interests LERERER 866,735 1,376,144
Total equity TR 11,558,611 11,224,948
HU Aimin ZHANG Yijun
HER REH
Director Director
Ea o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes of Equity

S A 3L 4k
HmEEREER
Year ended 31 December 2008

HE—_ZT \E+-_A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BAIRERAARE
Available-
for-sale
Share Capital Share Asset  investment Exchange
Issued ~ premium  redemption option Capital ~ revaluation revaluation ~ Statutory fluctuation ~ Retained ~ Proposed Minority Total
capital account reserve reserve Reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits dividend Total interests equity
AfHE
BB Rkt RAKE BRE REEf RHEEH EX28 8
RE HER B BE  EREE L] BE  iREA BE  REEA  RERE 8 RREE  ERLE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Hi TEn FEn T TEn FiEn TR TEn FEn FEn T TEn FiEn TR TEn
At 1 January 2007 RZF2t5-A-R 141,073 2,396,850 293 51,544 74,898 43,665 4,970 641,108 325714 2,198,393 564,008 6,442,516 1354260 7,796,776
Changes in fair value of AfHEREDLE
available-forsale investments £ - - - - - - 1412 - - - - 1412 - 1412
Exchange realignment EiHE = B - - B - - - 51128 - - 51128 60,203 581331
Totalincome and expense ~ ERRERT
for the year recognised BRLER
directly in equity Ls¢ - - - - - - 1412 - - - S5M0 60203 582,743
Profit for the year FRgEf - - - - B - - = - 171482 - 1714821 218,582 1,933,403
Total income and expense Rl
for the year 8% - - - - - - 1412 - R18 1714820 - 7361 278785 2,516,146
Acquisition of minority interests  t! EHERE 2
in subsidiaries HERRES = = = = = = = = = = = - (288,874) (288,874
Disposal of group of assets o (HE—HEET
minority shareholders HERE = = = = = = = = = = = - (425212) (425212
Disposal of equity interests in ~ (F EME L7
a subsidiary & - - - - - - - - - - - - 506823 506,823
Adjustment to prior year's final - WEEF KBRS 2
dividend HE 13 = = = = = = = - - (28,360) = (28,360) = (28,360)
Acquisition of a subsidiary A = = = = = = = = = = = = 12,084 12,084
Capital contribution to a
subsidiary = = = = = = = = = = = = 52,371 52371
Final 2006 dividend
declared RiRe 3616 354069 - - - - - - - - (564008 (206323) o063
Issue of shares Bffkb 36 10,000 1,302,001 - - - - - - - - - 131200 - 1312001
Share options exercised fERRE 36/38 6728 222,708 - (37,913) B - = B - - - 191503 - 191503
Share issue expenses RirgfRR 36 - (27959) - - - - - - - - - (2795) - (795)
Share options forfeited BiRkzBRE - - - (340) - - - - - 340 - - - -
Equity-settled share option ~~ ARAZ 2
expense BRERS 37 B - - 32,01 = - = B - = = 32,01 = 32,001
Share of reserves of associates BB ERFGE - - - - 872 498 - - 150620 - - 15199 - 1519%
Disposal of an associate - = = = = (9,232) = = = = = = (9,232) = (9,232)
Interim 2007 dividend 13 - - - - - - - - - (238,537) - (238,537) = (238,537)
Proposed 2007 dividend 13 - - - - - - - - - (677,950) 677,950 - - -
Adjustment to prior year's NEERERHEL
deferred tax g2 = = = - - (5,138 (3,003 - - - - (8.201) 4557 (3,644)
Dividends paid to minority XA #EEZ
shareholders RE = = = = = = = = = = = - (118,650)  (118,650)
Transfer from retained profits &4 & RE & B - - - - - = 118,123 - (118103) B - = =
RoEELE
At 31 December 2007 tzA=1-8 161417 4247673 293* 45,312% 66,538* 39,025* 3319 759,231%  997,462*  2,850,584* 677,950 9,848,804 1,376,144 11224948
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Consolidated Statement of Changes of Equity
Year ended 31 December 2008
BE-_TZ\G+-_A=+—BLEE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BLARBEAARL
Available-
for-sale
Share Capital Share Asset  investment Exchange
Issued ~ premium  redemption option Capital ~ revaluation revaluation ~ Statutory fluctuation ~ Retained ~ Proposed Minority Total
capital account reserve reserve Reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits dividend Total interests equity
AfHE
B3fr Bt RARE BRE REEff RREf Ejig8 S8

Bx B e B EARR & B EERE B REEW  REBR 28 RREE RaHE
Notes  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HK$000  HKSO0D  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000
i TEn TR  TEn  TAR  Tér  FTEr  TAr  TEn  TEx  TRn  TEn TR TR TR

At 1 January 2008 RZFZN-A-R 161417 4,247,673 293 45,312 66,538 39,025 3319 759,231 997,462 2,850,584 677,950 9,848,804 1,376,144 11224948
Changes in fair value of A EREDAE

available-forsale investments £ - - - - - - 1817 - - - - 1817 - 1817
Disposal of available-forsale (KTt &

investments & - - - - - - (4,675) - - - - (4,675) - (4675)
Changes in fair value of N EL]

Property, plant and R

equipment 29 - - - - - 26,222 - - - - - 26,222 - 26,222
Adjustment to deferred tax ~ EIEREZ HE - - - - - (6,555) - - - - - 6,555) - (6,555)
Exchange realignment Ef#E = = - - = = - - 699,020 - - 699,020 95,058 794278

Total income and expense for
the year recognised directly

in equity - - - - - 19,667 (2,858) - 699,020 - - 715,829 95,258 811,087
Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 873,016 - 873,016 150,469 1,023,485
Total income and expense for ~ FAME

the year 8% - - - - B LY Y ) S 6900 873016 o588 4577 1834572
Adjustment to prior year's final - WEEF KBRS 2

dividend Bk 13 - - - - - - - - - 3,297 - 3,297 - 3,297
Redemption ofshares FERG (1,743) - 1,743 - - - - - - 103 - 103 - )
Establishment of a subsidiary KU MBRE = = = = = = = = = = = = 5,111 5,111
Final 2007 dividend BER-FELF

decared FERE 13/36 - - - - - - - - - - (677,950)  (677,950) = (677,950)
Share options exercised frEkRE 36/38 91 31,028 - 6,839) = - - = = - = 25,180 = 25,180
Share issue expense RiygfR% 38 - (24) - - - - - - - - - (24) - (24)
Share options lapsed BRUzBRE - - - B4073) - - - - - 34,075 - - - -
Equity-settled share option ~~ WARAZf 2

expense BRER 37 B B - 39,544 = - - = - - B 39,544 = 39,544
Share of reserves of associates  E(REE AT B = = = (7,495) 2,056 S = 184,585 = = 179,146 = 179,146
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - - (24) - - 397 (87,824) = = (88245) (630,042 (718,287)
Interim 2008 dividend “STN\FrHRE 13 - - - - - - - - - (96,399) - (96,399 = (96,399)
Proposed 2008 dividend BRE-TTN\5RS 13 B B - = = - - = - (257064) 257,064 = = =
Dividends paid to minority XM A#KEFEZ

shareholders ke = = = = = = = = = = = - (130,205 (130,205)
Transfer from retained profits &85 RB&F| - - - - - - - 150213 - (150213) - - - -

RZZENE
At 31 December 2008 tzA=1-8 160,665  4,278,677* 2,036 43,942¢ 59,019* 60,748 461* 909,047*  1,793,243* 3,126,974 257,064 10,691,876 866,735 11,558,611

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEEHEERRENGAEEABEDYZEAEE
HK$10,274,147,000 (2007: HK$9,009,437,000) in the consolidated balance 10,274,147,000& 70 ( Z 2 F + 4 : 9,009,437,000/%5
sheet. 7)) e
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
mEelREeEREgR

Year ended 31 December 2008
BE-_EZT)\F+-_A=1+—BItEE

2008 2007
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt = FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REQEER 2
ACTIVITIES RERE
Profit before tax B 54 Al g A
From continuing operations FEET 1,724,729 2,509,746
From a discontinued operation EIFEE 11 (24,144) 149,187
Adjustments for: BB EE
Finance costs A& AR 7 302,099 382,215
Interest income B A (154,438) (174,148)
Depreciation e 6 90,343 89,777
Increase in fair value of investment "EMEZ
properties NI EE N 20 (515,280) (725,534)
Dividend income from investments RKEFRE ZKRBWA (942) (8,430)
Share of profits and losses of J& 15 Bk & X R
associates B (432,870) (436,448)
Amortisation of vehicle licences VUEE B AR B 6 6,218 1,944
Write-back of impairment of items of ME - WEMREREZ
property, plant and equipment B 6 (273) (7,558)
Gains on disposal of items of property, HEWX  BENREKHEBEAZ
plant and equipment W gs 6 (22,202) (7,001)
Gain on disposal of investment HEREMEZ
properties & 5 (23,079) (3,601)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B R F 2 Wi 39 (52,724) (287,050)
Gains on disposal of equity interests in HEHME AT
subsidiaries T 2 W 5 11 - (48,738)
Gains on disposal of associates HERE N F 2 Wi 5/6 - (96,696)
Gains on disposal of associates from HEFBBEXEBBENAZ
discontinued operations W = 11 - (190,131)
Gains on disposal of a group of assets HE—HEETIEREZ
to minority shareholders & 5 - (20,174)
Net fair value losses/(gains) on FRBEEARBFEZ
financial assets/liabilities at fair CRMEE/BE2
value through profit or loss NAFERERE, (W) 284,845 (227,495)
Equity-settled share option expense VARG AR 32 - 2 B IR ) 2 37 39,544 32,021
1,221,826 931,886
Increase in trade receivables & U BR FRHE (335,664) (212,161)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and TR I 12 & & H fth FE K
other receivables RIE R D 119,941 253,751
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets BRBmEANBEFEZ
at fair value through profit or loss SREERL (M) 510,218 (413,052)
Decrease in inventories FERD 2,078 240,731
Increase in completed properties for sale B &K ,2 5 & ¥ 232 1 (382,059) =
Increase in properties under BRPYE
development 0 (2,151,888) (3,887,448)
Decrease in trade and notes payables FE A BR 3R K PR A R 45 R (28,579) (25,162)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and  F i & {5 5/ T8 & fE 5T & A
accruals S O d) 598,823 (994,035)
Increase in amounts due to ultimate FE B IR A B
holding company FRIAE N 110,838 =
Cash generated from operations REKEEB RS (334,466) (4,105,490)
Interest paid 21 F B (302,099) (529,069)
Mainland China taxes paid B 15 /R B A R IR (228,647) (207,074)
Net cash outflow REKEEE 2
from operating activities Benb #8 (865,212) (4,841,633)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

= ==
HmERERER
Year ended 31 December 2008
HE_ZZN\F+_A=1T—HILHFE

2008 2007
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt E FHET FET
Net cash outflow REKETER 2
from operating activities e ML FEE (865,212) (4,841,633)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREEF 2
ACTIVITIES ReRE
Interest received 24 FE 153,175 159,019
Dividends received from investments Eqﬂxﬁﬂ B 942 8,430
Dividends received from associates B U EE = R R A 74,421 125,938
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - ﬁﬁ%&?&ﬁlﬁ H
property, plant and equipment F1S 5K8 55,437 20,219
Proceeds from disposal of investment HER A Y
properties FT 1S K18 69,788 43,982
Proceeds from disposal of associates H £ B N ) BT 49 5O - =
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-  {H/& Al i i} £ 38 &
sale investments ik ﬁ’\lﬁ 8,416 =
Proceeds from disposal of associates HEEFBEB 2B E R A
from discontinued operations P15 3K IE - 377,360
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEA¥1% - /5
equipment NRHBIEE 15 (152,194) (122,018)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BE B B A 7 - (682,190)
Acquisition of minority interests of W RS B B A 7] 2
subsidiaries > AR R M - (616,989)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries & B8 A B P A5 IR 39 707,374 837,050
Proceeds from disposal of equity 5 B B 2 A AR
interests in subsidiaries FT{S 3k I8 - 651,567
Proceeds from disposal of group of assets (/& —#H& & T L H R E
to minority shareholders FRTiS 38 - 253,501
Additions to investment properties HE W) =S 20 (14,659) (10,828)
Loans to associates HBTBERNTZER (188,745) (426,333)
Receipt of loans to associates WCHR 45 T Bt & R m) 2 B AR 23,372 4,440
Additions to interests in associates i & B) 4 o 1 0 (577,441) (2,124)
Additions to other long term assets HEREEE 2N 25 (887,031) =
Additions to intangible assets | E E 2 H 16 - (57,982)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing & EB ZIRER/A S (GRH)
activities FE (727,145) 563,042
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMEER 2
ACTIVITIES RERE
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS 3R 36 25,180 1,503,524
Capital redemption ﬁﬁ@ﬂxz!i 36 (130,322) =
Share issue expenses R 17 % T‘Jf@rﬁﬁ 36 (24) (27,955)
Dividends paid B A 8 (771,052) (473,220)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders EREY G e (130,205) (118,650)
Capital contribution from minority DHRR
interests EE 5,111 52,371
New bank loans L IRITE K 8,522,740 9,045,493
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (6,401,387) (5,146,058)
Net cash inflow from financing activities Fl& )& E) 2R m AFHE 1,120,041 4,835,505
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH ReRASZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i, (Rd) FE (472,316) 556,914
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ~ F#H 28 & &
of year ReEEY 4,808,109 4,211,668
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, SIS [ % & &)
net FEFER 235,068 39,527
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEER
AT END OF YEAR ReZEEY 4,570,861 4,808,109
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRASEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BT
Cash and bank balances He RiRTTH 32 3,822,048 3,404,388
Time deposits TE HiTF 3K 32 748,813 1,285,440
Cash and bank balances attributable to FE(RIER BB 2
discontinued operations Re KRBT 11 - 118,281
4,570,861 4,808,109
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Balance Sheet

EEEBEX

31 December 2008
—EE)N\&E+-_A=+—8H

2008 2007
Notes HK$/000 HK$'000
B FHExT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB M RE 15 1,781 2,596
Interests in subsidiaries agEENGIE 3 21 5,733,463 5,028,321
Interests in associates Bt N Rl i 22 935,532 906,536
Held-to-maturity investments REZIHEE 23 382,054 382,244
Available-for-sale investments AHEHERE 24 1,720 1,720
Total non-current assets ERMEEEBLE 7,054,550 6,321,417
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FEfFRIA - R K EAM
receivables FE WK IR 29 21,360 4,801
Amounts due from subsidiaries A RIENGIE @ 21 2,856,379 2,210,039
Financial assets at fair value through FRERBRARBEAEZ
profit or loss CTRMEE 31 16,761 91,485
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEEEY 32 689,000 487,612
Total current assets MEEEBEE 3,583,500 2,793,937
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Derivative financial instruments PTESMTA 215,656 6,275
Interest-bearing bank loans FTERITER 200,000 =
Other payables and accruals H A e~ FR0E e fE St B 65,008 106,902
Amounts due to ultimate holding JE A S AR AE IR N A
company RIE 6,095 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETBY B A Bl E 21 181,169 211,169
Total current liabilities MBI B ERTE 667,928 324,346
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZFEE 2,915,572 2,469,591
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MEER
LIABILITIES REEE 9,970,122 8,791,008
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Interest-bearing bank loans FTRIRITER 33 5,002,783 3,627,930
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE 35 42,722 -
Total non-current liabilities M BEESE 5,045,505 =
Net assets BEFE 4,924,617 5,163,078
EQUITY =
Issued capital BT’ 36 160,665 161,417
Reserves FiE 38(b) 4,506,888 4,323,711
Proposed dividends BORAR B 13 257,064 677,950
Total equity AR 4,924,617 5,163,078
HU Aimin ZHANG Yijun
HER REY
Director Director
E E
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 7 R 3R Ff &

31 December 2008

—TENF+=_A=+—H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Shenzhen Investment Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered office of the Company
is located at 8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following principal
activities:

- Property development

—  Property investment

- Property management

-~ Provision of transportation services

- Manufacture and sale of industrial and commercial products
— Infrastructure investment (disposed of in August 2008)

In the opinion of the directors, the intermediate holding company
of the Group is Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited (“Shum Yip
Holdings”, &2 (%8 ) AR A7), which is a private company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The ultimate holding company of the
Group is AEEBABR AR (formerly FHERERZEHFR A A]), which
is a private company established in Shenzhen, the PRC.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties, certain buildings,
derivative financial instruments and equity investments, which have
been measured at fair value. Disposal groups held for sale are stated
at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to
sell as further explained in note 2.4. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2008. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All
income, expenses and unrecognised gains and losses resulting from
intercompany transactions and intercompany balances within the
Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 7 R 3R Ff &

31 December 2008
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not
held by the Group in the results and net assets of the Company’s
subsidiaries. An acquisition of minority interests is accounted for
using the parent entity extension method whereby the difference
between the consideration and the book value of the share of the net
assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.

2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has adopted the following new interpretations and
amendments to HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements. Except for in certain cases, giving rise to
new and revised accounting policies, the adoption of these new
interpretations and amendments has had no significant effect on
these financial statements.

HKAS 39 and Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial
HKFRS 7 Instruments: Recognition and
Amendments Measurement and HKFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Reclassification of Financial Assets

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit

Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements
and their Interaction

2,1 B2 EE (F)

SEREZEE (&)

D BIER M a5 4R X 3R AN SR BB M ONRBCR S
ARARMBEBAR AR FEE 2 m - WED
BRCRERTEREBMSUEAR Bt REH
FEEEERGZRABECHZERNERR
B

22 A REEBITERAVBRELEN 2R

AEERAFER 2 HBIRERERRA T =2E
REBEEMBHREENZEFTARBFRETIERIH
FRAFE LB ST BRI RIEHBIMEE
S RN EH R B RETAS L EMBEHRRL
BEATE-

B G ER CHES RS
£39%% (BRI ) EBTR: ERARGTER
REBHBERE BRERBREENE7H
RRIE75 EBTR: RKE-EF
(BETA) AETBEE

B (BRMBRE  BEPBREENEIR
ZEZE8E) —REREFRIRS

—REFNR
&% (BERVBHRE REEFTESH

ZEZE8E)

—HZRBE12%R
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X
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2008
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new interpretations and
amendments are as follows:

(@) Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement and HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Reclassification of Financial Assets

The amendments to HKAS 39 permit an entity to reclassify a
non-derivative financial asset classified as held for trading, other
than a financial asset designated by an entity as at fair value
through profit or loss upon initial recognition, out of the fair
value through profit or loss category if the financial asset is no
longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term, if specified criteria are met.

A debt instrument that would have met the definition of loans
and receivables (if it had not been required to be classified as
held for trading at initial recognition) may be classified out of
the fair value through profit or loss category or (if it had not
been designated as available for sale) may be classified out
of the available-for-sale category to the loans and receivables
category if the entity has the intention and ability to hold it for
the foreseeable future or until maturity.

In rare circumstances, financial assets that are not eligible
for classification as loans and receivables may be transferred
from the held-for-trading category to the available-for-sale
category or to the held-to-maturity category (in the case of a
debt instrument), if the financial asset is no longer held for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.

The financial asset shall be reclassified at its fair value on
the date of reclassification and the fair value of the financial
asset on the date of reclassification becomes its new cost or
amortised cost, as applicable. The amendments to HKFRS 7
require extensive disclosures of any financial asset reclassified
in the situations described above. The amendments are effective
from 1 July 2008.

As the Group has not reclassified any of its financial

instruments, the amendments have had no impact on the
financial position or results of operations of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 7 R 3R Ff &

31 December 2008
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b)

(9]

(d)

HK (IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions

HK (IFRIC)-Int 11 requires arrangements whereby an employee
is granted rights to the Group’s equity instruments to be
accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if the Group
buys the instruments from another party, or the shareholders
provide the equity instruments needed. HK (IFRIC)-Int 11 also
addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions
involving two or more entities within the Group. As the Group
currently has no such transactions, the interpretation has had no
impact on the financial position or results of operations of the
Group.

HK (IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK (IFRIC)-Int 12 applies to service concession operators and
explains how to account for the obligations undertaken and the
rights received in service concession arrangements. No member
of the Group is an operator and, therefore, this interpretation
has had no significant impact on the financial position or results
of operations of the Group.

HK (IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit
Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

HK (IFRIC)-Int 14 addresses how to assess the limit under HKAS
19 Employee Benefits, on the amount of a refund or a reduction
in future contributions in relation to a defined benefit scheme
that can be recognised as an asset, including situations when
a minimum funding requirement exists. As the Group has no
defined benefit scheme, the interpretation has had no effect on
these financial statements.
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31 December 2008
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

HKFRS 1(Revised)

HKFRS 1 and HKAS
27 Amendments

HKFRS 2
Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7
Amendments

HKFRS 8

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 and HKAS
1 Amendments

HKAS 39
Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
and HKAS39
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

FYHRBRARAT 20084 457

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards®

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of HKFRSs and HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements — Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate'

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations'

Business Combinations®

Amendment to HKFRS 7 Financial
instruments: Disclosure — Improving
Disclosures about Financial
Instruments’

Operating Segments'

Presentation of Financial Statements’
Borrowing Costs'

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements?

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation’

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Eligible Hedged Items?

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement —
Embedded Derivatives®

Customer Loyalty Programmes®
Agreements for the Construction of Real
Estate'

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation*

Distribution of Non-cash Assets to
Owners?

Transfers of Assets for Customer®

A
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued /mprovements to
HKFRSs* which sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs
primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying
wording. Except for the amendment to HKFRS 5 which is effective
for the annual periods on or after 1 July 2009, the amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
although there are separate transitional provisions for each standard.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008
Effective for transfers of assets from customers received on or after 1 July
2009

Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009

i Improvements to HKFRSs contains amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 7,
HKAS 1, HKAS 8, HKAS 10, HKAS 16, HKAS 18, HKAS 19, HKAS 20,
HKAS 23, HKAS 27, HKAS 28, HKAS 29, HKAS 31, HKAS 34, HKAS 36,
HKAS 38, HKAS 39, HKAS 40 and HKAS 41.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So far,
it has concluded that while the adoption of HKFRS 8 and HKAS
1 (Revised) may result in new or amended disclosures and the
adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) and HKAS 27 (Revised) may result
in changes in accounting policies, these new and revised HKFRSs
are unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group's results of
operations and financial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or
indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or issued share
capital or controls the composition of its board of directors; or over
which the Company has a contractual right to exercise a dominant
influence with respect to that entity’s financial and operating
policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to
joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties having
unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled
entity.

The Group’s interests in its jointly-controlled entities are accounted
for by proportionate consolidation, which involves recognising its
share of the jointly-controlled entities” assets, liabilities, income and
expenses with similar items in the consolidated financial statements
on a line-by-line basis. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests in the jointly-
controlled entities, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The results of jointly-controlled entities are included in the
Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company’s interests in jointly-controlled entities
are treated as non-current assets and are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBME (£)

POLICIES (Continued)
Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or jointly-controlled
entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not
less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the consolidated
balance sheet at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s share
of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates is included
in the consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves,
respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interests in the associates, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as
part of the Group's interests in associates.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s interests in associates are treated as non-current assets
and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates
represents the excess of the cost of the business combination over
the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquirees” identifiable
assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as
at the date of acquisition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is on or
after 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet as an asset, initially measured at cost and
subsequently at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
In the case of associates, goodwill is included in the carrying
amount thereof, rather than as a separately identified asset on the
consolidated balance sheet.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBME (£)

POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)
Goodwill previously eliminated against consolidated retained profits

Prior to the adoption of the HKICPA’s Statement of Standard
Accounting Practice 30 Business Combinations (“SSAP 30”) in
2001, goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries and associates
was eliminated against consolidated retained profits in the year
of acquisition. On the adoption of HKFRS 3, such goodwill
remains eliminated against consolidated retained profits and is
not recognised in the income statement when all or part of the
business to which the goodwill relates is disposed of or when a cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill relates becomes impaired.

Excess over the cost of business combinations

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of acquisition of subsidiaries and associates (previously
referred to as negative goodwill), after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in the income statement.

The excess for associates is included in the Group’s share of the
associates’ profits or losses in the period in which the investments
are acquired.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties,
goodwill and disposal groups classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill (Continued)

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there
is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill and certain
financial assets is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of an asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the income
statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it
is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that
the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property,
plant and equipment, and where the cost of the item can be
measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional
cost of that asset or as a replacement.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair
value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying
amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are
dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total
of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset
basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the income statement.
Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the income
statement to the extent of the deficit previously charged. On disposal
of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation of each item of property, plant and equipment is
calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost or valuation
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms
Leasehold improvements 20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% to 25%

Motor vehicles 9% to 20%

Plant and machinery 10% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each balance sheet
date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the income statement in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment or investment
properties when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for property which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflect market conditions at
the balance sheet date.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the income statement in the year in which
they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property
occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes
an investment property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and
any difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” above. For a transfer from inventories to investment
properties, any difference between the fair value of the property
at that date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the
income statement. When the Group completes the construction
or development of a self-constructed investment property, any
difference between the fair value of the property at the completion
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the income
statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBME (£)

POLICIES (Continued)
Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development
period.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete beyond normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

Non-current assets and disposal group held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through
a sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to
be the case, the asset or the disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for the sale of such assets or disposal group and
its sale must be highly probable.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties, deferred tax assets and financial assets) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair
values less costs to sell.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the
total land and buildings costs attributable to unsold properties. Net
realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the prevailing
market prices, on an individual property basis.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are treasury shares are deducted from
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the income statement on
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the
minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs
of such leases are charged to the income statement so as to provide
a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are
charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a
finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Vehicle licences acquired by the Group are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 15 to 20 years.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBME (£)

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets,
as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they
are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group assesses whether a contract contains an embedded
derivative when the Group first becomes a party to it and assesses
whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from
the host contract when the analysis shows that the economic
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely
related to those of the host contract. Reassessment only occurs
if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the
contract.

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after
initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates
this designation at the balance sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
investments held for trading or these financial assets are recognised
in the income statement. The net fair value gain or loss recognised
in the income statement does not include any dividends on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policy
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation
process.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity when the Group
has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-
maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost
less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is computed as
the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus
or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between the initially recognised amount
and the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and
points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all
other premiums and discounts. Gains and losses are recognised in
the income statement when the investments are derecognised or

impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity securities that are designated
as available for sale or are not classified in any of the other three
categories. After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets
are measured at fair value, with gains of losses recognised as a
separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised
or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is
included in the income statement. Interest and dividends earned
are reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively
and are recognised in the income statement as “Other income”
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below. Losses arising from the impairment of such investments
are recognised in the income statement as “Impairment losses on
available-for-sale financial assets” and are transferred from the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBME (£)

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
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reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities B8R

are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Fair value AAE

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised RREHFZeRT S ERGERZIREMS

financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market
bid prices at the close of business at the balance sheet date. For
investments where there is no active market, fair value is determined
using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market
value of another instrument which is substantially the same; a
discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is
any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial

assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and
receivables or held-to maturity investment carried at amortised
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account.
The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance
account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying
value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal
date.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for impairment
is made when there is objective evidence (such as the probability
of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and
significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor) that the
Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the
original terms of an invoice. The carrying amount of the receivables
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts
are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the income statement, is transferred
from equity to the income statement. A provision for impairment
is made for available-for-sale equity investment when there has
been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below
its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists.
The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, such as
the share price volatility. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the income
statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

e the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form
of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/
or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or similar
provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that
the Group may repurchase, except in the case of a written put option
(including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset
measured at fair value, where the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred
asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including interest-bearing
loans)

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and interest-
bearing loans and borrowings are initially stated at fair value less
directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. The related interest expense is recognised within
“finance costs” in the income statement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation
process.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the income statement. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the income statement does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS 39 are
accounted for as financial liabilities. A financial guarantee contract
is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial
guarantee contract, except when such contract is recognised at fair
value through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the balance sheet date; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBME (£)

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the income statement, or in equity if it relates to items
that are recognised in the same or a different period directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liabilities arise from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously
unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance
sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
are initially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All
differences are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Company at
the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and, their
income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are included in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBME (£)

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised. Where funds have been borrowed generally, and
used for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate ranging between 6.5% and 7.5% has been applied to the
expenditure on the individual assets.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@) income from the sale of properties and industrial and
commercial products, when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods and properties sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(c) income from the provision of transportation services, when the
transportation services have been rendered;

(d) services income, when the relevant services have been
rendered;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(f) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

S (F

AEEREMERME  BIINBRRZHESR
ERAEREE A ZEXRERET - BINME
RAEFAREELZREREFE 2 NEFI
ERME QBT

BERA

B B A EAR TR EE (AR —BRERKH
ERFREREIEEE) TEREE ZEEK
KNERCRRZEEEZBOREN EEZF
BECAHERIEFREREGAHERL KK
RARTERE ER X 257 EBEBIERERE PR
B BRBERARERFTEARZ EERAH LR -
MZEFETB —REFRLANBERKEE"
AME R & ZE 2 B #5A6.5%E7.5%2 th R & AEE
o

LON i+
FEAR PR 25 % AT B AR &2 8 B 72 A AT 4B L AT
FAAEZBERT  WMATHIZ TSI EERER

(@) HEWE TERHEERIWALERREL
EXRER MR EBEGEREHER AR
ERAEETHE2E-REFFEABELE
2 HEHEZERRMETEERZESE:

(b) MELEHRBzHEBARBERFRER

() EBBRFBARSIRMER RGERER:

(d) RBBATIN B IR HZ R RER

() FILEBMRALARES 7B T A G FH
P B BRI SR R SR A 5 08 A 9T
HeMAENBEFE &

(f) BB AT B T i SR R M R SRR B R

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008

91



92

Notes to Financial Statements
B 7 ¥R 3R Ff &

31 December 2008

—TENF+=_A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the balance
sheet, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a
general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common
control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that
gives it significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint
control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or its parent;

(d) the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (c);

(e) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (c) or (d); or

(f)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of

the employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a related
party of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBME (£)

POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which
are not restricted as to use.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by the management using the Black-
Scholes model, further details of which are given in note 37. In
valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of
the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the
date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the
award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at each balance sheet date until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
income statement for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period. If the share options granted vest immediately, the Group
recognises the fair value in the period in which the options are
granted.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification,
which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment
arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a
new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 in
respect of equity-settled awards and has applied HKFRS 2 only to
equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not
vested by 1 January 2005 and to those granted on or after 1 January
2005.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

Each of the subsidiaries operating in Mainland China participates
in the central pension scheme (the “CPS”) operated by the local
municipal government for all of its staff. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute 8% to 20% of their payroll costs to the CPS.
The contributions are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the CPS.
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2.5 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 2.5 BT BEREH

Subsequent to the publication of the Group’s condensed financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2008, there were
certain discussions in the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (the “IFRIC”) of the International
Accounting Standards Board regarding investments in associates and
partial use of fair value through profit and loss. In light of the latest
accounting thinking and practices, the directors of the Company
have revisited the Company’s accounting policy regarding its trading
portfolio investments in certain shares in two companies which it
has significant influence, Road King Infrastructure Limited (“Road
King”) and Coastal Greenland Limited (“Coastal Greenland”). The
Group held 4.8% and 0.9% of shares in Road King and Coastal
Greenland, respectively, at both 31 December 2007 and 30 June
2008. Such shares were previously accounted for as financial assets
at fair value though profit and loss for the year ended 31 December
2007 and six months ended 30 June 2008. The Group also held
another 22.06% and 21.71% of equity interests in Road King and
Coastal Greenland, respectively, which were accounted for as
investments in associates using the equity method. The directors
are now of the view that the equity investments in Road King and
Coastal Greenland shall be accounted for in its entirety using the
equity method. The directors believe that this change in accounting
policy can result in the financial statements providing reliable and
more relevant information because it provides a more consistent
accounting treatment for the Group’s equity interests in Road King
and Coastal Greenland. The Group has not restated the operating
results and financial position for the prior year as the impact on the
financial statements is considered not material for the year ended 31
December 2007.
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2.5 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

The impact of the change in accounting policy on the Group's
condensed financial statements for the six months ended 30 June
2008 is tabulated below:

25 B BRBE (&)
BHBREDHAEEARE-_TTAFAA=T

BIUEANEAZEAMBHRRzZEIIRMT

30 June 2008

—EE)N\F
ANA=+H
HK$’000
FHT
Condensed consolidated income statement B2 —FEENENA=THIEANEAZ
for the six months ended 30 June 2008 B4R A W
Increase in share of profits and losses of associates JE A5 B8 & X AR A1 K 548 45 hn 25,692
Decrease in fair value losses for financial assets at fair ZEBEFEZ AR EFEZEREEL
value through profit or loss AR EEERD 199,203
Decrease in other income and gains E i W A B W s R 4 (12,757)
Increase in profit for the period HA ) 4 )38 A0 212,138
Increase in basic earning per share (HK cents) FREARZEFE M (BL) 6.61
Increase in diluted earning per share (HK cents) FREEEFE M B) 6.57
30 June 2008
—EENE
~NAZ=1+H
HK$’000
F&T
Condensed consolidated balance sheet and RZFFENFANA=FTHZ
equity at 30 June 2008 B e EERBR R Em
Decrease in financial assets at fair value BREREARBEFEZ
through profit or loss TREERD (339,805)
Increase in interests in associates Bt N R 2 R 3E N 576,380
236,575
Increase in retained profits {REB % A N 212,138
Increase in asset revaluation reserve BEE IS 184
Increase in exchange fluctuation reserve BE 3, 1% 55 18 o0 24,253
236,575

96 FYHRBRARAT 20084 457



Notes to Financial Statements
B 7 ¥R 3R Ff &

31 December 2008

—TENF+=_A=+—H

2.5 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

2.5 BT BEREE (£

The impact of the change in accounting policy on the Group's
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 is

tabulated below:

BB REGUAKEERE_TTN\F+ A

St HALEFEZHBRRZEZEIIRMT

31 December 2008

—EEBNEF
+=ZA=t+-—H
HK$’000
FHET
Consolidated income statement for the year KEFFFE Wz &
Increase in share of profits and losses of associates J& 15 Bk 2 X ] /ﬁn*‘]&féﬂ@ N 35,044
Decrease in fair value losses for financial assets FRERBARBEAEZEREEL
at fair value through profit or loss AR EEERD 426,005
Decrease in other income and gains E i W A B W s R 4 (5,483)
Increase in profit for the year CERi il 455,566
Increase in basic earning per share (HK cents) Hﬁ%$§ 3% hn (Bl 14.19
Increase in diluted earning per share (HK cents) FREEEFE M (B) 14.11
Consolidated balance sheet and equity R-FZENF+-A=+—HZ
at 31 December 2008 HEBEREBXREn
Decrease in financial assets at fair value FRBHEAREFEZ
through profit or loss SREERD (112,879)
Increase in interests in associates Bt RN Az R IE M 593,770
480,891
Increase in retained profits B8 2 /38 455,566
Decrease in asset revaluation reserve EESMHERD (1,831)
Increase in exchange fluctuation reserve M 5 1 A 38 0 27,156
480,891
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2.5 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

The impact of the change in accounting policy on the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2008 is

tabulated below:

25 B BRBE (&)
BHBREPUARABE_TT/N\F+ A
SH-BLFEZHBRRZFEIIRMT

31 December 2008

—EBENF
+=ZA=+-—H
HK$’000
FET
Company income statement for the year BE_FTENF+ZA=1T—HIEFEZ
ended 31 December 2008 AL ¥
Decrease in fair value loss for financial assets at fair FRBERARBHEZEREEY
value through profit or loss AR EEERD 31,914
Decrease in other income and gains E i W A B W s R 4 (2,201)
Increase in profit for the year CERi il 29,713
Company balance sheet and equity R-FZENF+-A=+—HZ
at 31 December 2008 RA]EERBERREe
Decrease in financial assets at fair value FERBREANEFEZ
through profit or loss SREERD (8,074)
Increase in interests in associates Rl/N o i || 37,787
29,713
Increase in retained profits B8 i M N 29,713

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 38

ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that

ERGFH ARG

EEERUAEE W BERKRE  ARRE B H
FHEFEMEZREA X BENBEZEH

affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting
date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 3. EXRERHERMEE (F)

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued) F R (&

Impairment of assets EEHRE

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously AEBEBETRELREEMER S LEHRE
causing the impairment no longer exists, the Group has to exercise BNMEFAEZ FEK T2 EERMEED HE -
judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: BRI (WREEAAETEEEBECLE
(1) whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value " AZTEEEBEZEHREAENERFE: (2)
or such event affecting the asset value has not been in existence; BEEFRmMEREARKRKRERE (ERNEENRFE
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the ER AR IEFER M) 2B FERTHEMT R
net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based QFRAEFeREVANERCEEEERSR &
upon the continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3) the FReNECETRBEETRERNR -ERERBMA
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow EEEARAEREZRR (BREELRERER
projections including whether these cash flow projections are RIS R AR EOHTIR R AE R K ) n A s - Bl A e
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions BB RERS T 2R IFE

selected by management to determine the level of impairment,

including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the

cash flow projections, could material affect the net present value

used in the impairment test.

Income tax VaciA

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
carried forward to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can
be utilised, based on all available evidence. Recognition primarily
involves judgement regarding the future performance of the
particular legal entity or tax group in which the deferred tax asset
has been recognised. A variety of other factors are also evaluated in
considering whether there is convincing evidence that it is probable
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately be
realised, such as the existence of taxable temporary differences, tax
planning strategies and the periods in which estimated tax losses can
be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets and related
financial models and budgets are reviewed at each balance sheet
date and to the extent that there is insufficient convincing evidence
that sufficient taxable profits will be available within the utilisation
periods to allow utilisation of the tax losses carried forward, and
that the asset balance will be reduced and charged to the income
statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Land appreciation tax

Under the Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)
implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional Regulations of
the Public on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer of
real estate properties in Mainland China with effect from 1 January
1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including amortisation
of land use rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property development
business in Mainland China are subject to LAT, which has been
included in income tax. However, the implementation of these taxes
varies amongst various Mainland China cities and the Group has not
finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises these liabilities based on management’s best estimates.
When the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and provisions of land appreciation taxes in the
period in which such determination is made.

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangement that
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties (Continued)

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased out
separately under finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not
qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial years are
discussed below.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market
for similar lease terms and other contracts. In the absence of
such information, management determines the amount within a
range of reasonable fair value estimates. In making its judgement,
management considers information from (i) current prices in an
active market for properties of a different nature, condition or
location by reference to available market information; (ii) recent
prices of similar properties in less active markets, with adjustments
to reflect any changes in economic conditions since the date of
transactions that occurred at those prices; and (iii) discounted cash
flow projections, based on reliable estimates of future cash flows,
supported by the terms of any existing lease and other contracts,
and (where possible) by external evidence such as current market
rates for similar properties in the same location and condition, and
using discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the
uncertainty in the amount and timing of cash flows.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of the fair
value include those related to current market rents for similar
properties in the same location and condition, appropriate discount
rates, expected future market rents and future maintenance costs.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December 2008
was HK$3,913,739,000 (2007: HK$3,315,710,000).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of the Group’s primary
segment reporting basis, by business segment. In determining the
Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the
segments based on the location of the customers, and assets are
attributed to the segments based on the location of the assets. No
further geographical segment information is presented as over 90%
of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in Mainland
China, and over 90% of the Group's assets are located in Mainland
China.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed
separately, according to the nature of their operations and the
products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s business
segments represents a strategic business unit that offers products
and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of the other business segments. Summary details of the
business segments are as follows:

(a) the property development segment engages in the development
of residential, industrial and commercial properties;

(b) the property investment segment invests in residential, industrial
and commercial properties for their rental income potential;

(c) the property management segment engages in the management
of both Group developed properties and non-Group developed
properties;

(d) the transportation services segment consists of the provision
of taxi and passenger transportation services, automobile
maintenance, cargo services and other related services;

(e) the manufacturing segment engaged in the manufacture and
sale of industrial and commercial products;

(f) the “others” segment comprises, principally, the manufacture
and sale of aluminum alloys and other businesses; and

(g) the infrastructure investment segment invested in infrastructure
projects of toll roads.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

FYHRBRARAT 20084 457

DREMAEBERNRAEEB 2 T EZ2 HEE-
EEEAEELRBERNE KWATDZRRESME
ZiwRoR MEERRREEME R DM -
HRAEEEBI0% AT REHEAE 2R
P BEAKEERI0% 2 BEEH NP EAE  F
S 2 HE - TR EER -

AEBREEBRREEZBHEARAREZER
KRS - ATRMRBRERENXEE - SEEE
EB o BRIERETRERRRE 2R IEERE
i - BB R AT Xz BB B B 319 A RN E b % o

B-EBoBzZBEEMNT:

(@ DMERREBZEERET ITELEXE
==+

(b) MEREBEBGHREEZR
SEEES: S

BBAR2EE  TF

() MEEBEEBKE
BER2ET

BAEEHEEERNIEFAE

(d) x@@ﬁ%%%ﬁ@%hﬁmi&% & 7%
BiE HERY R EMERERE

I
() HEXHREERERHEETENBEEEM:
) TRl oBEIZeEERHERA SRR

WEMZET R

(8 ERREXBREZWERKRAZIAR -

DHREZHERBRDZBERLELMGER
PEHETE=N2EBETRS



Notes to Financial Statements
B 7 ¥R 3R Ff &

31 December 2008

—TENF+=_A=+—H

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. PEER (#F)
Business segments EZ 3k |
The following tables present revenue, profit/(loss) and certain asset, TREINAEBRBE_ZZEN\FR_ZTTLHF
liability and expenditure information for the Group’s business TZRA=T—BIEFEEBIBEZKA EF
segments for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007. (BR)RETEE BERAXER:
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RERE FRARE
Transportation
services
(taxi and Transportation
Property Property Property  passenger services (cargo  Infrastructure
Year ended 31 December 2008 HE-SEN\EtA=1-BLEE  development  investment management business) - Manufacturing Others Total business) ~ investment Total  Consolidated
EREH
(LR L) e
NE3R NERE NXEE  FEXR) 5E it BE (HEXR) ERRE f1 &8
HK$'000 HKS$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Fén TER Tén Tén Tn Tén Tén Fén Fén Fhn TER
Segment revenue: ARRE:
Sales to customers HETRF 2,528,546 362,982 563,512 194,032 282,847 148902 4,080,821 6,838 39,470 46308 4127129
Segment results before increase
in fai value of investment propertes 881,021 281,431 (10,148) 31,816 14,136 1,316 1,196,940 38 8111 8549 1,205,489
Increase in fair value of
investment properties - 515,280 - - - - 515,280 - - - 515,280
Segment results after
increase in fair value of g
investment properties AELE 881,021 796,711 (10,148) 31,816 14,136 (1316 1,712,220 98 8111 8549 1,720,769
Interest income, dividend income and HERA-REMAR
unallocated gaing/losses, net RS/ FEFE (25,441) 50,630 25,189
Unallocated expenses KAEER (176,144) - (176,144)
Finance costs HERE (218,776) (83,323) (302,099
Share of profits and losses of associates EEBENRENRER 202,751 46,533 1,988 4,610 - - 255,882 - - - 255,862
Unallocated share of profits of associates AEZERBEDRER 176,988 - 176,988
Profit before tax BEaER 1,724,729 (24144 1,700,585
Tax i (677,013) ©®7) (677,100
Profitloss)fo the year ERE/ (B8) 1,047,716 (24231) 1023485
— — —
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

4. THEER(E)

Business segments (Continued) KB E(E)
HE-330\F Property Property Property  Transportation
Year ended 31 December 2008 TZRA=t+-HLFE development investment  management services  Manufacturing Others Total
NERE NERE NEER ERRB HiE Hit aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET FET TR TR THET
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Segment assets HEBE 12,666,574 4,193,668 46,881 405,046 114,933 263,197 17,690,299
Interests in associates BEDRIER 2,291,683 93,066 11,367 220,617 31,342 2,959 2,651,034
Unallocated interests in associates 7 BLBt & 2 Al & 2,629,740
Unallocated assets AOEEE 4,748,000
Total assets BEBS 27,719,073
Segment liabilities PEEE 902,967 343,008 296,367 254,756 81,709 114,522 1,993,329
Unallocated liabilities APRAME 14,167,133
Total liabilities BELE 16,160,462
Other segment information: HEtHEEs:
Depreciation RE 11,341 9,930 6,058 30,663 10,179 6,223 74,394
Amortisation of vehicle licenses REERAH - - - 6,218 - - 6,218
Write-back of impairment of items ~ A& RH#Z Z
of property, plant and equipment 1% BE &k
recognised in the income REBER
statement AERE - - - - - (273) (273)
Increase in fair value of RENENLE
investment properties #m - (515,280) - - - - (515,280)
Capital expenditure AR 4,094,456 31,842 8,195 88,683 4,288 8,024 4,235,488
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. TEEB (5
Business segments (Continued) KB E(E)
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RERK FREEE
Transportation
services (taxi Transportation
HECTRtE Property Property Property  and passenger Infrastructure~ Information ~ service (cargo
Year ended 31 December 2007 TZRZT-ALER development ~ investment  management business) - Manufacturing Others Total investment technology business) Total  Consolidated
EERE
(MLR EGR%
NEER nERE NEEE  XERR) 53 ife BE ARRE ARbR  (2E3H) % 54
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEL FEL FAL T FHL TAL TEn TEn TR TR TiEL T
Segment revenue: ARl
Sales to customers HETER 2,015,112 300,020 463,453 150,565 291,827 121,825 3,342,802 56,053 - 11,149 67,202 3,410,004
Segment results before increase in fair - RENE LA EEMAZ
value of investment properties PREE 650,565 213,528 26,941 43,101 7n) 640 934,004 1291 - 1,937 14,858 948,862
Increase in fair value of RANZLAE
investment properties i - 725,534 = = = = 725,534 = = = = 725,534
Segment results after RENELRE
increase In fai value of )il
investment properties AELE 650565 939062 26,941 43101 ) 60 1659538 1291 B 1,937 14858 1,6743%
Interest income, dividend income and ¥ EMA - REMAR
unallocated gains, net FORKEZE 1,008,734 241,566 1,250,300
Unallocated expenses AHEER 319,996) - (319,99
Finance costs BARK (274,978) (107,237) (382,215)
Share of profits and losses of
associates 168,329 66,030 1,101 13,242 - - 248,702 - - - - 248,702
Unallocated share of profits of AP El
associates BENFRR 187,746 = 187,746
Proft before tax AR 2,509,746 149167 2,658,933
Tax A (729,326) 3,79 (725,530)
Profit for the year ERER 1,780,420 152,983 1,933,403
— — —
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o Qo S| =
4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. DEER (F)
Business segments (Continued) KB E(E)
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
it £ 3 FREEK
Transportation
services
(Cargo & taxi
Property Property Property Infrastructure — Information  and passenger
Year ended 31 December 2007 HEZSTLFTA=t-HIEE  development  investment  management Others Total investment technology Business) Manufacturing Total  Consolidated
EGRE
NEER nERE NEER £t | EERE MR (KEXH) Bt % &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk T T TEn TEn T T Tt Tt Tk T
Assets and liabilities RERER
Segment assets AREE 8,607,501 3,503,130 90,584 110,671 12,311,886 3,229,786 - 358,139 165,694 3,753,619 16,065,505
Interests in associates BENAER 1,742,621 64,3681 10,491 24N 1,839,964 - - - - - 1,839,964
Unallocated interests in associates FARBENFER 1,895,910 - 1,895,910
Interests in an associate classified ARAREREL
as held for sale BendER - 200,9% 200,9%
Unallocated assets AREE 5,382,905 140,948 5,523,853
Total assets BELE 21,430,665 4,095,563 25,526,228
— — —
Segment liabilities ARAR 631,860 147,767 256,006 55,245 1,090,878 152,896 = 14518 63,373 361,487 1,452,365
Unallocated liabilities AEEE 10,832,859 2,016,056 12,848,915
Total liabilities BfELE 11,923,737 2377543 14,301,280
— — —
Other segment information: B A EER:
Depreciation ik 4,803 8,691 5,950 5,736 25,180 21,006 - 32,759 10,832 64,597 89,777
Amortisation of vehicle licenses RERREY - - - = = = = 1,944 = 1,944 1944
Write-back of impairment of items of
property, plant and equipment recognised  BiE kR EEE
in the income statement BERE = = = = = = = (7,558) - (7,558) (7,558)
Increase in fai value of RENEDAE
investment properties #m - (725,534) - - (725,534) - - - - - (725,534)
Capital expenditure EA% 4,977,701 19,924 5779 170,450 5,173,854 21,023 - 169,341 2,003 192,367 5,366,221
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents proceeds
from the sale of properties, rental income, management fee income

and others.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

5. W@ Hthl AR Wi
WARRERARB EEE HRAHENE
FSRE e ERBRARE A -

AREEz W EMRA RSz DT

Group
rEE
2008 2007
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
liks3 FTHET FET
Revenue W 2
Sale of properties HEWHE 2,528,546 2,015,112
Gross management fee income MEREWRA 563,512 463,453
Gross rental income from REMERS
investment properties LN L 362,982 300,020
Sale of commercial and industrial goods SHETIHXE®R 282,847 291,827
Income from transportation services RS 2 WA
(Taxi and passenger business) (N RFEXER) 194,032 150,565
Others Hity 148,902 121,825
Attributable to continuing operations RiralaER
reported in the consolidated income ERZFHEED
statement FE15 4,080,821 3,342,802
Income from transportation services B RS 2 WA
(Cargo business) (HEXEH) 6,838 11,149
Income from infrastructure investment AP REIRE 2 WA 39,470 56,053
Revenue attributable to discontinued ERFEE
operations FEAE Wz 11 46,308 67,202
4,127,129 3,410,004
Other income Hplr A
Gross rental income from property, REME BERZEZ
plant and equipment HeWAEE 29,458 33,424
Bank interest income |ITH B WA 86,266 143,487
Dividend income from investments: REREZBREWA
Available-for-sale investments Al ERE 448 8,430
Financial assets at fair value through BRBREARMBEHEZ
profit or loss TREE 494 =
Interest income on loans receivable FEWEZRF B A 67,839 29,484
Others H Al 77,770 51,530
262,275 266,355
Gains Wz
Gain on disposal of investment properties &K&W % 2 Wi 23,079 3,601
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant H&E%% - BE LEEER 2
and equipment e 22,202 6,949
Gain on disposal of associates HER 2 A F 2 s - 96,696
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & M8 A Rz W 39 2,096 287,050
Gain on disposal of group of assets to HE—HEETIERRZ
minority shareholders Yoz - 20,174
Exchange gains HNE W 2= 24,085 15,279
71,462 429,749
Other income and gains H A ug A K e 2= 333,737 696,104
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FRBEATEF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REEZBRBAHMEHER, (GEA) TIEHEE
EE:
2008 2007
Notes HK$’000 HK$"000
Bt 5 FERT FHET
Cost of inventories sold HEFERA 1,494,701 1,307,272
Cost of services provided PR AR TS A AR 413,907 343,062
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B AN B & 6,423 5,952
Depreciation (note a) e (Hizxa) 15 90,343 89,777
Impairment of trade receivables JFE U B FORL B 28 27,098 1,949
Write-back of impairment of trade JFE U2 B 3R
receivables B (B 7% 5] 28 (1,434) (4,038)
Direct operating expenses (including WHKREMHEZ
repairs and maintenance) arising on HELEXH
rental-earning investment properties (BREERRE) 53,476 52,023
Write-back of impairment of items of W% BERERERE 2 RE
property, plant and equipment 8l 15 (273) (7,558)
Gains on disposal of items of property, HEYE  BERREERZ
plant and equipment (note b) ezt (KisEb) (22,202) (7,001)
Minimum lease payments under operating i RIEF Z L 2L &K
leases in respect of land and buildings He 11,377 9,013
Amortisation of vehicle licenses YUEE B AR B 16 6,218 1,944
Employee benefit expense (excluding EBERAMAX (TREES
directors’ remuneration — note 8): <& —BKIFE8) :
Wages and salaries TERSS 486,990 414,630
Equity-settled share option expense PARR AR 32 1+ 2 B R #E il =2 11,635 22,359
Pension scheme contributions RSB 68,224 60,631
Less: Amount capitalised B BN R &R (20,756) (20,765)
Net: Pension scheme contributions RN EEETOFE
(note c) (Bi&Ec) 47,468 39,866
546,093 476,855
Foreign exchange differences, net (note d)  JMEZ 27F%8 (MizEd) (24,149) (15,845)
Bank interest income (note e) RITF B A (KfzEe) (86,599) (144,664)
Gain on disposal of associates HERE N E 2 Wi - (96,696)
Gross rental income from investment REWH*ES
properties WA (362,982) (300,020)
Net rental income from property, W% - BB MR EFES WA
plant and equipment (note f) (PR 3ES) (19,243) (28,916)
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

Notes:

a. At 31 December 2008, the Group had depreciation of HK$15,949,000 in
the current year (2007: nil), which was grouped under profit/(loss) for the

year from discontinued operations and disposed of it in current year.

b.  The amount for the year of 2007 has included gains on disposal of items
of property, plant and equipment of HK$52,000, which was grouped
under profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations.

c. At 31 December 2008, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future
years (2007: Nil).

d.  The amount has included foreign exchange gains of HK$64,085 in the
current year (2007: HK$566,069), which was grouped under profit/(loss)

for the year from discontinued operations.

e. The amount has included bank interest income of HK$333,009 in the
current year (2007: HK$1,177,240), which was grouped under profit/
(loss) for the year from discontinued operations.

f.  The amount has included net rental income from land and buildings
of HK$223,000 in the current year (2007: HK$1,455,000) which was
grouped under profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations.

6.

BRBE AR (2
GEX

RZEENF+_A=1+—HB AEEREAFEZ
#1815,949,0008 7T (ZZZLF: &) I AFAE
BEEBETN, (BE)URAFELE-

—TTLEEZRECAELENE BE REHE
18 B 2 W #552,0007 7T+ 51 A\ GF A FE 1548 2 75 0 A
/(&) -

RZZBENF+_A=+—B AEFALAESRK
HRA PR D ER KRR BEFE 2 RKR S B (=
TELFE) -

RAREE G ASMNERE Z £ /R64,0858TT (= F
T :566,009/8 70 ) FRIRF A F N IER B X150
M, (B8 -

RAEE 5 ARITHERAZ £ A333,009% T
(ZZTZTEF 1,177,240 L) ZIBHIAF N IEHE
¥%m5 (E18) -

RAFEE RETHREFHSFRAZEER
223,000 7T (ZFZ L F : 1,455,000% 7 ) 5K B
AFRNIEFEEBEF, (BE) -
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERA
Group
rEH
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest on: SX i
Bank loans wholly repayable 2 RAFABHREEZ
within five years RITE T B 619,787 419,476
Bank loans wholly repayable BARAFREBHERZ
over five years RITE T B 83,323 107,475
Other loans H Al & KA S 101 2,118
Total interest expense on financial liabilities FEBBRBARNEFNEZ
not at fair value through profit or loss TRABEZNERX A% 703,211 529,069
Less: Interest capitalised D= N AN (417,631) (146,854)
285,580 382,215
Other finance costs E fib g & B AR 16,519 =
302,099 382,215
Attributable to discontinued operations FEREEB
(note 11) FE1G & 5 ( IKH‘EH 1) 83,323 107,237
Attributable to continuing operations reported R AE KR ER 2 RITEEB 2
in the consolidated income statement JETEETB)? 218,776 274,978
302,099 382,215
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM2
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the REFRE EHRARDEVEDIE 161152 =B
Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies SWEMT

Ordinance, is as follows:

Group
rEE
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FET
Fees we 1,360 1,780
Other emoluments: H At Bl < :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He FEUREYA R 9,541 9,917
Equity-settled share option expense VA PR S 32 A5 2 B P 4 B =2 27,909 9,662
Pension scheme contributions RIKEEH IR 594 818
38,044 20,397
39,404 22,177
During the year, certain director was granted share options, in RAFE  ARESHAREBRERE ZART]
respect of his service rendered to the Group, under the share option BRETEERBRE  FEHANM B WK T
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in 37 - EEGEHRNERARNZERERE LR
note 37 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options, AREDERTEHRETE  EAFET BRI AR
which has been recognised in the income statement over the vesting MBRETTEBEE LR EEWSIRE-

period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is included
in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEM< (&)
(@) Independent non-executive directors (@) BAFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the AEFENBUIFRTERREWT:

year were as follows:

Employee
share option
Fees benefits Total
&8
B E
we Fl & FEk-C
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAET
2008 —EEN\E
Wong Po Yan =R 330 - 330
Wu Wai Chung, Michael RER 280 - 280
Li Wai Keung, Ricky EX L 330 - 330
940 - 940
2007 —EE2LHF
Wong Po Yan EHIRR 330 = 330
Wu Wai Chung, Michael REER 280 - 280
Li Wai Keung, Ricky FER 330 = 330
940 - 940
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent NEWHMEMBENBUIERTESCBE (=
non-executive directors during the year (2007: Nil). TELF HE)eo
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

allowances
and benefits

8. EEM=E (#&)

(b) BITESRIBTES

Salaries,

Employee
share option

Pension
scheme

Fees in kind benefits  contributions Total
Fe 28  REEBRE B#iE
weE REWANZ Ik IR ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TR TERT TER
2008 ZEENF
Executive directors: WITES:
Hu Aimin HER - 1,295 104 1,399
Zhang Yijun REH - 1,280 81 1,361
Zhao Gesheng HELE - 703 47 750
Xiao Rihai* HHE* - 446 32 478
Liang Kaiping* R5F - 440 31 471
Liu Weijin g - 985 68 1,053
Zhang Huagiao** RALAG** - 1,875 27,909 127 29,911
Tam Pinglung*** TR - 2,517 104 2,621
- 9,541 27,909 594 38,044
Non-executive directors: FMITES !
Wu Jiesi B2 280 - - 280
Lee Yip Wah, Peter* FEE 140 - - 140
Hu Zuoyuan**** AR T e - - - -
420 - - 420
420 9,541 27,909 594 38,464

EE

ook ok

Retired as director on 2 June 2008.

Resigned as director on 22 September 2008.

officer of the Group.

Resigned as non-executive director on 22 April 2008.

Resigned as director on 3 December 2008 but remained as an

& ER-_ZEENFABREEEHS-

o BRIZBZNFAAST _HEEESES -

o BRZFTNF+-_AZHBREEFRBE
DBEATEEZHBE -

oo BERZZEENFOA-+T-HBEERTE

ERT
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. ExM<E (&)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (Continued) (b) HTEERFITES (&
Salaries,
allowances Employee Pension
and benefits  share option scheme
Fees in kind benefits  contributions Total
e RE  EEBRE BkE
e  REYMZ Fl& HE L3 wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T TAT FTAT FTAET
2007 it 2 St
Executive directors: WES:
Hu Aimin HER - 1,143 - 112 1,255
Zhang Yijun KEHY - 1,135 = 107 1,242
Zhao Gesheng HEE - 688 - 54 742
Xiao Rihai HAE - 1,030 - 91 1,121
Liang Kaiping R F - 989 - 92 1,081
Liu Weijin 2IEHE - 949 - 92 1,041
Zhang Huagjiao R - 3,000 9,662 177 12,839
Tam Pinglung KRB - 983 - 93 1,076
- 9,917 9,662 818 20,397
Non-executive directors: FHITES
Wu Jiesi HER 280 = = = 280
Lee Yip Wah, Peter TEE 280 = = = 280
Hu Zuoyuan TRIETT 280 - - - 280
840 - - - 840
840 9,917 9,662 818 21,237
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or RAFREA - BEIAEEREXFRBREL
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. Al B & 2 ZeHk
9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. HEREHFES
The five highest paid employees during the year included five (2007: AEEzREBREHEERERER (ZETLF:
five) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 AA)EF ZEEF M F BN EXXMF
above. 8°
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10. TAX 10. B{18

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2007:
17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year. The lower Hong Kong profits tax rate is effective
from the year of assessment 2008, and so is applicable to the
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the whole year ended 31
December 2008. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the provinces in which the
Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
year (2007: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China are
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the locations in which the
Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

Major subsidiaries of the Group operate in Shenzhen, Mainland
China, which are subject to the corporate income tax rate of 18%.
However, with the new PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law becoming
effective on 1 January 2008, the tax rate will increase eventually to
25% in 2012.

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including amortisation
of land use rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditures. LAT of HK$351,604,000 is charged to the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007:
HK$226,678,000).

AEEBZEBNEHERBEFANEBEL 2@
FERBUEAIE16.5% 2K (ZFZTLF:17.5%)
HE REBRZBEAFNCGHREINR=_ZZT\ER
REERER HEBARBE-ZEN\F+=
A=+ HALBFEREE ZERTEF - Hib
w2 BB TR IR E R a AR A R B ES T E
EMZERARE UREBEEHEERZHTEM 2
BRIEFIFHE-

REBEW BEFBELEMERTEFN - ERF
AL BT RBEFNSHBEE (T LF 8) -
P B A i R AR 5t ) B R O TRLAR H AR SR B & 3
BERZHERBITABEDN TERENGE-

AEBEZEZHBARER B AERYEE &
18%BMNFEFTBH - AT M EMBRER=
ZENF-A—BER BENSERER=_Z—=
FHME25% ©

B 3% (A B R 1 I8 (E 2 30% 2 60% R HE T
REU - T B E A E Y ERTS R B IE i
EREEE BEXNARAMAYMEERI L Z AN
RHAY BE-ZTTZN\F+-A=+—HLFE"
BEGEWERP NG i EFI351,604,0007%8
T (ZFZT 226,678,000 7T) °

2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Group: REH:

Current — Mainland China BVER — rp B K P 257,760 317,713
LAT in Mainland China AR OK B £ M 3B E R 351,604 226,678

Deferred Mainland China corporate IRIE R B R FE R EE PTG HY
income tax (note 35) (Ff3¥35) 67,649 184,935
Total tax charge for the year REEHIA L EE 677,013 729,326
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10. TAX (Continued) 10. B (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax X P A LK B B R 5T E 2 AR BR B AT R T
at the statutory income tax rate to the tax expense at the Group’s ZBERIREBEAEERFE 2 EARE (10E
effective income tax rate for the year, and a reconciliation of the ERE)HE2HIBER T 2 HER:

applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rates,
are as follows:

2008 2007
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %o
FERT FHET
Profit before tax (including B 50 A A
profit/loss from discontinued (B IEIEFEE
operations) E%mA) 1,700,585 2,658,933
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEMEHE 2 HIE 280,605 16.5 410,803 15.45
Higher tax rate for specific BREAMMTERRSZ
provinces or local authority i & 76,447 4.5 1,022 0.04
Effect on opening deferred tax & EF ¥ &RIHELERE 2
for increase in tax rates PE - - 120,526 4.53
Profits and losses attributable to B & A &) 2
associates i A R &8 (77,912) (4.6) (71,835) (2.70)
Incomes not subject to tax BEBRT R Z WA (31,093) (1.8) (48,193) (1.81)
Tax losses not recognised RERZ HIAEE 32,928 1.9 35,683 1.34
Tax loss utilised BERHIEERE (3,735) 0.2) (14,998) (0.56)
Expenses not deductible for tax I~ A] BL & B0 EL 2 B X 71,416 4.2 99,945 3.76
Effect of withholding tax on HAEEZPEMERRZ
distributable profit of the Al 53K % F 2
Group’s PRC subsidiaries BMHTE
(note 35) (Pt 5E35) 42,722 2.5 = =
LAT T IEE 351,604 20.7 226,678 8.53
Tax effect of LAT (note 35) T HbIEER 2 BIRR 2 (MI7E35) (65,882) (3.9) (34,101) (1.28)
Tax charge at the Group's BRAEEE M EHGR 2
effective rate A 677,100 39.8 725,530 27.3
Represented by: R
Tax charge attributable to ERBEBERMNZ
discontinued operations BB H
(note 11) (KfEET) 87 (3,796)
Tax charge attributable to RERE W am R
continuing operations ERFHEED
reported in the consolidated JE15 2 BiIE
income statement g 677,013 729,326
677,100 725,530
The share of tax attributable to associates of approximately & N B FEIE BITE4) /289,701,000 7T (=
HK$289,701,000 (2007: HK$108,106,000) is included in “Share + 4 : 108,106,000 7T) - E 5l M*Auﬁun%% EP
of profits and losses of associates” on the face of the consolidated [ E R RDEN M EIE ] A -

income statement.
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In the year 2007, the Group disposed of its entire 31.1%
interests in Shenzhen Topway Video Communication Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen Topway”), an associate of the Group established in
PRC. Shenzhen Topway engages in the provision of cable TV and
other communication network technology services in Shenzhen.
On 22 December 2006, the transaction was published for public
bidding in Shenzhen Enterprise Ownership Exchange Centre and
the public bidding was completed in January 2007. The Group
entered into a contract to sell all its interests in Shenzhen Topway
to an independent third party incorporated in Mainland China. The
disposal of Shenzhen Topway was completed in the year of 2007.

On 3 January 2007, the Company entered into a sales and purchase
contract to sell its 49% interests in Huayin Traffic Development
Company Limited (“Huayin Traffic”). On 3 December 2007, the
Company announced to dispose of the remaining 51% interests in
Huayin Traffic. Huayin Traffic holds 91% interests in Hubei Jingdong
Expressway Construction and Development Company Limited
(“Jingdong Company”), which engages in the construction and
operation of the Jingdong Expressway in Hubei Province, Mainland
China.

On 5 March 2008, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement to dispose of its remaining 51% interests in Huayin
Traffic, to RESEEBGRA7A], the ultimate holding company. The
disposal of Huayin Traffic was completed in the current year.

On 18 December 2007, the Group entered into an agreement
with Shum Yip Holdings to dispose of the investment in Shum Yip
Transportation Co., Ltd. (“Shum Yip Transportation”). Shum Yip
Transportation mainly engages in leasing operation licenses to
container truck owners and investment holding. The disposal of
Shum Yip Transportation was completed in the current year.

On 3 December 2007, the Group entered into a letter of intention
to dispose of its entire 80% interests in Shum Yip Shumkang (Group)
Company Limited and its subsidiaries (“Shum Yip Shumkang”),
which mainly engages in the provision of transportation services
and vehicle rentals. However, the disposal plan was withdrawn in
the current year as the Group failed to obtain approval from the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of Shenzhen Municipal Government (the “Shenzhen SASAC”).
Accordingly, the Group has ceased to reclassify Shum Yip Shumkang
as a disposal group held for sale at the balance sheet date.

11. EFEEK

RZBZLF  AEEEHEMFFRITRERA
BRHERAR (DRINKE]) 2 2FB31.1%E 5 -
FINRBBAREBR BB 2 BE QR R
MREGSERAEREMBAMBERERE R
ERFETZAZ+ A ZRXIBBRYTEER
ZHLA ﬁﬂ% RE YR _ZTTEF— A5Ke
AEBEFRTANLEERRINRBRZ 2 RS T
E$Ikﬁ?ﬁ&¢2@4%£ﬁo%%%@z
HEER=ZZTLFREK-

e

R_ZETLtF-A=RH ARARFITEERL "
m%iﬁ VBEFREARAR ([FERRE])49%E
B RZZTELFE+_A=H ARAIEMEUEE
BRBREBS1%ER -FERIBEARILAES
%@%E SHEBRSR ([FIRAA]) 291%E
CRAREBEFREBILERBARSRER

=

2,8

2

X
il

o

b

R-ZZZNF=AHE AEERTEREHZE W
& AT FRBRERS 1 % s T HRER A AR
EEEERAR -ERIBZHECREAFE T
FX o

RZZBELF+_A+NA AEEERE (%
BB WS HERREERZRE - REESR
ITENFHEREMURTERESE RIRER
REK - FREEBIHECRAFETK

RZETLF+ZA=H AKBFEIT—HER
% HEMMFRERE (B BR QR REMEB

Al ([RERE]) 22 A80% s A AR EE
%%ﬁ B N E R GRS - AT ARAEE
AEMBERIBEEELEERLRER ([RYEA
é?DZM& HMEEABERNAFERE B
- REER AEETEHRERBET SR
FERE 2L EER -
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

On 18 June 2007, framework agreements were entered into between
the management of Shenzhen PJLD Securities Products Co., Ltd.,
Shenzhen Shum Yip Steel Centre Ltd. and Shenzhen Jinghua
LCD Ltd. (subsidiaries of the Group engaged in manufacturing,
collectively referred to as the “Manufacturing Group”) and the
Group. Pursuant to the agreements, the Group decided to dispose
of its entire interests in these subsidiaries to their management.
However, the disposal plan has been drawn back due to the reason
that they failed to reach consent with the potential buyers regarding
to the detailed terms of agreements. Therefore, management of the
Group ceased to reclassify the Manufacturing Group as a disposal
group held for sale at the balance sheet date.

According to HKFRS 5, if an entity ceases to classify a component of
an entity as held for sale, the results of operations of the component
previously presented in discontinued operations in accordance
with HKFRS 5 shall be reclassified and included in income from
continuing operations for all periods presented. The amounts for
prior periods shall be described as having been re-presented.

The results of the discontinued operations for the year are presented

1. FEFEEK (2)

R-ZBELFRATNR RITHBERERERD
BRI ERAR RIRERESBR QR FRIT
mEBRTAMARRIE (MAAEERNREEESE
ZWBAR SRR [SERE ) 2 EEERAR
AIREZEER R - REBEZSHE  AEERE
HEMFBZEHBAR Z2MERTREZER
JEW*Wﬁ' A B R BB % 5 Wl 2 IR 1B B
BEEREKN —HER BHEAHSIEHREH -F
&t'b’C%ZEI AEEEEECTITBBRNESRES
FoEAREREZHEAR -

BIBREBMBEHRELERESH  M—HEBTES
HEAKIT D D ERFIELE  MIAERBE BT
BHREENESFRIEFEEBZI 2 AR LD 2
KEEBERWENSE STAMEE2HRAMKE
BEEEZIRARN - AEHBEZ RERIEAET
R T 7R ©

HFBEBZFRNEEZTNMT

below:
Infrastructure investment  Information technology Transportation services Manufacturing Total
HERE e EARK B #g
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER ThR TR TEx TER TR TR TiEn TER TR
Revenue W 39,470 56,053 - - 6,838 11,149 - - 46,308 67,202
Cost of sales HERA (18,664) (27,378) - = (5,318) (7,518) - = (23,982) (34,896)
Other income and gains HilA R K& 26,015* 51,435& - 190,131 25,240@ 2,523 - = 51,255 244,089
Selling and distribution costs  $5& R A #R A (286) (624) - - - - - - (286) (624)
Administrative expense 1 GE (12,794) (14,959) - - (1,152) (4,182) - - (13,946) (19,141)
Other expenses EfSERX (170) (172) - - - (34) - - (170) (206)
Finance costs BERA (83,323)  (107,237) - = - = - = (83,323)  (107,237)
Profit/(loss) before tax from  BEFBEERK 2
discontinued operations BRAER/ (BR) 49,752 (42,882) - 190,131 25,608 1,938 - = (24144) 149,187
Tax #E - 34,774 - (30,585) 87) (393) - - 87) 3,796
Profit/(loss) for the year from  REFHEFHZ
discontinued operations FEEF/ (BR) (49,752) (8,108) - 159,546 25,521 1,545 - = (24231) 152,983
*  The amount included the gain on disposal of 51% equity interests in * FHSHEeEAFEREERIBS%REZ K
Huayin Traffic of HK$25,459,000 in the current year. 25,459,000/ 7T ©
@  The amount included the gain on disposal of 100% equity interests in e FHSHERAFELERZENZBRE KRS
Shum Yip Transportation of HK$25,169,000 in the current year. 25,169,000/ 7T °
&  The amount included the gain on disposal of 49% equity interests & EHLEERLEERTBI49I%NRE 2 s

in Huayin Traffic of HK$48,738,000, which was included in the

discontinued operations of the year of 2007.

#  The amount included the gain on disposal of 31.1% equity interests in
Shenzhen Topway in the year of 2007.
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 1. EBEXER (F)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the disposal groups RTZA=+—HRESBRFHEHEZLES
classified as held for sale as at 31 December are as follows: ZEERBBEZEEZHEMNMOT
Infrastructure investment ~ Information technology Transportation services Manufacturing Total
2ERE ERNHE L) HE ag
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
i TR TR TER TR TR TR TER TR TER TR

Assels -/

Property, plant and EN A

equipment PET 15 - 14,733 - = - 180,430 - 53,393 - 248,556
Intangible assets BYEE 16 - 3,133,406 - = - 96,749 - = - 323015
Prepaid land lease Bt

payment BEHRA 17 - = - - - 3,987 - = - 3,987
Goodwill BE 18 - 99,926 - = - = - = - 99,926
Interests in associates REENE 2B 2 - - - - - 197,470 - 3,526 - 200,996
Available-for-sale e

investments 1 - = - - - 620 - - - 620
Inventories 7E - - - - - 2,258 - 43,970 - 46,228
Trade receivables EUWESER 28 - 1,139 - - - 6,992 - 58,004 - 66,225
Prepayments, depositsand ~ ERFE &2 R

other receivables Eth R - 3,49 - - - 67,102 - 10,238 - 80,589
Cash and bank balances BERBTES - 55,012 - = - 34,800 - 28,469 - 118,281
Assets classified as held BABBRIEREL

for sale BE - 3307465 - = - 590408 - 197,690 - 4,095,563

Liabilities BE

Interest-bearing bank loans 5t 1 TE R - 1,705,805 - - - 109 - 27,636 - 1837372
Trade payables LREGES - 28,436 - = - 1,180 - 36,358 - 65,974
Other payables and EfERFER

accruals - 77,880 - = - 161,758 - 73,401 - 313,039
Deferred tax liabilities - 161,158 - = - = - = - 161,158
Liabilities directly EREENEAR

associated with the FEEEZ

assets classified as held EEHEL

for sale af - 1,973,279 - = - 266,849 - 137415 - 2377583
Net assets directly ERELE

associated with the SEEH,

disposal groups BERE - 1,334,186 - = - 303559 - 60,275 - 1,718,020
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 1. EBEXER (F)
The net cash flows incurred from the discontinued operations are as ERBEEBMBECREREBFEOT
follows:
Infrastructure investment  Information technology Transportation services Manufacturing Total
EERE ERNER EaRY 3 A%
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TER THER TR THL TER THT TR THL TER TET

Operating activities BEXH (60,219) 38,731 - - 1,213 2,414 - - (59,006) 41,145
Investing activities REEY - - - 151533 - - - - - 151,533
Financing activities BEED 32,387 (107,236) - - - - - = 32,387 (107,236)
Net cash inflow/ BeRA/ (i)
(outflow) FH (27,832) (68,505) - 151,533 1,213 2,414 - = (26,619) 85,442
2008 2007
Earnings per share: BRRAEA :
Basic, from the discontinued operations BER-RBEFEES HK 0.56 centsi#&fli  HK 5.26 cents/& 1l
Diluted, from the discontinued operations — ##5% ' 5 & JERF 8 %75 HK 0.56 centsi& 1l HK 5.11 centsi# Ll
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share amounts
from the discontinued operations are based on:

1. FEFEEK (2)
HEREEBEEG 2 EREARSERASE
ThER -

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FET
Earnings 27
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued REFEEEK 2
operations FERA, (FE) (24,231) 152,983
Results attributable to minority interests LHRRER G EE 42,283 5,227
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of & B IEFFE X752 A 7]
the parent from the discontinued operations EEBERA A
(note 14) FEME s A (MiEE14) 18,052 158,210
Number of shares
R % & B
2008 2007
Shares g7y
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ ARG ESREAZTF 2
in issue during the year used in the basic FABRHTERRK
earnings per share calculation hnE 9 3,210,805,843 3,010,082,402

Weighted average number of ordinary shares R & SR #E

used in the diluted earnings per share Bz BB
calculation I0#E 5 2

3,228,606,472 3,093,973,138

12. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the
parent for the year ended 31 December 2008 includes a profit of
HK$598,213,746 (2007: HK$364,334,000) which has been dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company (note 38(b)).

12.BARESBHEABEER

HE_ZTTEN\E+_A=+—ALEEFATHE
@B AEGERE R A B 1E5598,213,74678 L)% 7
(—ZT 4 364,334,000/ 7T ) ENARA T 2 &
BHRPEE (FE38(0b)) °
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13.

14

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amounts is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

FYHRBRARAT 20084 457

DIVIDENDS 13. R E
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FHET
Interim — HK3 cents (2007: HK8 cents) per + Hﬂ% S —FREBRIEAL
ordinary share ZETEF87) 96,399 238,537
Adjustment to prior year’s final dividend NEFERPREZAE (3,297) 28,360
Proposed final dividend of HK8 cents ﬁi/fﬁfﬁﬂﬂx S —FREBRSEAL
(2007: final dividend of HK21 cents) per —ZETHFREKRE
ordinary share —ERE %HXZLEM) 257,064 677,950
350,166 944,847
The proposed dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the REEBRRREBEARRBIRRNEERFASF
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. RNE Ltk
. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 1M BRAFAEBESREARGESRAT

BEREABMNNIZRE AT BESHEARA
RER MR FRND ETEBRRD INE T 152

=
Al =

BEREERMN RS AR EBERIT B ARIEF
Mg M E - BEL IR B 2 TR InE %

RERADHTEBRHE (ARAUNFESKRER
BNE) AR AEBEESEBERBRMODRIETRSE
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO W BRAREEREREABGERARN
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (#%&)
(Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are FREAREERNTIE T SEFTE:
based on:
2008 2007
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B R FTHET FET
Earnings 27
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AU ESRERRETZ
holders of the parent, used in the basic BRAAEBESEIFAA
earnings per share calculation: JEAE H A -
From continuing operations KB FEER 854,964 1,556,611
From discontinued operations REFFEED 11 18,052 158,210
873,016 1,714,821

Number of shares

R % & B
2008 2007
Shares g7y
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ BUAGFHEBREARZF 2
in issue during the year used in the basic FABRHTERRK
earnings per share calculation hnE 9 3,210,805,843 3,010,082,402
Effect of dilution — weighted average number of #EF 2 — & @A INRE
ordinary shares: 8
Share options i I e 17,800,629 83,890,736

3,228,606,472 3,093,973,138
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31 December 2008
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ -BEREE
Group &
Land and Land and
buildings in ~ buildings in
Hong Kong Mainland
under  China under Furniture,
medium medium Leasehold fixtures and Motor Plantand  Construction
term leases term leases  improvements equipment vehicles machinery in progress Total
U EEL
DRBEs  RBEKE
REBEEZ  BE2i# HE B -#£E
THREF rEF VES:4 PEL ] RE HERRE ERIR ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TiEx TR TR TERT
31 December 2008 “ERN\E+ZA=+-H
At 31 December 2007 and RZBRLE
at 1 January 2008: +=A=+-Bk
—EE\F-f-R:
Cost or valuation RAREE - 227,976 22,102 34,829 38,163 59,596 13,051 395,717
Accumulated depreciation and R HTER
impairment ifE - (50,054) (4,219 (23,009) (16,103) (25,227) - (118,612)

Net carrying amount RHFE - 177,922 17,883 11,820 22,060 34,369 13,051 277,105
At 1 January 2008, net of R-ZEN\&-f-H"

accumulated depreciation and &R ZEHTER

impairment WE - 177,922 17,883 11,820 22,060 34,369 13,051 277,105
Transfer from discontinued gRak

operations SELH 2,580 82,276 452 4,598 87,915 33,771 - 211,592
Additions "E - 588 10,674 13,879 104,786 11,889 11,506 153,322
Transfer from investment ERARENE

properties (note 20) (FtzE20) - 13,559 - - - - - 13,559
Reclassification ENNR - 2,364 9,502 412 - (412) (11,866) -
Disposals te - (5,877) - 4,610) (16,337) (3,310) - (30,134)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHEAR - - - (13) - - (11) (24)
Revaluation surplus upon transfer  EEZRENZR 2

to investment properties EfifE - 26,222 - - - - - 26,222
Transfer to investment properties  EHAZHEN %

(note 20) (H£20) - (42,454) - - - - - (42,454)
Write-back of impairment BERE - - - - - 273 - 273
Depreciation provided REEHE

during the year B - (8,082) (8,958) (11,374) (35,366) (10,614) - (74,394)
Exchange realignment ExAZ 159 12,323 1,307 1,025 6,793 4,450 371 26,428
At 31 December 2008, net of RZZENE

accumulated depreciationand ~ TZA=+—R &Mk

impairment SHTERWE 2,739 258,841 30,860 15,737 169,851 70,416 13,051 561,495
At 31 December 2008: RIZEN\F

T-A=+-R:
Cost or valuation KA E 2,837 325,849 47,653 63,606 289,277 136,635 13,051 878,908
Accumulated depreciation and ~ REHTER
impairment A 98) (67,008) (16,793) (47,869) (119,426) (66,219) - (317,413)

Net carrying amount FERE 2,739 258,841 30,860 15,737 169,851 70,416 13,051 561,495
Analysis of cost or valuation: RAFREA

At cost A 2,837 108,698* 47,653 63,606 289,277 136,635 13,051 661,757

At 2006 valuation —RENEMRE - 217,151 - - - - - 217,151

2,837 325,849 47,653 63,606 289,277 136,635 13,051 878,908
2 In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amount of these land and * EERAE RS+ HWEEFCEmS M

buildings approximated to their fair value as at 31 December 2008.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15. % - BERRE (£)

Group (Continued) NEE (&)
Land and Land and
buildingsin ~ buildings in
Hong Kong Mainland
under  China under Furniture,
medium  medium term Leasehold fixtures and Motor Plantand  Construction
Toll roads ~ term leases leases  improvements equipment vehicles machinery in progress Total
Pk
DL Nl PN 2
REERAZ  RKEZLH BE  KHXE
WENE  DHRETF RigF nx%lE RikfE AE  HREREE ERIR &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEx TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
31 December 2007 “RELET-AST-H
At 31 December 2006 and RZZERE
at 1 January 2007: TZA=t-BR
—ZRtE-A-R:
Cost or valuation RAZ(EE 2,918,570 2,176 299,109 13,514 58,083 218,986 161,261 15,607 3,687,326
Accumulated depreciation and 23 T&ER
impairment BE (5,488) (33) (16,470) (1,827) (46,024) (134,580) (47,581) - (252,003)
Net carrying amount RHE 2,913,082 2,143 282,639 11,687 12,059 84,406 113,680 15,627 3,435,323
At 1 January 2007, net of R=Z25+E-F-A"
accumulated depreciation BRNRZHRER
and impairment BE 2,913,082 2,143 282,639 11,687 12,059 84,406 113,680 15,627 3,435,323
Additions wE 19,949 - 5,824 10,833 7153 04,761 2,082 11,416 122,018
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-RHEAR - - - - 106 586 - - 692
Assets included in discontinued  3f ASEHEEH L EE
operations (note 11) (K1) (3,133,406) (2,580) (103,131) (244) = (94,699) (47,902) - (3381962)
Transfer from investment BRERENE
properties (note 20) (Kit20) - - 3,580 - - - - = 3,580
Reclassification ENfiDR 6,703 - 5921 - - - - (12,624) =
Disposals HE - - (20,091) (2,024) 1,110 (4,651) (27,052) (1,602) (54,310)
Transfer to properties under BRZERTYZ
development (note 19) (HiE19) = = (7,253) = = = = = (7,253)
Write-back of impairment FERE = = 7,558 = = = = = 7,558
Depreciation provided during the AFE# &
year BE (17,054) - (12,071) (3,338) (10,192) (34,216) (12,906) - (89,777)
Exchange realignment B 210,726 57 14,946 969 1,584 5873 6,467 234 241,236
At31 December 2007, netof ~ H=FF+F
accumulated depreciationand ~ TZA=T—A ik
impairment 2 ERREME - = 177922 17,883 11,820 22,060 34,369 13,051 277,105
At31 December 2007: KIBB+E
+=A=+-A:
Cost or valuation KA fEE - = 227,976 22,102 34,829 38,163 59,596 13,051 395,717
Accumulated depreciation and 2z H7E )
impairment BE = = (50,054) (4219) (23,009) (16,103) (25,227) = (118,612)
Net carrying amount REFE - = 177922 17,883 11,820 22,060 34,369 13,051 277,105
Analysis of cost or valuation:  FAZEEA :
At cost KA - - 10,825 22,102 34,829 38,163 59,596 13,051 178,566
At 2006 valuation —EE B - = 217,151 = - - - = 217,151
- - 227,976 22,102 34,829 38,163 59,596 13,051 395,717
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31 December 2008
—ZEENF+ZA=1+—H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Group’s land and buildings were revalued at 31 December
2006 by Greater China Appraisal Ltd., an independent firm of
professionally qualified property valuers. These land and buildings
were revalued at their open market values based on their existing
use. In the opinion of the directors, there has been no material
change in the values of these land and buildings as at 31 December

2008.

Had these land and buildings been carried at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation, their carrying amount would have been

approximately HK$194,195,000 (2007: HK$218,833,000).

15.ME-BERRKE (£)
AEBY THEEFOR-ETAE+=A=1—
BBy ELAERMEGEMEETESEA
AETEG RSt W REFHREARTEE
ERABR Y ARETER -EERE N_22
NE+-—A=+—B ZELHREFIEEL
mEAEE -

BRINZE L RIEFIRE A AR Rt &5
B HIRAEESE A%194,1950008 T (Z2F
+%:218,833,000/87T) °

Leasehold Furniture Motor
Company N improvements and fixtures vehicles Total
HE
MEEE BRREE "E mE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FTHERT THET TERT
31 December 2008 —EBNE+=A=t—H
At 1 January 2008, net of R_BEENFE—F—8"
accumulated depreciation BN RETITE 357 594 1,645 2,596
Additions NE - 47 - 47
Disposals HE - (65) (1,262) (1,327)
Depreciation provided AEEHE
during the year B (119) (162) 746 465
At 31 December 2008, net of RZZEENFF+_A=+—8"
accumulated deprecation KINBRRFTITE 238 414 1,129 1,781
At 31 December 2008: RZZBZENF+ZA=+—H:
Cost B AR 593 1,172 2,293 4,058
Accumulated depreciation ES i (355) (758) (1,164) (2,277)
Net carrying amount BREF(E 238 414 1,129 1,781
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15. ¥ - BERRE (&)
Furniture
Leasehold and Motor
Company AAR] improvements fixtures vehicles Total
HE
mERE  HEREEE aE k]
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
Fib Fitn T FiBT
31 December 2007 “2EtE+ZHA=t+—H
At 1 January 2007, net of R_EZ+F—H—H8"
accumulated depreciation KB RTINE 475 764 1,262 2,501
Additions - - 56 970 1,026
Depreciation provided AEEHE
during the year B (118) (226) (587) (931)
At 31 December 2007, net of RZZET+F+-_A=+—8"
accumulated deprecation KMk RETITE 357 594 1,645 2,596
At 31 December 2007: RZZEZHFE+-A=+—H:
Cost B A 593 1,190 3,555 5,338
Accumulated depreciation e (236) (596) (1,910) (2,742)
Net carrying amount fREFE 357 594 1,645 2,596
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. B EE
HK$’000
Group rEH FHET
Vehicle licences TRE R AR
31 December 2008 —EENE+ZA=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2008, net of R-_ZEZENEFE—HF—H
accumulated amortisation Z R -
Transfer from discontinued operations BREEFEER 96,749
Amortisation provided during the year REFEHER (6,218)
Exchange realignment M 5 3R B 6,065
At 31 December 2008 RZZBEZENEFE+-_A=+—H 96,596
At 31 December 2008: RZZEZENF+ZA=+—8:
Cost B 7R 129,627
Accumulated amortisation Rt EE Y (33,031)
Net carrying amount REFE 96,596
31 December 2007 —ET+F+ZA=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2007, net of accumulated RZTETLF—A—HZHA:
amortisation ANBR R AT 37,964
Additions NE 57,982
Amortisation provided during the year NEEHEEE (1,944)
Assets included in discontinued operations (note 11) STAGEEBEER 2 EE (KaE11) (96,749)
Exchange realignment M 5 3R B 2,747

At 31 December 2007

At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008: R-BZEA+F+-A=+—HR
=22 NE—H—=H
Cost DN -
Accumulated amortisation B 3 -
Net carrying amount REFE -

Note: Certain of the Group’s vehicle licenses with a net book value of
approximately HK$2,986,603 (2007: Nil) was pledged to secure certain
bank loans granted to the Group as at 31 December 2008 (note 33).

FYERERAT 20085 F i
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17. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENT

17. BN L1 HEFIE

Group
rEE
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEREEBE - 3,888
Assets included in discontinued operations AAEREEB 2 EE
(note 11) (PHEETT) - (4,072)
Assets transferred from discontinued operations ## B IFFE XK 2 EE 3,987 =
Exchange realignment M 5 A B 323 184
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZR=+—RZKHEE 4,310 =
Current portion included in prepayment, STATER IR R R H A EUAR R
deposits and other receivables Z BNERER & (96) (85)
Assets included in discontinued operations SAEREEBCAE
(note 11) (Pi&E11) - 85
Non-current portion FERNEA &R 4,214 =

The leasehold land is held under a medium
situated in Mainland China.

term lease and is

HE L AR RBRORE - AL BAE-
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18. GOODWILL 18. B &
HK$’000

Group rEH FHET
Cost at 1 January 2007, net of RZZTTELtF—A—HZHA:

accumulated impairment kR 2ERE 195,932
Acquisition of minority interests in a subsidiary W — RN E QR 2 DB R R 322,020
Disposal of equity interests in a subsidiary & — R B A 7 2 R (96,006)
Attributable to discontinued operations (note 11) FEMR FERS BT (M EE11) (99,926)
Cost and carrying amount RZZEZELFE+A=+—HZ

at 31 December 2007 KA K EREE 322,020
At 31 December 2007: R-BEA+FE+-A=+—8:

Cost B AR 322,020

Accumulated impairment ZERE =

Net carrying amount REFEE 322,020
Cost at 1 January 2008, net of R-_TEENF-—HA—BZHREK-

accumulated impairment Sk 2FRE 322,020
Exchange realignment ME 55 % 580
Cost and carrying amount R-BENF+-_A=+—-HZ

at 31 December 2008 A K BRE A 322,600
At 31 December 2008: R-ZBBNEF+-A=+—A:

Cost DN 322,600

Accumulated impairment ZERE -

Net carrying amount FRmEFE 322,600

Impairment testing of goodwill

BAERENR

Goodwill arising from acquisition of minority interests in subsidiaries
has been allocated to the following cash-generating units, which are
reportable segments, for impairment testing:

e Property development cash-generating unit; and
e Property investment cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units have been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The key assumptions adopted on
growth rates and discount rates used in the value-in-use calculations
are based on management best estimates. Growth rates are
determined by considering both internal and external factors relating
to the relevant segment. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 11% (2007: 13.08%).
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18. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

18. W& (&)
HEREA R ()
EREMRE DERBTREBEM KR EE
BREBAETLED T & 5| BREERB

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key
assumptions on which the recoverable amounts of goodwill is based

would not cause the carrying amounts to exceed its recoverable H A o] BEE -
amounts.
19. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 19. BRPYZE
Group
AEH
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Land in Mainland China held LA ER A A9 A R B R BEFS B 2
under medium term leases, at cost: T ERAKAN
At beginning of year F4) 6,100,510 1,848,967
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B A A - 1,172,366
Additions NE 1,027,562 3,597,192
Transfer from an investment property BREREDE
(note 20) (P 7E20) - 37,048
Transfer to completed properties held BRERESTEZ
for sale EE-30%ES (423,026) (118,890)
Reclassified from property, BY¥ - BERXEEH DR
plant and equipment (note 15) (MH5E15) - 7,253
Disposals H&E - (71,551)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 39) HE—ER B AR (KFE39) - (550,000)
Exchange realignment ME 3, 38 B 397,060 178,125
At 31 December ®R+=—A=+—8 7,102,106 6,100,510
Development expenditure, at cost: Gk S %N
At beginning of year F4) 1,210,577 439,418
Acquisition of subsidiaries Ui 5 B /88 2 R - 12,677
Additions NE 2,835,997 1,316,196
Transfer to completed properties held BRERETEZ
for sale B (1,288,647) (522,143)
Disposals ankc= - (63,933)
Exchange realignment BEE 3 8 B 48,739 28,362
At 31 December ®R+=—A=+—8 2,806,666 1,210,577
9,908,772 7,311,087
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19. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

19. RBEHYEE (F)

As at 31 December

R+=H=+—~H

Group

rEE
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH& T
Portion classified as current assets NEBRBEEZHH 9,908,772 7,311,087
Portion classified as non-current assets DERIEREEEZIBMHD - -
9,908,772 7,311,087

According to the Group’s accounting policy, properties under
development are classified as current assets unless the construction
period of the relevant property development project is expected
to complete beyond normal operating cycle. The directors are of
the opinion that using the current accounting policy will result
in the financial statements providing reliable and more relevant
information and will be better to align with the common industry
practice. The comparative amounts of properties under development
at 31 December 2007 have been reclassified to conform with current
year’s presentation.

At 31 December 2008, the Group’s properties under development
with a net book value of approximately HK$380,360,000 (2007:
HK$368,290,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted to the
Group (note 33 (a)(i)).

As at 31 December 2008, the application for certificates of land
in Mainland China held under medium term leases with a net
book value of RMB1,308,535,500 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,486,234,000) was still in progress.
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31 December 2008
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. WEWF
Group
rEE
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEHEE 3,315,710 3,083,941
Transfer from property, plant and equipment BEAME WELRE
(note 15) (FFEE15) 42,454 -
Additions = 14,659 10,828
Net profit from a fair value adjustment NRERBEZHEF 515,280 725,534
Reclassified from completed properties held BREREZEERMEET»HE
for sale (note 27) (Pif7E27) - 81,680
Transfer to owner-occupied properties HBRFEZFIEAYME
(note 15) (FF#E15) (13,559) (3,580)
Disposals k= (55,545) (522,345)
Transfer to properties under development HRFHRPYE
(note 19) (P7E19) - (37,048)
Transfer to completed properties held for sale S = {EFE 2B EKME
(note 27) (P =E27) (120,003) (249,390)
Exchange realignment ME 5 A B 214,743 226,090
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt+ZA=+—BZzKREE 3,913,739 3,315,710

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland China
and are held under a medium term lease.

The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2008 by Greater China Appraisal Ltd., an independent firm
of professionally qualified property valuer, at approximately
HK$3,913,739,000 on an open market, existing use basis. The
investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 40(i)
to the financial statements. The net surplus arising on the revaluation
has been credited to the consolidated income statement.

At 31 December 2008, none of the Group’s investment properties
was pledged to secure bank loans granted to the Group (2007: Nil)
(note 33).

REBZREWERNF BRI IAHHHEY
KA

REBZEBENECR -_TENE+_A=+—
BHBYEEMEGAEMESETEEGRAARA
Mm% B AT A 2 ZEEE 4 A4%3,913,739,000%
T REMENCERNERTFE=F BHABE
BB ISR M FE400) - EHARBRFED T AL
Bl &R o

RZZBENFE+ZA=+—0 AEELEERE
MRENEEREAEEBMBRITERZER (=
TELF ) (E33) -

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008

133



Notes to Financial Statements
B 7 R 3R Ff &

31 December 2008

—TENF+=_A=+—H

21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 21. B R B R
Company
AR
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost JELETRRG  EAAR 4,520,617 3,820,616
Due from subsidiaries* (note 44) JE W5 B /BB R kI (Ffd 5E44) 1,212,846 1,207,705
5,733,463 5,028,321
< The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and have no * ERMBARZ RIEAEER  WERTEKAR-
fixed terms of repayment. The amounts due from subsidiaries of B FE LS BB /A R1.2.949,545,7104 7T (Z T T+ 4 ¢
HK$949,545,710 (2007: HK$949,545,710) are interest-free, while the 949,545,71078 7T ) % E A LASN - #2%8263,300,307
remaining balance of HK$263,300,307 (2007: HK$258,158,826) bears BT (ZZEZ+4:258,158,826/87T) RBESER
interest at rates ranging from 5% to 6.435% (2007: 6.57% to 7.75%) per 6.435E (ZBE+F:6.57EE7.75E) it EHE
annum.
The amounts due from subsidiaries classified under current assets are FEH B AT KRB B AR EE N AER
unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand or within one W E  WEARERE—FRNER-
year.
The carrying amounts of the amounts due from subsidiaries ZEZEEWNBATZREBEZ FEEEEARERS -
approximate to their fair values.
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTERBARGFIBEOT
Nominal value of
Place of issued and fully Percentage of equity
registration paid-up capital/ interest attributable
Name of subsidiaries and operations registered capital to the Company Principal activities
BRTR
Bl BREE/ ERFEEZ
WEAREE RisEhE AMEREE REEZEDL TEER
2008 2007
Shum Yip Southern Land (Holdings) PRC HK$1,702,500,000 100 100  Property development
Co., Ltd. (Note b)
REBAWE (KE)BRAR (MzEb) HE 1,702,500,0007% 7T NEER
Shum Yip Centre Development (Shenzhen) PRC HK$40,000,000 100 100 Property development
Co., Ltd. (Notes a & c)
RERLER ORI BERAF (MiFake) #HE 40,000,000/ 7 NEER
Shenzhen Shumkang (Group) Industrial PRC RMB95,500,000 80 80  Provision of transportation services
(Group) Co., Ltd. (Note d)
RERE (£B)ERAR (M3Ed) HE AR ¥95,500,0007T RALEH RS
Shum Yip Terra (Holdings) Co., Ltd. (Note d) ~ PRC RMB200,000,000 75.05 75.05  Property development
RERA(EB)RHEBRAA (HiEd) FE AR #200,000,0007T MELRE
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21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 21. B RIER (&)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEMBRAFBELT:

Nominal value of

Place of issued and fully Percentage of equity
registration paid-up capital/ interest attributable
Name of subsidiaries and operations registered capital to the Company Principal activities
B®#TR
Eigijo v BrRA/ FRTAESGZ
WELAREM REEnH AMEARHME RARZAD FEER
2008 2007
Shenzhen Terra Aluminum Alloy Works PRC RMB10,000,000 72.72 72.72  Aluminum engineering
Co., Ltd. (Notes a & c)
AT EREEETRARAA (MEake) HHE A& #10,000,0007C weEeTik
Shenzhen Terra Property Management Service  PRC RMB5,060,000 75.05 75.05  Property management
Co., Ltd. (Notes a & ¢)
RINTRANEEERBERDA FE AE#5,060,0007C NEER
(PrsFake)
Wuhan Terra Property Development Co., Ltd.  PRC RMB137,000,000 75.05 75.05  Property development
(Notes a & ¢)
RETRAERERBERDA (Mitake) E AE%137,000,0007C S
Shum Yip TaiFu Logistics Group Holdings PRC RMB85,966,370 95.37 95.37  Operation of warehouses and
Co., Ltd. (Notes c) property development
REFRBNREERAERD A (MEc) hE AE85,966,3707T REERRNERR
Shum Yip Pengji (Holdings) Co., Ltd. (Note b)  PRC RMB932,050,000 100 100 Property investment and
development
AXRBE (RE)BERAF (HEED) TE AR %932,050,0007C NERERER
Shenzhen PJLD Securities Products Co., Ltd. ~ PRC RMB75,000,000 63.46 63.46  Manufacturing of security products
(Notes a & ¢)
RYEEEELHRNDBERAR (MZake) $&E AR #75,000,0007C HERMHEm
Shenzhen Pengji Property Management PRC RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property management
Services Limited (Notes a & c)
AT BEENXERRHEERAA HE AR#20,000,0007C NEESR
(M zFakc)
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21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Nominal value of

21. M B ARRER (

&)

ITEMBRARFEET:

Place of issued and fully Percentage of equity
registration paid-up capital/ interest attributable
Name of subsidiaries and operations registered capital to the Company Principal activities
B®#ITR
Eigijo v BrRAR/ FRAESEZ
WELAREM REEHH AMEARTHE RARZRD FEER
2008 2007
Shenzhen Shum Yip Steel Centre Ltd. PRC RMB19,920,000 100 100 Manufacturing of steel products
(Notes a & d)
RNFXIEERAR (MEakd) TE AR#19,920,0007C RERSEM
Shenzhen Wondershine Residence Company ~ PRC RMB15,000,000 100 100 Property management
Limited (Notes a & ¢)
RYTEREFAERAA (MiEake) HE AE#15,000,0007C NEER
Shum Yip Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. PRC US$150,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Note b)
REER ORI AR E (HEEb) HE 150,000,000% 7T REZR
Hubei Shumyip Huayin Traffic Development ~ PRC RMB110,000,000 - 51 Provision of investment and
Co., Ltd. (Notes a & d) management services of toll roads
HLRFERRBREARAA (MEakd) HE AK%110,000,0007C KRB DREE R EE RS
Changsha Pengji Property Limited PRC RMB65,000,000 80 80  Property development
(Notes a & ¢)
EYBEBERRAT (MiFake) HE AR#65,000,0007C MEERE
Huizhou Pengji Investment Limited PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 Property investment and
(Notes a & ¢) development
BMBEREERAF (Make) HE AR #10,000,0007C NERERER
Shum Yip (Shenzhen) Property Management ~ PRC RMB5,000,000 100 100 Property management
Limited (Notes a & ¢)
AEEE (R MEERBRAA e AK#5,000,0007C NEER
(M &Fakc)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

a. Indirectly held by the Company

b.  Established in the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise

c.  Established in the PRC as a domestic enterprise with limited liability

d.  Established in the PRC as a co-operative joint venture enterprise
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

22. Bt N AR

Group Company
AEE F NN
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FE T FHET FHT
Unlisted shares, at cost E EMRRD - HRAKAS - = 15,133 15,133
Shares listed in Hong Kong, REE ETRMD -
at cost KR - = 920,399 882,613
Share of net assets EEEESFE 4,493,712 3,447,924 - -
Goodwill on acquisition Wi E & 2 B a
(notes a & b) (Mfsxakb) 126,917 17,356 - -
Loan to associates BT E QA ZER
(note 44) (BT 5E44) 278,091 89,346 - 8,790
4,898,720 3,554,626 935,532 906,536
Assets included in discontinued ZAJEIFE X 2
operations BE - (200,996) - =
4,898,720 3,353,630 935,532 906,536
Market value of listed shares EmkHmmE 804,905 3,261,135 201,950 969,381
The loans to associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no mYBERRZERAERR 28 HEEBTE
fixed repayment date. EHH-

The loans from associates included in the Group’s current liabilities
totaling HK$32,702,000 (2007: HK$9,330,000) are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed repayment date.

(@) In 2007, the Company exercised its conversion right of the
convertible bonds issued by Coastal Greenland and the
goodwill arose from it amounted to HK$17,356,000.

A RNBMGB T ZERDNFALEBZ B A
BEA - 4% 532,702,000 T (Z T+ F:
9,330,000 L) BEEKR 25 BEETEE
HEfe

(@ RZZEZTLF ARQRATELEHZERER

ﬁZT?ﬁﬂx%\%ZTﬁﬂx%'lﬁtgﬁgﬁi?ﬁ%
17,356,000/ JT °
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b)

During 2007, the Group purchased certain shares of Road King
and Coastal Greenland from the stock market, and classified
the investments in these certain shares (the “Investments”) as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. In addition
to the Investments, the Group also held 22.06% and 21.71%
equity interest in these two associates which were accounted
for as investments in associates. The Group has voluntarily
changed its accounting policy in the current year and recorded
the investments in interests in associates. Accordingly, goodwill
arose from the change in accounting policy (note 2.5) amounted
to HK$91,577,000 and HK$17,984,000 for Road King and
Coastal Greenland respectively as at 31 December 2008.

22 B NTRER (E)
b —ET+G ALEEXRETEREEDHE
EERAF ([BY)) RASHEREZET

B THzEETRORE ([ZFERE])
PEAFBEREARBFEZERMEE-
BRZSREIN AEBITSD RIFHE Ll MR
BINA)Z222.06%8%21.71%H%HE » TH LA & 1
AREAR AEBRAFEEREEH S
Eﬁz%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ’%ﬁ%&ﬁﬂéﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁﬁoIJH:
RZZZN\F+ZA=+—RH EBESHEE

(HzE2. 5)&&2%3@%%&&5@@%!2
&2 5 B3£91,577,0007 7T 17,984,000/
=

The movement in goodwill during the current year was set out RAFEHBEHNT
below:
HK$’000
FET
Cost at 1 January 2008, net of R-ZEENFE—A—BHKA
accumulated impairment Kk ZERE 17,356
Addition in interests in associates (note b) B ARz BEINMER (MIRED) 109,561
Impairment during the year FARE -
Cost and carrying amount RZZZENF+_A=+—HZ
at 31 December 2008 KA K EREE 126,917
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

Place of
establishment/

22 BENTRER (&

TEBERRFBEOT:

Nominal value of
issued and fully

Percentage of

Business incorporation paid-up capital/  ownership interest attributable
Name of associates structure and operations registered capital to the Group Principal activities
3L/ AR BRITRERE rEEESLZ
BENRER ERER REgn% Rx/EMEXEE REgHEI TEER
2008 2007

Road King Infrastructure Ltd. (‘Road King")*  Corporate Bermuda HK$73,892,000 27.38 26.86  Provision of investment and
management of toll roads,
and property development

RYERARAA ([%F))* G BRE 73,892,000/ 7T RERERBRZRAREER
NEER

Shenzhen Tianan Cyber Park Co., Ltd. Corporate PRC US$18,000,000 37.53 37.53  Property investment and
development

RZBBRARAA A HE 18,000,000% 72 NERARER

Coastal Greenland Limited Corporate Bermuda HK$279,058,000 22.62 22.61  Property development and

(“Coastal Greenland ")** investment
HEREFRARAA (THEREZE]) = 27 BRE 279,058,000 7T NERRREA

None of the associates are audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or

other member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

Road King is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and its
ordinary shares with a nominal value of HK$0.10 each are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The principal
location of Road King's business is Mainland China.

During 2007, Road King through its 88.46% owned subsidiary, acquired
the entire equity interests in two companies established in the People’s
Republic of China (collectively referred to as the “Investee Companies”)
at a consideration of RMB563,180,000 (equivalent to HK$632,787,000).

BEEABE R RKRBRERKEAMEB AL
KEHMEBAMERE B RARIAMER

O RYDRBRETMRIZARAR EEREE
0.10B T EBBREBTEHARZIMERATERL
MeB 2z TREEMB AP RARE-

ZETZLFERN BYFEREEE88.46% = 2
MEBA R AREAREES63,180,0007T (HHE R
632,787,0007% 7T ) Y i m F 74 R 28 A IR L AN B X 32
ZAR (G EWIREDNR]) 22 IAAE-
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

*

After completion of the acquisition in July 2007, Road King was not able
to obtain effective control over the Investee Companies despite the fact
that the boards of directors of the Investee Companies were appointed
by Road King as the former management of the Investee Companies have
not yet allowed the representatives of Road King to access the office
of the Investee Companies, and have not yet handed over the official
seals, the books and records as well as other relevant documents of the
Investee Companies. Without such access to the official seals and books
and records, Road King has not yet effectively obtained control of the

Investee Companies.

Despite the fact that Road King has taken steps with a view to obtaining
effective control over the Investee Companies, Road King has not yet
obtained effective control or exercise significant influence over the
operating and financing policies of the Investee Companies. In view
of this, the Investee Companies are not currently considered to be
subsidiaries or associates of Road King and therefore they are accounted
for as available-for-sale investments. Based on the impairment review on
the investments in the Investee Companies, in the opinion of the directors
of Road King, no impairment on the investment cost of HK$632,787,000
(31 December 2007: HK$592,821,000) (the amount attributable to the
Group: HK$173,257,000 (31 December 2007: HK$130,776,000)) in the
Investee Companies is considered as necessary.

Road King commenced legal proceedings in the Tianjin Nankai District
People’s Court in October 2007 to enforce its rights and to assume
effective control over the Investee Companies. However, the legal
proceedings against the former management of the Investee Companies
were temporarily suspended on the basis that unspecified facts which
relate to those proceedings may overlap with unspecified matters under
In January 2009, Road King

received a notice advising that the criminal investigation by the Tianjin

investigation by the Tianjin authorities.

authorities was completed and discharged. Based on the advice of Road
King’s People’s Republic of China legal counsel, it is highly probable
that Road King could lift the suspension of the legal proceedings against
the former management of the Investee companies. The directors of Road
King, based on the advice of its legal counsel, are of the firm belief
that the court ruling will be favourable to Road King and accordingly,
Road King will be able to assume effective control over the Investee
Companies in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2008, Road King provided guarantees in favour of
banks to provide credit facilities to the Investee Companies amounting
to HK$337,079,000 (31 December 2007: HK$315,789,000) (the
amount attributable to the Group: HK$92,292,000 (31 December 2007:
HK$69,663,000)). The bank loans are pledged by the properties including
land and properties under development for sale held by the Investee

Companies.
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W&égﬂmﬁﬁﬂ2§ﬂ%°
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

**  Coastal Greenland is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda and the ordinary shares with a nominal value of HK$0.10
each are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The principal location of Coastal Greenland’s business is
Mainland China.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

All the above associates have been accounted for using the equity
method in these financial statements.

The following is the summarised financial information of all

22 B NTRER (E)

s EREREARERERMR T AREEAT -
HEEREE0. 0BT ERBRNEEBAXSHE
BARZER EH - EREREy EBE L
FERE AR

NEREERREAFEXEBRTIEVELMA
RARBEEFELERBOZASEIEHZ
AEIBE-BERL JFEMBBE QR FEHE
HEMBRITR-

ERFAR S A TEN B RERNG SRR EE
AR

FEMERRZHBERBEMNT

associates:

Group

rEE
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Assets BE 37,599,301 32,147,342
Liabilities 81 22,955,632 12,032,114
Revenues A 7,660,022 2,896,153
Profit il 1,194,742 1,007,402
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23. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENT 2.5 EZAHKBE
Group Company
rEH b N
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHET FHxT FHET
Held-to-maturity investment REZIHEE

(note 44) (Pt 5E44) 382,054 382,244 382,054 382,244

On 18 December 2007, the Company purchased from the Hong
Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, an independent
third party, guaranteed senior notes of US$50,000,000 issued by
Coastal Greenland, at a consideration of US$47,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$361,000,000). The guaranteed senior notes
would be due on 8 November 2012 and bore interest at the rate
of 12% per annum. The senior notes were listed on the Singapore
Securities Trading Limited and the investments were classified as
held-to-maturity investments and measured at amortised cost.

RoFFLF+-A+N\R AAARBIE=
HESLEELRTARDRB LSS ERE

%% 17 250,000,000 T Z EREEZE KREA
47,000,000 7T (£ £ 7361,000,0007% 7T ) °

ZERREBAZBENR T ——F+—A/\B3F
H FERANE ZEBRARBRIMKESLRRS

ERAFLH MABRERSEAREE SN

BREWIRBHRAGTE -

24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 24. A HERE
Group Company
REH b N
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHBT FBT FHT
At fair value: BARE:
Listed equity investments FErhERREZ
in Mainland China R ERE 13,448 10,945 - -
Unlisted equity investments R ARE 2
in Mainland China JEEMRERMERE - 14,960
Club membership (EEL-i 4,265 3,082 1,720 1,720
17,713 28,987 1,720 1,720
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24.

25.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (Continued)

During the year, the net gain of the Group’s listed and unlisted
equity investments recognised directly in equity amounted
to HK$1,817,000 (2007: HK$1,412,000), and the loss of
HK$4,675,000 (2007: Nil) was removed from equity and recognised
in the income statement for the year.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted equity investments have
been estimated using a valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the
valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated balance
sheet, and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in
the consolidated equity, are reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the balance sheet date.

OTHER LONG TERM ASSETS

As at 31 December 2008, the balances mainly represented
advances paid to certain independent third parties and certain local
government authorities for land acquisition, resettlement and site

24

25.

AHHEERE (&)
FR BERESTERZASE T RIE TR
HERE 2 WS FFEE,817,0008 T (—TZE+
% 11,412,000 7T ) * i &5 184,675,0008 7T (=
TRLFE)RNFARBREFRINRREKSRS

TSR E Y AR BEIRIETISREET - 3F
EHEEEREZAABEERBLIFATTEET
B R85 2 BRRIR B M ERM A - EFEE
UEERNEFHZAAE (FFAGREEREAR)
RAnEHRBEED (FAGRAER)AE BAR
RERAZREEMHE-

HttRBEE
R-BENF+-A=+—B FHABEER
BEKE BERMBTFEMIATETEY
BE=ARETIHHBITHEZ 2K

formation.
26. INVENTORIES 26. 78

Group

AEH
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Raw materials JR#1 % 20,443 1,831
Work in progress FE 2 fh 24,343 6,141
Finished goods E K 11,512 4,179
56,298 12,151
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27. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s completed properties held for sale are located in
Mainland China. All completed properties held for sale are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

At 31 December 2008, none of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale (2007: HK$15,919,000) was pledged as security for the
Group’s bank loans (note 33).

During the year, none of the Group’s completed properties held for
sale (2007: HK$81,680,000) was transferred to investment properties
(note 20).

Further particulars of the Group’s major completed properties held
for sale are set out on page 180 of the annual report.

27. BEREZEERME
REE 2 B E 2 BB E TR AP BARE -
AR e & 2 BSEM Y £ DR A R AT 2%
BERE 2 BEETIR:

R-BEZENF+_A=+—8 BELAEB 2k
FEZEEXYE (ZFZ+F 15,919,000 7T)
AR EZRITERERPIERER (:E33) -

FR BEAKEZEEFEZEERDE (=2
T+ % :81,680,000/ 0) BE SR EY = (MF
20) °

AEBZEFEREFEZEERDEZE—FHF
BERFRFEI180E o

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES 28. FE W BR =X

Group

rEH
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Trade receivables JE U BR 3Kk 743,199 316,743
Impairment VERIE] (38,068) (10,802)
705,131 305,941

Under normal circumstances, the Group does not grant any credit
terms to its customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and to minimise credit risk. In
view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is
no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.
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28. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the balance sheet

date, based on the contract date, is as follows:

28. EUWBRX (&)
REER NAWBHHE Y BIKER BB D
O NE

Group

FEME
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT THR
Within one year —FR 657,230 300,902
One to two years —FEWF 46,024 3,426
Two to three years MEZ=FA 1,877 1,613
705,131 305,941

At 31 December 2008, the trade receivables of the disposal groups
(note 11) are Nil.(2007: HK$64,514,000, HK$1,635,000, HK$2,000
and HK$74,000 with aging of within one year, one to two years, two

to three years and more than three years, respectively).

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are

as follows:

RZZZNF+ZA=+—HB FALEARZE
WEX (M1 2EAT (ZETLF &8
5l A64,514,000% 7T * 1,635,000/ 7T * 2,000 7T
574,000 T2 R DB A—FAN —2WF W
EZER=ZFENL) -

FEMBR R M E R BEF T :

Group

rEE
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FHET
At 1 January ®—A—H 10,802 12,891
Transfer from discontinued operations EE R IEREET 1,602 =
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) ERERZBEEE (MFe6) 27,098 1,949
Impairment losses reversed (note 6) BEE 2 REEE (HFe6) (1,434) (4,038)
38,068 10,802

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered to

be impaired as follows:

RAIWE BB RE 2 R RR 2 R T a0 T

Group

rEH
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Neither past due nor impaired AN A B ARE 643,974 301,086
Less than one year past due BN —F 43,879 4,166
687,853 305,252
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29.

30.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 29. A FE -RE R HbEWKE
Group Company
r5EE AN
2008 2007 2008 2007
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E THER FHET TR THET
Deposits and other receivables & & H ftt fE U 508 341,821 403,589 10,905 4,801
Loan to an officer KTeRBEZER 30 10,455 = 10,455 -
352,276 403,589 21,360 4,801
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial FEERBIMARBEE T A LR 2@
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which BEMIPEINRBER Z BKERERH-
there was no recent history of default.
LOAN TO AN OFFICER 0. A TERBEZEM
Details of a loan to an officer, disclosed pursuant to Section 161B of RIEBEERRIEHE161BHHE 26 T oA
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as follows: ZERFBWAT
Group and Company REBRAZAT
Maximum
amount
outstanding
31 December during 1 January
Name 2008 the year 2008 Security held
S
—E2ENE FR S
+=A i oK 1838 —EENF
HE =+—H ZEREEHE —HA—H FiEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
Mr. TAM Ping Lung 10,455 10,455 - Residential property
HKREFKE EEWHE
The rate of interest payable by Mr. TAM under a facility letter is BIBEERHERE REERNZMNERETRE
2.5% below the Hong Kong Dollar Best Lending Rate, which shall be BHER2.5% ARG EA B BR AT - AeE
payable in arrears every six months. The principal amount together A& —HEMNMNEENERERE -—FZ2HR
with the last installment of the interest payable will be repayable [EmESEE BERZERESRENERNAAE.

upon expiry of one year of the facility letter. The carrying amount of
the loan approximates to its fair value.

FYHRBRARAT 20084 457



Notes to Financial Statements
B 7% ¥R 3R Ff &

31 December 2008

—ETENF+=-_A=+—H

31. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

. EBBEBRRANBHEZEHMEE

Group Company
TEE ¥ YN
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$"000
FTERT FHET FET FHET
At market value: RE
Listed equity investments EEEZ LT
in Hong Kong IR E 14,385 557,189 14,385 60,265
Listed equity investments ERBAREZ
in Mainland China ETERERE - 13,475 - -
Listed equity investments gz £
in overseas I E 547 1,106 - -
At fair value: BRAnE:
Investment in warrants of BE AR 2 RREFRE
an associate (note a) (P 5¥a) 2,376 31,220 2,376 31,220
17,308 602,990 16,761 91,485
Note: BT -
(@) On 18 December 2007, the Company purchased from an independent (@ RZZEZTtF+=A+//\H EA&ELA27,000,000

third party 37,207,500 warrants to purchase up to 37,207,500 Warrant
Shares issued by Coastal Greenland at HK$27,000,000. According to
HKAS 39, the warrants were recorded as derivatives, which should
be measured at fair value at each period end. The revaluation loss of
HK$28,844,000 was recorded in the consolidated income statement in

the current year.

BLABYE=FRERBLEFECREEITH
%37,207,5004% 32 AR 4 28 A 15 2 37,207,500170 3R A%
EEIRBEBEB G EREIN  RREZIIALTE
THE VR EHRERKEAAEFE-AFEE
4 E51828,844,000/8 LI A A M & -
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32. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS NR.EERESEEY

Group Company

rEME N
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET FERT FHET
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITLHEH 3,822,048 3,404,388 24,443 78,863
Time deposits E B fF R 748,813 1,285,440 664,557 408,749
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEED 4,570,861 4,689,828 689,000 487,612

At the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$3,835,754,000
(2007: HK$3,529,460,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,

REEBR AEEUARB(TARKE]DFEZ
R MIRITAE 2 H3,835,754,0008 T (T T+
% :3,529,460,000%8 70 ) - AR A] B B H i
BE A E W o AT AR B P BSNE B FI GBI R4
B EERNEEERTE TSEREERGREE
THNEXEBZBITHARBLBRAHMEK -

Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods

FRRBITZASREAERITHERE X
MEREAME -BRRERFRZERAR—EE

BN T

of between one day and three months depending on the immediate ZEATE RIAKEZARREEZEEMmME I
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective AR E B RERERIAE - RITAARTD

short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

FYHRBRARAT 20084 457
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33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 33.5T EBITER
2008 2007
Effective Effective
interest interest
Group rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
A&E ERA=E(E) E) TEr EBRFX(E) 58 FET
Current okl
Secured Pegiigi 7.56 2009 22,716 = = =
Unsecured EER 3.645-9.07, 2009 5,355,049 5.022-8.019 2008 3,547,163
HIBOR+0.42
EARITA%E
FE+0.42
5,377,765 3,547,163
Non-current E i)
Secured B 7.56-7.7625 2010-2011 159,012 6.12-7.65 2009-2010 132,531
Unsecured EH R 5.4-8.316, 2010-2013 6,714,548  4.5225-8.5905, 2009-2011 5,957,914
LIBOR+0.48- LIBOR+0.48,
LIBOR+0.7, HIBOR+0.48
HIBOR+0.42-
HIBOR+0.7
RBBTRE wABTRE
17 5.+0.48- FE+0.48
mBERITRE EERTRE
FE40.7> HE+0.48
EARITAE
1 8.+0.42-
BERRIT
BEFE+0.7
6,873,560 6,090,445
12,251,325 9,637,608
2008 2007
Effective Effective
interest interest
Company rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
YN ERFE(E) E) TEL ERAE(E) Ealj i FEL
Current E
Unsecured aER HIBOR +0.42 2009 200,000 = = =
EARITA%
FE+0.42
Non-current kR E
Unsecured B LIBOR+0.48- 2010-2013 5,002,783 LIBOR+0.48 2011 3,627,930
LIBOR+0.7,
HIBOR+0.42-
HIBOR+0.7
wBEBTRE mAFTRE
1 8.40.48- FE+0.48
wBEBTRE
5407
ERBTRE
1 5+0.42-
EARITA%E
FE+0.7
5,202,783 3,627,930
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33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS (Continued)

33.5t BBITER (&)

Group Company
REE RAF
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THET FTEx THETT
Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: BIEE ZRTT
Within one year —F R 5,377,765 3,547,163 200,000 -
In the second year B F N 2,086,264 2,329,984 300,000 =
In the third to fifth years, =FERFA
inclusive (BREERWT) 4,787,296 3,670,682 4,702,783 3,627,930
Beyond five years AFUNE - 89,779 - =
12,251,325 9,637,608 5,202,783 3,627,930
(@ Bank loans amounting to HK$181,728,000 (2007: (@) #RfT kagﬁi%m 728,000 7T (Z T+

HK$132,531,000) were secured by:

(i) certain of the Group’s properties under development with
a net book value of approximately HK$380,360,000 (2007:

HK$368,290,000) (note 19);

(ii) none of the Group’s completed properties held for sale

(2007: HK$15,919,000) (note 27); and

(iii) certain of the Group’s vehicle licenses with a net book
value of approximately HK$2,986,603 (2007: Nil) (note

16).

(b) Except for the bank loans equivalent to approximately (b)

HK$3,752,782,500 (2007:

HK$3,627,930,000)

and

HK$1,450,000,000 (2007: Nil), which are denominated
respectively in United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars, all

borrowings are in RMB.

(c) The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s (c)

borrowings approximate to their fair values, which have been

calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at the

prevailing interest rates.

FYHRBRARAT 20084 457

£ :132,531,000/87C) LA T~ & EEH#HH -

(i) zkﬁlﬁéﬁ%iféiﬁﬁseo%ooooiaﬁ
— T4 :368,290,000/87C) 2 & T
BRBPYE (HiE19)

(i) MEAREREFEZEEADE (=
T+ 4 :15,919,000% 7T) (MfaE27) :
&

(iii) ANEEBREFMEL A2,986,6038 7 (=
ST LF B|IZETAERR (M
16) °

BT A E R 43,752,782,5008 T (ZFZ £
% :3,627,930,000/% 7t ) K&1,450,000,000/7%
T(ZEZEF B ZRTERDBIUET
KRBT EN EBREREIUAREE -

ZK%&$’AETZFEZEEETEEEEA?ME
BE - THRIRAT R R EIRARRE 2R EET
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34. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade and notes payables as at the balance

35.

M. ENEFRREMFERE

REEARNFEBEFAEZRNRREEN R

sheet date, based on the payment due date, is as follows: B2ZRESTIOT
Group
&
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Within one year —FR 32,944 46,285
One to two years —FEWFRA 12,270 2,825
Two to three years MEZ=FA 2,923 2,792
Over three years =FLAE 39,301 35,063
87,438 86,965
DEFERRED TAX 35. IEEBL R
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year AEFRERBEEMNEEZEHNT
are as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities: REHIAEME
Group &=
Fair value  Accelerated
adjustment tax
Withholding  Revaluation arising from  depreciation
tax on  of investment Revaluation Revaluation  acquisition of  on investment
dividend properties of assets  of investments  subsidiaries properties Total
RUENE REMRZ
DNAEER MEBE
REENH RENKEHR BEEfR REER  AAERE nE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FEL FEL FEL FEL FAL FAL
At 1 January 2008 RZZE\E-A—-H - 322,997 12,845 1,292 34,448 81,357 452,939
Deferred tax charged AEERRER
to the income statement Mk 2 EEHR
during the year (note 10) (HizE10) 42,722 106,329 = = = 11,248 160,299
Deferred tax charged/(credited) BEPNG/ (GtARES)
to equity ZEERIE - 6,555 = = = = 6,555
Exchange differences ERZR - - - - 2,334 = 2,334
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZBBNF+=A=t-8
at 31 December 2008 CEEHERELE 2,72 435,881 12,845 1,292 36,782 92,605 622,127
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35. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 35. EERE (&)
Company AT
Withholding tax
on dividend
BERNH
HK$’000
FH T
At 1 January 2008 RZZZENF—A—H =
Deferred tax charged to the income statement REERBRERTGZ
during the year (note 10) EEF A (KFE10) 42,722
Gross deferred tax liabilities R-ZBEENF+=-HA=+—HZ
at 31 December 2008 EEHEEEHAEE 42,722
Deferred tax assets: REHIBEE :
Group NEH
Losses
available for
Timing offsetting
differences against future
on sales taxable Tax effect
recognition profits of LAT Others Total
A e 88
HEEER ARERB LHIEEH
ZRHE BAZER ZHEyE Hit &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET THT FHET
At 1 January 2008 RZZEZNF—H—H 15,152 - 49,019 1,180 65,351
Deferred tax credited/(charged) AEEHAMER
to the income statement (WeamZFHBR) 2
during the year (note 10) EIERIE (MiE10) (2,877) 10,899 65,882 18,746 92,650
Exchange differences fE 5 = 5 = = 4,170 = 4,170
Gross deferred R-ZBENE
tax assets +-ZA=t+—-HZ
at 31 December 2008 ELEHEEELTE 12,275 10,899 119,071 19,926 162,171
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35. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Group

Deferred tax liabilities:

35. IEERIIE (&)
AEE

EREBRIRAE:

Fair value Accelerated
Timing adjustment tax
differences Revaluation arising from  depreciation
onsales of investment  Revaluation Revaluation  acquisition of  on investment
recognition properties of assets of investment subsidiaries properties Total
RUEWE  RENEZ
HEERR REME RAAEERZ mEB A
ZEE Eff BEEfR REER  AAERE nE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET FEL TAT TEL TAL TR
At 1 January 2007 R-BERLE-F—A 6,359 96,202 7,707 - 207,649 48,174 366,091
Deferred tax charged/(credited) REFRERPNG,/
to the income statement (Gt A& R) ZBIEHE
during the year (note 10) (HizE10) 6,359) 226,795 = = (26,963) 33,183 226,656
Deferred tax charged to equity BRpmkBIERE - - 5,138 1,292 - - 6,430
Acquisition of subsidiaries BN B AR - - - - 14,920 - 14,920
Deferred tax liabilities included ~ #T AZERE£HK 2
in discontinued operations EXHRELRE
(note 11) (B&E11) - - - - (161,158) - (161,158)
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZBBLE+TZA=+-H
at 31 December 2007 ZEERERELE = 322,997 12,845 1,292 34,448 81,357 452,939
Deferred tax assets: R IAE E -
Timing  Losses available
differences  for offsetting
onsales  against future Revaluation Tax effect
recognition  taxable profit  of investments of LAT Others Total
o P 8
HERED RRERB THEEHR
ZBE p-ilPA i ] REEM HBRE Hite At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2007 RZZ2Z+F5-F-A 9,410 2,276 1,865 8,951 2,993 25,495
Deferred tax charged o~ AEE @B IR 2
equity during the year BRI - - (1,865) - - (1,865)
Deferred tax credited/ REE Nk /
(charged) to the income (S RHHKR) 2
statement during the year ~ EEFIE
(note 10) (Ft&E10) 5,742 (2,276) - 40,068 (1,813) 41,721
Gross deferred RZ22t%E
tax assets +ZA=t+-B2
at 31 December 2007 EEHBEELE 15,152 = = 49,019 1,180 65,351
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35.

36.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$581,021,000
(2007: HK$547,586,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$246,340,000 (2007: HK$199,211,000). Accumulated losses
amounting to HK$4,948,000, HK$19,771,000, HK$105,436,000,
HK$8,577,000 and HK$107,608,000 as at 31 December 2008 will
expire in 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 respectively. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for years and
it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Distributions of dividends from subsidiaries established in Mainland
China to Hong Kong investors are subject to a 5% withholding tax
according to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law. The requirement
is effective from 1 January 2008. At 31 December 2008, the Group
had recognised a deferred tax liability of HK$42,722,000 in respect
of the withholding taxes on future dividend distribution by these PRC
subsidiaries.

35. IEERIIE (&)

REBREA 2 BB E1E /581,021,000 T (=
T Z+1F : 547,586,000 7 ) * A B {EHK $H E &£
EBEZARZRRERBAF - NREBRPEKR
R 2 TR 75 18518 /2246,340,000/8 70 (Z BT 4
199,211,000 L) - R=ZTENF+=A=+—
H & % 54,948,000/ 19,771,000 7T
105,436,000 Jt * 8,577,000/ 7T %.107,608,000
Bz R EEBIIR=_Z2TNFE T —F
F IR —F R FER T -=FH5-
HRZEEENDREEEZF 2MBAR M
TS B 18 2k 4 AT JE &) FB DA 3K 86 FB SR B % ) - i 37 £
MZEEERREERIBEEE -

BWEPBRCEMSHE TENBARIRE T
INEEE IR B BEMS% s EHH - ZEEE =
EENF—A—HBEBR - R=ZZEZENF+=A
=t+—A - AEBERZEPREKE QR HARR
B9k BT84 2 TN R #E 7R 42,722,000 I 2 ik
ERIEEE-

SHARE CAPITAL 36. RA
Shares B 14 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT F& T
Authorised: JERE ¢
5,000,000,000 (2007: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,000/% & & EI1E0.05/5 T
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 (ZZZEF:0.0587m) 2 EMAR
(2007: HK$0.05) each (ZZZ £ :5,000,000,0004% ) 250,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRAR
3,213,295,090 (2007: 3,228,332,090) 3,213,295,0900% & A& I {H0.05/8 7T
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 —ZETLF:0.058TL) 2 EBR
(2007: HK$0.05) each (ZZTZTt4:3,228,332,0908%) 160,665 161,417
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36. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

During the year, the movements in share capital were as follows:

36. RA& (&)
FER - RAEEFHINT

(a) A total of 34,860,000 shares of HK$0.05 each were repurchased
and cancelled by the Company at prices ranging from HK$3.41

to HK$4.00 per share. The aggregate cash consideration

and expenses paid by the Company for such repurchases,
HK$130,322,000, were charged to the retained profits, as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity to

the financial statements.

(b) The subscription rights attaching to 19,823,000 share options

were exercised at subscription prices ranging from HK$1.088
to HK$1.33 per share, resulting in the issue of 19,823,000
shares of HK$0.05 each for a total cash consideration, before
expenses, of HK$25,179,758.

A summary of the transactions during the year with reference to

(a)

KR BHZ T IR3.4158 T E 5 8%4.008 T &
Z BIEER kT HEEREE.058 T2 kD
5 3£34,860,000/% - R AR A AEE N2
R&BARERFER130,322,000/%8 7T a0 81 75 3
RIGEREBHRABENRE &N R -

19,823,00017 FE AR #EFR Bt R B R A2 &
1.088B L EFRI1.33BILAFZEHE mé 2
At - 31719,823,0000 &R E{EO0.05/8 L2
R ARINBRHAEZ 2 RR S WA AE25,179,758
B TT

2EPRARREHETRAEH 2FARZ B

the above movements in the Company’s issued share capital is as R
follows:
Number Issued Share
of shares share premium
in issue capital account Total
B8
ROHE ERTRAE B4 E iR @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2007 R-ZZZTLF—HA—H 2,821,449,966 141,073 2,396,850 2,537,923
Dividends in the form of AR (5 A 77 B iR
new shares ZRE 72,318,124 3,616 354,069 357,685
Issue of shares BITRM 200,000,000 10,000 1,302,001 1,312,001
Share options exercised TR R 134,564,000 6,728 222,708 229,436
Share issue expenses R B TR - - (27,955) (27,955)
At 31 December 2007 and R-ZEE+F+-_A=+—H
1 January 2008 ER=ZZZNF—H—H 3,228,332,090 161,417 4,247,673 4,409,090
Share redemption (a) fE B R 15 () (34,860,000) (1,743) = (1,743)
Share options exercised (b) 1718 BB A (b) 19,823,000 991 31,028 32,019
Share issue expenses D EITHR - - (24) (24)
At 31 December 2008 R=ZZBNF+=ZA=+—-H  3,213,295,090 160,665 4,278,677 4,439,342
Share options i AR e

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options

issued under the scheme are included in note 37 to the financial

statements.

ZAYN

RIS R B MR BRI BI R BT 2 BB A

ISR M B MKRM 37
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37.SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include any employee or director
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
director) of any member of the Group, or any employee, partner
or director of any business consultant, joint venture, financial
adviser and legal adviser of any member of the Group, as absolutely
determined by the board of directors. The Scheme became effective
on 5 June 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from that date, after
which period no further options will be issued but in all other
respects the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect. The remaining life of the Scheme as at 31 December 2008
was three and a half years.

The maximum number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of approval
of the Scheme unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from
its shareholders. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating such
10% limit. Notwithstanding the above, the maximum number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30% of the
shares in issue from time to time. The 10% limit was refreshed by an
ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting held on 2 June 2008, which enabled the grant of further
options to subscribe for up to 250,271,396 shares, representing 10%
of the shares in issue as at 2 June 2008. As at 31 December 2008,
the total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme
was 233,414,396 (including options for 58,580,000 shares (after
refreshment) and options for 27,343,000 shares (before refreshment)
that have been granted but not yet lapsed or exercised) which
represented 7.26% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme that
is the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue.

FYERERAT 20085 F i
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 37. R ERTE (&)
The period under which an option may be exercised will be BRECATERRBEESERATE HTHE
determined by the board of directors at their absolute discretion and ERMSERA A BITEBREREZE
notified by the directors to each grantee as being the period during REERER I R EERE BEMIOCEFE B Al
which an option may be exercised, and shall expire no later than [ERW -BRIFEFGRERERLEREFNERT
the 10th anniversary of the date upon which the option is granted B3R BRIETEEREM ARV AERSE
and accepted in accordance with the Scheme. Unless otherwise 5 AR 1 ) AR (K EAR ©

determined by the board and specified in the offer letter at the time
of offer, there is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before the option can be exercised.

An option is open for acceptance for a period of 28 days from the BREAREREEERN T NARAEIRE
date of offer. The amount payable on acceptance of an option is BEAERER AN RIENE T - RERMND 2176
HK$1. The full amount of exercise price for the subscription for BRENTEBRER 28 -

shares has to be paid upon the exercise of an option.

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the board of THEERESFSETAMBERE TREAED
directors and notified to a participant and shall be at least the RUTzEREE: (NREER (BAREXR)
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in The Stock EEBBMARGHERANBGERBEREH 2K
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s daily quotation sheet on the date PR (DR EERELEBRSEEXRESDE
of offer of grant, which must be a business day, (i) a price being BaXSMARRXREHBERMAEZRMH KT
the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in The Stock BFHE: RN REIRN 2 EHE-

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant,
and (iii) the nominal value of a share in the Company.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme AT R AR R % AT 81 i AR 1T 68 2 B AR -
during the year:

2008 2007

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options

HK$ HK$

per share per share

BRME iz i
FHITREE BREHA FHITHE EiREHE

B T
At 1 January n—AH—H 3.2179 122,216,000 1.3144 180,000,000
Granted during the year RERF L 3.6700 24,000,000 4.4562 78,780,000
Exercised during the year RERTTRE 1.2702  (19,823,000) 1.4257  (134,564,000)
Lapsed during the year RERKHK 3.4406  (40,470,000) 1.2650 (2,000,000)
At 31 December W+ZA=+—8 3.6924 85,923,000 3.2179 122,216,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share RERTTEE 2 BRERITE B E 2 NEFHERER

options exercised during the year was HK$2.701 per share (2007: BR2.701BT (ZTTLF: BR5.34387T) °

HK$5.343 per share).
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 37. R ERTE (&)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options REE B RARITE 2 BRE 2 T E RITE M
outstanding as at the balance sheet date are as follows: W
2008 2008
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
RS A FTIE(E~ 1762 #A
HK$ per share
BB
5,163,000 1.0880 18-5-2005 to 17-5-2010
—EZRRFERA+NBE=ZE-ZFHEA+LH
18,780,000 1.3300 9-3-2006 to 8-3-2011
ZEERAEFZANBEZ=ZE——5=ZANH
3,400,000 2.1650 29-5-2006 to 28-5-2011
CERAREREA-TABE=Z2E——FHA=+NH
19,393,333 4.7680 4-7-2007 to 3-7-2012
ZERtLFLtANEE=ZE—Z=-5tHA=H
19,593,333 4.7680 4-7-2008 to 3-7-2012
ZEENFLtANBEE=Z—Z=5tHA=H
19,593,334 4.7680 4-7-2009 to 3-7-2012

—EFENFLtANBE=-2-——-5tA=H

85,923,000
2007 2007
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
RS A TR E* 17 HA
HKS$ per share
BB

10,989,000 1.0880 18-5-2005 to 17-5-2010
—ETRFERA+NBE=ZZE—ZTFRA+tAH
35,907,000 1.3300 9-3-2006 to 8-3-2011
—ETERE=-ANBE=ZZE——F=ANH
3,400,000 2.1650 29-5-2006 to 28-5-2011
—EERNFRAZTABE=ZE——FRA=-+/\H
13,340,000 3.5400 9-3-2007 to 8-3-2012
—EEHF=RAABE-ZE——-F=RA/\H
19,393,333 4.7680 4-7-2007 to 3-7-2012
—EE+F+ANBEZZE——_F+tA=H
19,593,333 4.7680 4-7-2008 to 3-7-2012
—EENEFLANBE=T—=—F+tA=H
19,593,334 4.7680 4-7-2009 to 3-7-2012
—EENFANBE-Z——FtHA=H

122,216,000

*  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * BRETEEARBHRSAKRETRARRRA
rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share Z H MRS B (E SR -

capital.

158 FYHRBRARAT 20084 457



Notes to Financial Statements
B 7 ¥R 3R Ff &

31 December 2008

—TENF+=_A=+—H

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

During the year from 1 January 2008 and up to the date of this
report, (i) the Company has granted options to subscribe for
24,000,000 the shares; (ii) the options to subscribe for 19,823,000
shares have been exercised; and (iii) options to subscribe for
40,470,000 shares have lapsed. As at the date of this report,
options carrying rights to subscribe for 85,253,000 shares remain
outstanding and yet to be exercised.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was
HK$20,714,551 (HK$0.8631 each) (2007: HK$55,769,374,
HK$0.7079 each). The Group recognised a share option expense of
HK$39,544,015 (2007: HK$32,021,188) during the year ended 31
December 2008.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
was estimated as at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

11 April 2008+
“EENEMAt-A*

37. BIRESTE (&)

RZTZEN\F—A—HBEAREREAHILFE -
()RR &) E % H 7] 52 8824,000,000% f% 15 2 & I&
T ¢ (i) P 32 8%19,823,0000% i 15 7 BERR BE B 1T
18 R (iii) Al 52 B840,470,000 0% B 1) < AR AE B 5k
o AR % B H - A58 A885,253,000/% AR 19
Z BRI AREITHE -

FRMEREREZ A REA20,714,5518 7T (FK
0.8631%8 L) (ZZTZTE£5:55769,37487w &
1%0.7079% ) - AEEREBEZE_ZTTN\F+=-A
=t+t—HIEFED®REREREZ39,544,015%
T (ZFZTHF 132,021,188 7T) °

FAMBHABRAXI N ZBEEAAE RED
B8N A MET IR R EEEBER
R Z R R Mk o PRIV R 2 E IR

2 June 2008**
“EENFRAZA#

Dividend yield (%) e S0 2 (%) 7.53
Expected volatility (%) T8 41 1B (%) 59.53
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 BB 1) R (%) 0.644
Expected life of options (year) RHBEREFS () 1
Exercise price (HK$ per share) 7B (8kET) 3.85
Stock price on date of grant Kt BBz RE (BRET) 3.85

7.53 7.53 8.29 8.29 8.29
59.60 50.31 60.26 56.13 51.26
1.404 1.708 1.644 2171 2.521

2 3 1 2 3

3.85 3.85 3.49 3.49 3.49

3.85 3.85 3.49 3.49 3.49

(HKS per share)

**  Options will be exercisable in the following manner:

* BBRERIR T AT
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37.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Maximum proportion of option
exercisable including proportion
of options previously exercised
AT RS LB
(BERACSTRBRELS)

37. BIRESTE (&)

Exercise period

AT

For the batch granted on 11 April 2008
HR-_ZZN\FOA+-—BRHZHD

1/3

2/3

3/3

For the batch granted on 2 June 2008
HR-ZZEZENFARAZHERE 2D
1/3

2/3

3/3

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over
the past year and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that

1st year from the date of grant of option

BERHBRES RS —F

2nd year from the date of grant of option
BERUBRESBRAE _F

3rd year from the date of grant of option

BRUBRESBRAE=F

1st year from the date of grant of option

BERHBRES RS —F

2nd year from the date of grant of option
BERUBRESBRAE _F

3rd year from the date of grant of option

BRUBRESBRAE=F

BREERARBRBE —FREAE  HERBA
ERITERN ZER - ?Eﬁﬂ/&mm}iﬂ%ﬂﬁ}&éﬁﬁi
KEREABRERNBR EERVEERER -

the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also

not necessarily be the actual outcome.

At the balance sheet date, the Company had 85,923,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 85,923,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
HK$4,296,150 and share premium of HK$312,969,034 (before issue

expenses).

38. RESERVES
(@) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 63 to 64 of the

financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group's
subsidiaries and associates in Mainland China has been

WEHERB REZTE - AR A A85,923,000
MERESARTE-ZBRRAKEZAQFRKRAE
R BEATE M ARITE 2 BB AR AE S BUE 31T
% 49185,923,000/ AN A A 2 & AR - 15 h0 AR AR
4,296,150 70 R AR 1735 E312,969,034 7T (R
BREEITRE) o

38. &
(@ 5H
AEBAFERBAFEZHBECERHE

PN BEMRFIEEFABRAERY
PBRAZY -

RBPING B REZERDED RRD] AKE
PP B K BE 2 B /B8 & B e Bt 8 2 ) 2 3B 99 ek
NEHBEEERE LREEMAE-

transferred to the statutory reserve which is restricted as to use.
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38. RESERVES (Continued) 38. & (&)
(b) Company (b) AT
Share Capital
premium  redemption Share option Retained
account reserve reserve profits Total
RAEE IR
R 475 E iR e R REEF BE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
P = T THET THT THT FET
At 1 January RZTELF
2007 —A—H 2,396,850 293 51,544 610,606 3,059,293
Dividend in the form of PAET R 10 75 =03 B
new shares ZBE 36 354,069 - - - 354,069
Issue of shares BITRH 36 1,302,001 - - - 1,302,001
Share issue expenses R B ATR X 36 (27,955) - - = (27,955)
Share options exercised kAL 36 222,708 - (37,913) = 184,795
Share options forfeited B8 Uz B Rk 4 36 = = (340) 340 -
Profit for the year RERHF - - - 364,334 364,334
Interim 2007 —TTLF
dividend RS 13 - - - (238,537) (238,537)
Adjustment to prior year's — EFEREREZ
final dividend HE 13 - - - (28,360) (28,360)
Proposed 2007 BR-ZTLF
dividend RE 13 = = = (677,950) (677,950)
Equity-settled share option ~ MABRAZF2
expense R X 37 = = 32,021 = 32,021
At 31 December RZTELHF
2007 +ZA=+—8H 4,247,673 293 45,312 30,433 4,323,711
Share issue expenses B B1TH X 36 (24) = = = (24)
Share options exercised e 36 31,028 = (6,839) = 24,189
Share options lapsed BRMz Bk - - (34,075) 34,075 =
Capital redemption B ER - 1,743 - (130,322) (128,579)
Profit for the year RER M - - - 598,213 598,213
Interim 2008 —ET)N\EF
dividend F AR B 13 = - - (96,399) (96,399)
Adjustment to prior year's  FFEEREKREZ
final dividend BE 13 = = = 3,297 3,297
Proposed 2008 BE=ZZT)N\F
dividend RERE 13 = - - (257,064) (257,064)
Equity-settled share option ~ MBRAZ (T2
expense RS 37 - - 39,544 - 39,544
At 31 December R-ZZENE
2008 +=A=+-8 4,278,677 2,036 43,942 182,233 4,506,888
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38. RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Company (Continued)

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment
transactions in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount
will be transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained
profits when the related options lapsed.

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

38. & (&)
(b) AT (&)
B8 A RE G 45 B B 48 B 1 R 1T 8 2 B R A
ARME B — SRS RE N 2,450
BOZNRSZEHBE -ZZoREREH
BRERTESEEERMEBEINEH
B R S RS S IR AR A

39. HEMEB QT

2008 2007
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt =E FTHET FHET
Net assets disposed of: HEFERE
Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BB R RE 3,363,411 =
Goodwill o 99,926 -
Available-for-sale investments AHEHERE 620 -
Inventories e 3 -
Trade receivables & W BR 3R 2,699 =
Prepayments, deposits and BNHIE R Rk
other receivables H b i W3R IE 20,893 =
Properties under development BERBPYE 19 - 550,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBSEEY 34,070 =
Interest-bearing bank loans STRIRITEX (1,821,515) =
Trade and notes payables R BRA KR BN ZE (17,224) -
Accruals and other payables FEEHE B & E 4 EA 08 (202,881) =
Tax payable FEAS B8 (82) -
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEFE (161,158) -
Minority interests DERER R (630,042) =
688,720 550,000
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE B A F 2 s 52,724 287,050
741,444 837,050
Satisfied by: SRAR
Cash B 741,444 837,050
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries are HEMBARZ
analysed as: WEs DT A -
Attributable to discontinued operations R EEB RN 11 50,628 =
Attributable to continued operations NG EnE
reported in the consolidated income EWMHE
statement X IEAG 5 2,096 287,050
52,724 287,050
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

40.

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

39. HEMB AR (&

HEWMBARZRERREFEMRNFEZS

of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: MranT e
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$000
FERT FET
Cash consideration BeE 741,444 837,050
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HEZRERREEEBY (34,070) =
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents REEMBRAAIZRE R
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries ReEBYRANFER 707,374 837,050
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 40. BEMW R B
(i) As lessor (i) FAREHEE

The Group leases its investment properties (note 20 to the
financial statements) under operating lease arrangements, with
leases negotiated for terms ranging from two to eighteen years.
The terms of the leases generally also require the tenants to
pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions.

At 31 December 2008, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with
its tenants falling due as follows:

RELEENZH AKERKETREME
(MK E20) - HHEBESMERZ TN
FAF - MOGRTT —RERKBL LM RE
ERAERTERMISREMEREHEHE

R-TENF+ZA=+—R AKERLT
HMEER 2 TARHEEANERRZ &
RSN RENT

Group

AEE
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT F&T
Within one year —FR 276,367 251,604
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEERFT (BREEEMTE) 518,672 440,943
After five years HBaAF 299,514 293,281
1,094,553 985,828
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40. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (Continued) 40. EEENRH (E)
(i) As lessee (i) EAHEF
The Group leases certain of its properties under operating lease REERBEEHETHFHEAETYE W
arrangements. Leases for the properties are negotiated for terms HHRBRER=FETNEIF-

ranging from three to nineteen years.

At 31 December 2008, the Group and the Company had RZBENF+ZA=+—H xEERER
total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable AR AT BRI fE i 2 S AT BRUB 48 & AV FE R
operating leases falling due as follows: Tz Eb BN AEATENT
Group Company
REE N
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FHET FTERT FET
Within one year —F RN 7,340 3,407 1,825 614
In the second to fifth years, SE=FEZFRHF
inclusive (BREEERWT) 14,135 5,655 6,085 =
21,475 9,062 7,910 614
41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 41, EREE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note B £ EE40(FF I 2 EE B A AR REE
40(ii) above, the Group and the Company had the following B AEBRARDAZEENT:

commitments at the balance sheet date:

Group Company
rEE NN
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
FET FHET FTHERT FHET
Commitments in respect of B £ R g T
acquisition of land and AR BERPYE
buildings, and development R Z S
costs attributable to
properties under development
Contracted, but not provided for: B & #J 1 & 7 5 5 - 2,106,919 2,106,952 - =
Authorised, but not contracted & % #& M & &
for: HEOE 320,837 = - =
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42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the balance sheet date, contingent liabilities not provided for in

the financial statements were as follows:

42. RAREE
REEE BBRETERE Y SREENT:

Group Company
EEE AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FH T FHET FHET
(i) Guarantees given to banks (i) AEEREEM
for credit facilities ER 2R
granted to subsidiaries NG - — 931,356 924,210

(i)

At 31 December 2008, the Group has given guarantees to a
maximum extent of approximately HK$1,275,481,000 (2007:
HK$1,040,309,000) to banks for housing loans extended by the
banks to the purchasers of the Group’s properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default
of the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group
is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to banks. The Group is then entitled to
take over the legal title of the related properties. The Group's
guarantee period commences from the date of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends after the buyer obtained the
individual property ownership certificate or up to a maximum of
two years after the full repayment of the mortgaged loans by the
purchasers of the Group’s properties.

The directors consider that in case of default in payments, the
net realisable value of the related properties can cover the
repayment of the outstanding mortgage loans together with any
accrued interest and penalty and therefore no provision has
been made in connection with the guarantees.

(i)

RZZEZN\FE+_A=+—RH KEBEHET
BTAEEWMEERZERERMRITIRME
TR #91,275,481,0008 L (Z T+ 4
1,040,309,0007# 7T ) B HE(R ©

RBERGT  MRZFERERIZBIA A
SEEEEERERNWREEFARIERK
Bz ERENRITHOEMRBFNE LI K-
AEEBERAUZEBEBYMENGEMARE-
AEENERBAREEBRBERE BH
REEERREENDEMEEIEANAE
ENEBERNEERBERERKEMER
ko

EERR MERFOA ARMENA 7%
{8 R PA ST i AR E B IR IB B A R AE ] R &f
A8 R F R B B % S PR AR A
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42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)
(iii) Pending litigation

A statement of claim dated 27 August 2002 was issued by
Fancheng Property Development Co., Limited (the “Plaintiff”)
as the plaintiff against Shum Yip Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
(“Shum Yip Shenzhen”, renamed as Shum Yip Southern Land
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. in the year of 2007), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company as the first defendant and Yaoheng
Development Co., Ltd. as the second defendant in a civil claim
at the court in Mainland China.

The Plaintiff claimed against Shum Yip Shenzhen for, inter alia,
damages suffered by the Plaintiff as a result of the breach by
Shum Yip Shenzhen of the terms of a cooperation agreement
entered into between the Plaintiff and Shum Yip Shenzhen dated
8 July 1991, which include (i) Shum Yip Shenzhen’s deliberate
register of the properties named Shenfa Garden under the name
of Shum Yip Shenzhen and its refusal to give the properties to
the Plaintiff and (ii) Shum Yip Shenzhen’s appropriation of the
Plaintiff's sales proceeds to compensate the individual owners
and the construction party of Shenfa Garden while keeping the
income in relation to certain car parks and the kindergarten
situated within the area of Shenfa Garden. The Plaintiff claimed
a total compensation of approximately RMB170 million against
Shum Yip Shenzhen. Shum Yip Shenzhen lodged a defence and
a counter-claim for compensation of RMB1.3 million against the
Plaintiff on 22 October 2002. This case was heard in court on
26 March 2003 and 5 November 2004, the arbitration process
is complicated and time-consuming.

On 4 January 2008, the Plaintiff and Shum Yip Shenzhen
entered into an Amicable Settlement Agreement, pursuant
to which the Plaintiff agreed to partially waive the claim
mentioned above.

However, the remaining claim of RMB40,000,000 (approximately
HK$45,432,000) was still subject to final judgement of the
court.

As advised by Hong Kong lawyers, pursuant to a deed
(the “Deed”) entered into on 12 February 1997 by Shum
Yip Holdings Company Limited (“Shum Yip Holdings”) as
covenantor in favour of the Company as covenantee in
connection with the listing of the Company, the Company could
be able to claim indemnity from Shum Yip Holdings if the
Plaintiff and/or the applicant is successful in its claim against
Shum Yip Shenzhen on the grounds that Shum Yip Shenzhen
had materially breached the cooperation agreement, and the
circumstances which gave rise to the above litigation were
already in existence at the time of execution of the Deed.
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42. RREBE(E)
(i) BRZEEFR

ERBEXEERN - RRERET  BELK
MEZRARR TUE¢DF_77_¢A
AZt+tHARARBz2ERBR %E
B ORI BR AR (DRERI F
tESERREMAHME (EE)BRA T)
(F—HRE) LREXERARAF (F-HKE)
RHERE-

EHREFINRERE ZREE (ETe
T®E$%IW%WWL&§Eﬁ—nﬂ—¢
tHAEﬂiZAﬁm% mMEXZE
XK ZEFERPE: W%%WW%%—E%
ﬁm%ma2%¥§£AE%T’ﬁE%mﬁ
EXHZME RNVFERIBRAREHE
MEFS A AAFERR ZEERFE
TEEZ ZERE  WREB RN FEIEERANET
Fﬁ%&@ﬁEEWZWA;Eimﬁiﬁ
NEREE £ AREE170,000,0007T ° R E %
R =B =—F+A+_ARKREEH
BRHFR HRERREARKIIEET
WERR-_EE=F=ZA -+ "BEK=-_ZZTNQ
F+—ARBARM - MEBRERMIEHABR -

RoBE\F-ARA - FERRHRIER
RRIE - 1 RS FERS XL 85
GELE

R EHRREBEARE40,000,0007T (49
B 45,432,000 70 ) I ERIE LR 2 48
FHORHAT -

EEERMEH#H R REREX (REDA
AE(REEE]) (ERZHABAIR
—NWNtFZA+ZBRALA (FREH
H@mA)zFmmal Lz 2 (([%R2E]
TREARB EMmaE T2 8em)  HWERS
AB/HRBANERERIN 2 BRR G BEF
ARAAIB U RRFERERARABE  BERR
%%WFEi&Aﬁﬁé’ﬁ%ﬁtﬁﬁmz
ERRBAZRBEHFCFE-
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

The Group had the following material transactions with the

43. BB AR5
@ FEN AEBRATHEEFETUTEAR

following related parties during the year: LR
Group
rEH
2008 2007
Notes HK$’000 HK$"000
k=3 FTHET THET
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited, E#ZR 2R A%
the intermediate holding company: (RE)BRRAA:
Rental expenses paid ENHEERX (i) 4,998 2,237
Sales of properties HEM%E - 43,916
Purchase of a piece of land Wi — 58 T 3 - 43,916
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBRR (i) 49,261 =
REEEBR AR, the ultimate BREERARIAESEE
holding company BRAE]
Disposal of a subsidiary 1 s — B A A (iii) 692,069 =
Shenzhen Gaofa Investment Holding 7RI = 8% B 12 A%
Co., Ltd, an associate of the Group BRAGAEEEE QT
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B 188 A A - 10,521
Notes: B o

(i)  The rentals were determined by the directors with reference to the

market prices of similar transactions.

(i)  On 18 December 2007, Shum Yip Taifu Logistics Group Holdings
Co. Ltd. (REZEMREBBRMB AR A F) (“Shum Yip Taifu”),
an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
the sole shareholder of Shum Yip Transportation entered into a
sale and purchase agreement (the “Shum Yip Transportation S&P
Agreement”) with Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited (“Shum
Yip Holdings”) to dispose the entire issued share capital of Shum
Yip Transportation to Shum Yip Holdings for a consideration of
RMB43,371,116 (equivalent to approximately HK$49,260,913)
based on the valuation of the total assets and liabilities performed
by an independent valuer. The transaction was completed in current
year whereby the Group ceased to hold any interest in Shum Yip
Transportation. Shum Yip Holdings is a connected person of the
Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules by virtue of being
a controlling shareholder of the Company. The entering into of the

Shum Yip Transportation S&P Agreement constituted a connected

transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules.

(iii) On 5 March 2008, ZREZK ORIY) AR A F] (Shum Yip Investment
(Shenzhen) Limited) (“Shum Yip Investment”) being a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (“Huayin Traffic S&P Agreement”) with &Y @GR A A
(the “Purchaser”) for the disposal of 51% equity interest in J#1Ex
FEIRZBHZEAM QA (Hubei Shumyip Huayin Traffic Development
Company Limited) (“Huayin Traffic”) for a consideration of
RMB609,430,600 (equivalent to approximately HK$692,069,389)
based on the valuation of the total assets and liabilities performed
by an independent valuer. The transaction was completed in current

year whereby Huayin Traffic ceased to be an indirect non wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

HEKLEFELEZMPRH 2 TERERE

R-ZETLF+A+N\B AEBEZEEFE
EEWNBARIRFXEH 2 —RRRAERS
MEEROERAR ([RERT])BERE
(EBE)BARRR (DRE (KB DFTZ—HE
B AmARE (KB BEREER2E
BEITRA RKEAARK43,371,1167T (4
HE 149,260,913 L) - BERE I IRIES
IHEMUBEERBBEETZEEETE %
RHGERAFERNTK  MAKERIETHRE
BAREERTMEZ EXNRE (£E) AR
Al Z P RRRR IR MR AR B AR QB2
BEAT-RELTRA ZEERESHHEZ
RINERAAR —HEERS -

REZZZENF=FAB XRFEZ22ENBR
ARZEZERRYNBR AR (DRZEZER]) B8R
NEBERAB (BRI EEHE ([E
BRBEEWE]) LAAKRY609,430,6007T
(4918%10692,069,38975 70) 2 R EH &5t
FEERBABARAR ([ERRE])51%
i BRAREDREBGEMUBEER
EEEBETZHEBTE ZRIERAEEARNT
B MERRBAETHAARARIZHEEESR
B EAR -
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

Shum Yip Investment is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
Approximately 47.42% of the equity interest in the Company is
held by Shum Yip Holdings, which is beneficially held by and under
the indirect supervision of the Shenzhen SASAC. The Purchaser
is beneficially held by and under the supervision of Shenzhen
SASAC. As all the directors of the Purchaser are appointed by Shum
Yip Holdings, the controlling shareholder of the Company, the
Purchaser is regarded by the Stock Exchange as a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the entering
into of the Huayin Traffic S&P Agreement constituted a connected
transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules. This connected
transaction was announced by the Company on 26 March 2008 and

a circular was issued by the Company on 18 April 2008.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i)

(if)

(iii

Details of the Group’s loans to its associates as at the
balance sheet date are included in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Details of the Group’s loan to an officer as at the
balance sheet date is included in note 30 to the financial
statements. As such an officer had been a director of the
Company within 12 months preceding the date of granting
of the loan, such an officer is regarded by the Stock
Exchange as a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the granting of the loan by
the Company to such an officer constituted a connected
transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules. This
connected transaction was announced by the Company on
15 December 2008.

As disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet, the Group
had payable amounting to HK$110,837,583 to & *¥ %

43. MO % (&)
Fif e« (42)

REBRBRRARRZ2EMBAT - ARRH
47.42%2 IRETIRARE (RE)IFA  MRE
(RE)ABARYTRERERER  TXER
EEE BN VARITREZESHEALR
HEE HRETZEREFHAAARZE
IRARRRZ (R E) RE BBRELTRA B
TR ARIERA DB ZBEAL - Fit
RIEBLETHRA FRBEE WAL LEK
ARB-—HEAER S ARRER_ZENF

A=t ANABZEBERSERAM TR=
T )\EmA+/\B 5B
HEFE 2 R EELE
(i) HEAASBEMNBERARERFE
é&ﬁéﬂﬁﬁ%#&%&ﬁfafzzc
(il REERAEBEN —Z2afBEER

(iii)

HEHR TS BRERMEI0 - ARZ =&
BERREEXRBSt+_BEAR—&
BARRES  BRE ETRA Zek
BB W R FTAAEARA R R ZBEEAL-
Eit BIE ETRA ARABRTFEZ=K
BEERERANR —BHEERS AR
TEF_2$J\¢+:H+£E¥¢¢tE§
o (SN

BNEEEERBERMRE AEEE
NEREERARDREEEBRQE 2K

E4HPR2A A, the ultimate holding company. The payable TH3%110,837,583 /8 T« B RIE R &K
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of B WEETEREE-
repayment.
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: () AEETEEBAEZBE :
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Short term employee benefits EEE SR 10,753 9,917
Post-employment benefits RRAEF 679 818
Equity-settled share option expense VA RR R 32 A-F 27 B s ) 2 27,909 9,662
Total compensation paid FEEEAE
to key management personnel < 4258 39,341 20,397

Further details of directors’” emoluments are included in note 8

to the financial statements.
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 44. ZEEREFIZEMIA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REER RERARMN 2SI A ZREAMEN
instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows: ™
2008 —EBEN\F
Group
rEH
Financial
assets
at fair value
through Available-
profit or Held-to- for-sale
loss-held maturity Loans and financial
Financial assets EREE for trading  investments  receivables assets Total
BARE
FEZ
CHEE BEZE ERR AftHEZ
-RKEEE FHMRE FE T R K SREE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT TER FTERT FTHERT TERT
Loans to associates BTHERRZER
(note 22) (BIzE22) - - 278,091 - 278,091
Held-to-maturity investments BFEZIHERE
(note 23) (Fff&£23) - 382,054 - - 382,054
Available-for-sale investments AJHEERE - - - 17,713 17,713
Trade receivables FEWER K - - 705,131 - 705,131
Financial assets included in FTATBRRIE
prepayments, deposits and R REMEYFIR
other receivables ZEBMEE - - 352,276 - 352,276
Financial assets at fair value BERBRRANEFE
through profit or loss ZEMEE 17,308 - - - 17,308
Cash and cash equivalents RBekBEE&EED - - 4,570,861 - 4,570,861
17,308 382,054 5,906,359 17,713 6,323,434
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 44, BEBEERB 2EB T H (£)

(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REER RERARMN 2SI A ZREAMEN
instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows (Continued): T(#&):
Group
rEH
Financial
liabilities
at fair value Financial
through profit liabilities

or loss-held at amortised
Financial liabilities cRAE for Trading cost Total
ZEiBEn
BRARE
FTEZ LU 8% B AR
SRasE TEN
—-BHEERE SREE Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FEx FHEx
Trade and notes payables JE - BR AR e B 5 SR R - 87,438 87,438
Financial liabilities included FT N EL MBS &
in other payables and accruals BitBRzemAaE - 1,424,715 1,424,715
Derivative financial instruments MESMTA 215,656 - 215,656
Interest-bearing bank and loans FTERITRER - 12,251,325 12,251,325
215,656 13,763,478 13,979,134
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 44. ZEERFIZEMIA (&)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REER RERARMN 2SI A ZREAMEN
instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows (Continued): T(#&):
2007 —BBLE
Group
rEE
Financial
assets
at fair value
through Available-
profit or Held-to- for-sale
loss-held maturity Loans and financial
Financial assets TREE for trading  investments  receivables assets Total
FEiRBEE
BANE
tE2
SREE BEZE Bxk AftHEZ
—FEEE BRI & i B 3K TREE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET THET FHET FHET FHET
Loans to associates BTHE AR ZER
(note 22) (BftEE22) = = 89,346 = 89,346
Held-to-maturity investments BFEZIHERE
(note 23) (PftEE23) - 382,244 = = 382,244
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE = = = 28,987 28,987
Trade receivables JFEWBR 3R - - 305,941 - 305,941
Financial assets included FTATEARE
in prepayments, deposits and R& K HE bW IE
other receivables ZEREE = = 403,589 = 403,589
Financial assets at fair value BRERKRANENE
through profit or loss JEMEE 602,990 = = = 602,990
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY = = 4,689,828 = 4,689,828
602,990 382,244 5,488,704 28,987 6,502,925
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

4. REESN 2SR I A (&)

172

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REER RERARMN 2SI A ZREAMEN
instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows (Continued): T(#&):
Group
NEE
Financial
liabilities
at fair value Financial
through profit liabilities

or loss-held at amortised
Financial liabilities cRaR for Trading cost Total
FEiRER
E/N =]
EZ LA §8 5 AR
Gl =N FHER
—FEEE Eal=N @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Trade and notes payables JE A BR BN K B S = 4R = 86,965 86,965
Financial liabilities included FT N EL MBS &
in other payables and accruals EErERZERAEE = 962,327 962,327
Derivative financial instruments TESMITA 6,275 — 6,275
Interest-bearing bank and FTRIBITR
other borrowings HiEE = 9,637,608 9,637,608
6,275 10,686,900 10,693,175
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

44 BEEZR 2T A (

7z )

m=<

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REER RERARMN 2SI A ZREAMEN
instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows (Continued): T (&) :
Company
AR
2008 2007
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through Available- through Available-
profit or Held-to- for-sale profit or Held-to- for-sale
loss-held maturity  Loans and financial loss-held maturity  Loans and financial
Financial assets SREE for trading investments  receivables assets Total  fortrading investments  receivables assets Total
BRER BRER
BRARE BRARE
HEZ it GtEZ Bk
tREE BRE EXR HEZ PRHEE BEE BAR HEZ
-KFEE  HERE  EKHE  SREE At -HEEE  HERE  EKRE  SREE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR FAL FET Ti#n T FAL
Interests in subsidiaries BRI ER
(note 21) £21) - - 1,212,846 - 1,212,846 - - 1,207,705 ~ 1,007,705
Interests in associates
(note 22) (Mt3E22) - - - - - - - 8,790 - 8,790
Held-to-maturity FEEIMRE
investments (note 23) (W323) - 382,054 - - 382,054 - 382,044 - - 382244
Available-for-sale e
investments RE - - - 1,720 1,720 - - - 1,720 1,720
Financial assets at fair value EBBHEEAL B E
through profit or loss LEBEE 16,761 - - - 16,761 91,485 = = = 91,485
Financial assets included ~ 3F AFEFUE-
in prepayments, deposits & REf B FHE
and other receivables NeREE - - 21,360 - 21,360 = = 4,801 = 4,801
Cash and cash equivalents %€ R EZEY - - 689,000 - 689,000 = = 487,612 = 487,612
16,761 382,054 1,923,206 1,720 2,323,741 91,485 382,244 1,708,908 1,720 2,184,357
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows (Continued):

4. REESN 2SR I A (&)

REHR REERZI eI AZERED
;S :

Company
N
2008 2007
Financial Financial
liabilities liabilities
at fair value at fair value
through profit Financial through profit Financial
or loss-held liabilities at or loss-held liabilities at
Financial liabilities TRak for trading ~ amortised cost Total for trading  amortised cost Total
BRARE BRARE
AEZ B HERA fHEZ B Ak AR
SREE HER tREE SHER)
-BHEEER tHEE Bt —BEEE tHEE CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET THET FET T FEL
Financial liabilities SAE A ER
included in other REREGBRN
payables and accruals SRAR - 29,470 29,470 - 19,221 19,221
Derivative financial TESE
instruments TE 215,656 - 215,656 6,275 - 6,275
Interest-bearing bank loans & 8 R 1TEH - 5,202,783 5,202,783 = 3,627,930 3,627,930
215,656 5,232,253 5,447,909 6,275 3,647,151 3,653,426

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than derivative
financial instruments, comprise interest-bearing bank loans, cash
and cash equivalents, equity investments and an investment in senior
notes. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including the
Leveraged Knock-out Discount Share Accumulation Investment
Scheme. The purpose is to manage the equity price risks arising from
individual equity investments classified as trading equity investments
and available-for-sale investments as at 31 December 2008.
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 45. B EEREE 2BEMRBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk of the Group is mainly due to the interest
rate fluctuations of its bank borrowings. Interest on these bank
borrowings is computed based on market rates. Currently, the
Group enters into interest rate swaps, in which the Group agrees
to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed
and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an
agreed-upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated
to hedge underlying debt obligations. On 31 December 2008,
the carrying amount of these swaps amounted to approximately
HK$215,656,000. The Group mainly performs its risk management
through adjustments in its borrowing portfolios which comprise fixed
interest rate borrowings and floating interest rate borrowings.

The Group will constantly assess the interest rate risk it encounters
to decide whether it is required to hedge against the possible interest
rate risk that may arise.

On 31 December 2008, assuming the interest rate of bank
borrowings was increased/decreased by 0.5% and all other factors
remained unchanged, then profit after tax for the year of the Group
and the Company should decrease/increase by approximately
HK$24,949,013 (2007: HK$20,993,665) and HK$24,652,118 (2007:
HK$18,139,650), respectively.

Foreign currency risk

Most of the operating income of the Group’s business is in RMB
and assets held and all of the committed borrowings of the Group
are mainly denominated in RMB and US$. During the year, RMB
appreciated compared to US$ and HK$. Management believes such
an appreciation will not have any negative effect on the Group.
Hence, the Group has not adopted any financial instruments for
hedging purposes. However, the Group will constantly assess the
foreign exchange risk it encounters so as to immediately decide
the hedging policy required to hedge against the possible foreign
exchange risk that may arise.

AEBzeMTAMELZRARTIEANXRER -
SRR EERRERBESRAR -EF2 SR
A E EIR M F R e 2 SRR SRS o

MEER

AEENFERABREZEAHBITERZFIEZEM
EE -ZSRTERZHEDRETSHR;E -
BAl ARE VA EEHEL Bt AEER
ERBERBRREL2EZEATNEEARENE
FHOEERZECH L EZTH ZERHEHNRE
A FHEBESETMI L R \F+=
A=+—RH ZEEHKREELA215,656,000
B - AEEFZABAERLEBEASIETRAR
EE MmMEEEAGEEEEMNEERRZEER

AREEHEHEHBIOTERBIRE LT
BEERARELOFEER -

RZZFEZENFF+ZA=+—0 BERTERGF
EEF /TR0 RFABHMEAZRETE A
AEERARARAAFERBENEE S BIRD 1
hN#924,949,013% L (ZFZT £ 120,993,665
JC) }24,652,1188 7L (— T Z 4 :18,139,650
BIT) °

SMERLBR

REBEBHALIRERER/ARE  LAE
B EERMBEAREREZAUARE R
ERHE-FAN ARBBETRBLAE -EE
BRR HEAEHAEEYEENEEAYE R
b AREL ERAEMSRB T RS RRE A
i 7N ER B 4 AR AT 4 P IB B 0 SVE L B DA (R
2 BR TE BT 75 B S5 08 R 3R DA S 0 A BE E A B0 S BE

B o
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

On 31 December 2008, assuming that against US$/HK$, RMB
appreciated by 5% and all other factors remained unchanged,
then profit after tax for the year of the Group and the Company
should increase by HK$172,056,190 (2007: HK$108,370,335), and
HK$93,519,549 (2007: HK$46,739,056), respectively. The change
is mainly the net value that comes from the exchange gains in US$-
denominated bank borrowings and RMB-denominated cash and cash
equivalents, and offset by the exchange loss in RMB-denominated
trade payables.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties
except for the sales of properties, for which no credit is given to the
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and
the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets and
other receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments. The Group is also exposed to credit risk through
the granting of financial guarantees, further details of which are
disclosed in note 42(i) to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of
credit risk are managed by customer and by industry sector. There
are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group
as the customers bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely
dispersed in different geographical regions.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 28 to the
financial statements.
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 45. B EEREE 2BEMRBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Group is unable to meet its current
liabilities that fall due. The Group’s objective is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of short and long term bank loans. Through maintaining a
reasonable proportion in its asset and liability structure, the Group is
able to meet the ongoing financial needs of the Group.

Equity price risk

The equity price risk of the Group mainly comes from the changes
in market prices for held-for-trading equity investments. The book
value of this type of financial assets held by the Group is recognised
according to market quotes as at the balance sheet date.

On 31 December 2008, assuming that the price of listed equity
securities held by the Group was increased/decreased by 10%,
and all other factors remained unchanged and excluding tax items,
the book value of the listed equity securities of the Group and
the Company should have increased/decreased by HK$1,730,736
(2007: HK$60,299,000) and HK$1,676,118 (2007: HK$9,149,000),
respectively.

Capital management

The objectives of the Group’s capital management policy are to
ensure the financing capabilities of the Company in running its
operation on a going concern basis, to maintain an optimised
capital structure, to reduce capital cost and to maximise the value of

shareholders.

The Group manages and adjusts its capital structure appropriately
according to the specific features of the risks of its assets and the
changes in various economic conditions. Through adjustments
in dividend distribution, injections and repayments of capital
by shareholders or issuance of new shares, the Group is able to
maintain an optimised capital structure of the Company.

i B 1 LR
EASETREEHECIHNRDEBREL
nBERR - AREEAEEBEREHREHR
TEF #RBEeREHEREIE 2 FYE- B8
REEEBBELIIRFAESEKF AEEAH
RAEBESBRIMBHEE-

IR 1B LB
AEEZBRERBREIBZERERFEEZERE 2
TEZY HEAAEEREEREEZREE
TIRBEE B TI5RERER

R-ZEENFF+_A=+—HB BRAEEEFHE
2 EMBRABEZEBREATHKI0% MABH
thERGRF[FLE (TREHE)  AAEEER
A2 ERARES 2 BREEED BI04
1,730,736/ 7T (ZZZ+F : 60,299,000/48 7T ) &
1,676,118 7L (ZZTZ 4 19,149,000 T ) °

EXER

AEEZERNEERRZBBRDREARARZE
ERE DR IR R L UM E
EMEARZERE BLEARARERBRREE-

AEEREBEASEEZRREHREELEMNRR
THRZEHEEHEERRBETERRFE -
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45.

46.

47.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio. The Group’s policy
is to maintain the gearing ratio less than or equal 70%. The gearing

45. MBEMERE BN RBUER (&)

BEAXAER(#)

AEERERNGRBLELREEE
RIEERBBLRERE70%HAT - REE

AR REE 2]

ratios as at the balance sheet dates are as follows: ZEXRBELEMT
Group
rEH
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Interest-bearing bank loans (note 33) FERITE R (M15E33) 12,251,325 9,637,608
Trade and notes payables (note 34) FEATBR X S B 245 (BIRE34) 87,438 86,965
Other payables and accruals HEtpE I RERETER 1,999,976 1,249,406
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 32) ML RERBRESEEY (KFE32) (4,570,861) (4,689,828)
Net debt F B 9,767,878 6,284,151
Equity attributable to equity holders RIEFEB ARG 10,691,876 9,848,804
Capital and net debt BEARRFER 20,459,754 16,132,955
Gearing ratio BEARBELEX 48% 39%
COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 46. kL2 8

In current year, certain comparative figures have been reclassified so

as to conform with the current year’s presentation.

In addition, the comparative income statement has been re-
presented as if the operations ceased to be classified as discontinued
operations during the current year, and which had been classified
as continuing operations at the beginning of the comparative period
(note 11).

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 20 April 2009.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFEMBRE

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Restated)
FTER FHET FHET FHEL FHET
(Z31)
RESULTS £
REVENUE FROM BESEER
CONTINUING OPERATIONS Al §: 4,080,821 3,342,802 1,812,597 3,003,435 2,000,131
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B % A % F
(Including profit from (BRI R
discontinued operations) BEBET) 1,700,585 2,658,933 1,335,561 997,529 769,346
Tax BB (677,100) (725,530) (197,185) (152,479) (57,878)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F R F 1,023,485 1,933,403 1,138,376 845,050 711,468
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: THIpE
Equity holders of the parent BARRERAA 873,016 1,714,821 803,606 534,339 422,561
Minority interests LR RER 150,469 218,582 334,770 310,711 288,907
1,023,485 1,933,403 1,138,376 845,050 711,468
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE-BER
MINORITY INTERESTS SYRFES
Total assets BEE 27,719,073 25,526,228 18,133,942 12,069,375 11,331,771
Total liabilities BEE (16,160,462)  (14,301,280)  (10,337,166) (5,767,477) (6,243,590)
Minority interests DEIRRE (866,735) (1,376,144) (1,354,260) (1,509,382) (1,375,590)
10,691,876 9,848,804 6,442,516 4,792,516 3,712,591
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Property List
M= — 8k

Group | — Property interest held by the Group for sales
F-EB-FAKRESAEHEZMERES

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HREHE
M= ik ik KEFEES (P7K) ZERAH
1. Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Ind. and Res. 75% 9,920.00 2006-2008
ERBI%E A E TIXRE=R
2. Tianan Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Ind. 37.5% 96,503.00 2008
ARERBIERE A mE I%
3. Xian Shum Yip Commercial City Junction of Jiefang Road ~ Com., Off. and 100% 7,383.04 2000
and Dongyi Road, Xian  Carpark
[ilkre/S I 75 %2 T R A B BAE WAER
R—BRR FE5
4, Shum Yip Coast Phase I & II Baoan, Shenzhen Res. 100% 3,264.11 2006-2007
REHRHE-R=H AT E LR F=E
5. Shum Yip Coast Phase IlI Baoan, Shenzhen Res. 100% 28,866.27 2008
REHFHR=H AT E LR F=E
6. Zhongxin Science & Technology Futian, Shenzhen Off. 100% 9,685.72 2001
Building
REMBEAR A E HUNES
7. Noah Mountain Forest Phase | Changsha City, Hunan Res. 80% 6,404.00 2007
oo AR — HMEERD™ F=E
8. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Phase | Huizhou Res. 100% 17,034.00 2008
BB — BN E=E
9. Tian’an Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong ~Ind. 37.5% 19,906.00 2008
Phase |
AREMBBRN 5 ERERIT Ix
10. Tian’an Nanhai New Cyber-City Nanhai, Guangdong Ind. 33.8% 18,073.00 2008
Phase |
RZEBHEREN— ERERE I%
11. Tian’an Panyu Phase IIl & IV Panyu, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 10,833.00 2008
REEB=ZRTH EREER I%
12. Nanhu Rose Bay Phase | Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 19,875.00 2008
HMBRE MItE R ED F=E
Sub-total /]\&t: 247,747.14
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M= — 8k

Group Il - Property interest held by the Group under development
FoE-AKRERARRDZMERES

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEEER
ES i3k R# EEfEES (FFHXK) % A
13. Noah Mountain Forest Phase Il Changsha, Hunan Res. 80% 63,113.00 2009
EEEENI R S MEERDT T
14. Shum Yip Coast Phase IlI Shenzhen, Guangdong  Res. 100% 66,887.20 2009
RENFR=H BRA R T
15. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Phase Il Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 81,000.00 2009
BB = BRAEMT FE
16. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Phase Il Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 9,205.00 2009
BEMEMHE = BRAEMT FE
17. Nanhu Rose Bay Phase |l Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 97,400.00 2010
BB ML ERET T
18. Tian’an Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 160,000.00 2010
Phase Il
PN =k A BRERIIT I%
19. Tian'an Panyu Phase IV Panyu, Guangdong Res. 37.5% 48,920.00 2009
RLEBOH BREAER FE
20. Tian’an Nanhai New Cyber-City Phase Il Nanhai, Guangdong Ind. 33.8% 58,399.00 2009
RLE BB BRA®E I%
21. Royal Spring Villas Dongguan, Guangdong  Res. 100% 132,498.27 2009
R0 E BRARRT FE
22. Purple Kylin Hill Phase I (Part 1 & 2) Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Res. 100% 87,654.89 2009
KB (1 R2E5) BRA R T
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Property List
M= — 8k

Group Il - Property interest held by the Group under development
FoE-AKRERARRDZMERES

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEEER
ES i3k R# KBRS (FFHXK) % A
23. Noble Residence Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Res. 100% 84,846.00 2009
% i BRA R T
24. Chaohu Project Phase | Chaohu, Anhui Res. 80% 44,859.10 2011
EHEA -8 ZRAE LR T
25. Shunde Shum Yip City Phase | Shunde District, Foshan  Res. 100% 73,400.00 2010
City, Guangdong
JIE 728 5 9 — BRABLTIEER EE
26. Shenyang Wuai Project Shenyang City, Liaoning ~ Com./Res. 28.8% 134,484.86 2009
Province
EEREER BELREGT G}
27. Pengji Times Industrial Park Shenzhen, Guangdong  Ind. 100% 73,369.00 2009
BEFRAXE BRA R I%
28. Garden Hill Phase 1 Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 61,593.00 2009
FiliHE—H BRAEMT FE
29. Red Pine Building Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 75% 38,800.00 2009
SRVVNE] BRERIIT I%
30. Tian'an Buji Hongda Building Shenzhen, Guangdong  Res. 37.5% 86,800.00 2009
REMERENE BRERIIT I%
31. Snow Pine Building Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 75% 42,700.00 2010
ERRE BRERIIT I%
32. Jiangsu Changzhou Project Phase 1 Changzhou, Jiangsu Res. and Ind. 37.5% 126,602.00 2009-2010
TEREMNIER —H TEE B IMNT IX &€
Sub-total />3 1,572,531.32
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M= — 8k

Group Il — Property interest held by the Group for future development
F-E-FAKRESAFERRBREZYEER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEEER
mE bichs Jiikes KEFEES (FFHXK) % A
33. Noah Mountain Forest Changsha, Hunan Res. 80% 1,667,468.00 2015
a ap LI AK MEERDT T
34. Oujing Liyuan Dongguan, Guangdong  Res. 100% 191,945.00 2013
B=Ei BRARRT =
35. Nanhu Rose Bay Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 191,000.00 2011
HMBRE ML ERET T
36. Tian’an Panyu New Cyber-City Panyu, Guangzhou Ind. 37.5% 230,000.00 2011
AL B IS BREAER I%
37. Tian'an Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 165,000.00 2011
AR EBIBHR BRE R I%
38. Terra Building Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 75% 130,200.00 2012
e (N1 BRERIIT I%
39. Longgang Kangzi Project Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Res. and Com. 100% 80,000.00 2011
EENFEE BRA R A
40. Shunde Shum Yip City Shunde District, Com./Res. 100% 518,000.00 2011
Foshan City, Guangdong
JIE 78 R 5 BRABLTIEER [)E
41. Longgang Pingshan Project Shenzhen, Guangdong  Res. and Com. 100% 188,000.00 2011
BT ILIIER BRA R A
42. Purple Kylin Hill Phase II Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Res. 100% 110,324.84 2010-2011
ZBL =5 BRA R FE
43. Chaohu Bantang Resort Chaohu, Anhui Res. and Hotel 80% 114,300.00 2011
LG E R ZRAE LR FERBE
44. Heyuan Land Heyuan, Guangdong Res. and Com. 100%  1,450,000.00 2011
AR L3 BRE MR [)E
45. Foshan Yundonghai Foshan, Guangdong Res. and Com 100%  1,248,525.00 2011
FILERE BRA GRS G}
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Property List
M= — 8k

Group Il — Property interest held by the Group for future development
F-E-FAKRESAFERRBREZYEER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HEREER

LIES i3k ik KBRS (P 7K) ERAH

46. Qiqu Land Shenzhen, Guangdong  Ind. 95.4% 409,100.00 2011
tELi ERERIT T%®

47. Qingshuihe Land Shenzhen, Guangdong  Ind. 95.4% 258,000.00 2011
7K L3 ERERIT T%

48. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 173,300.00 2013
EME BRABMT FE

49. Huizhou Zhongkai City Square Huizhou, Guangdong Com. and Off. 100% 253,375.00 2013
BINFER T RS EREEMNT BERBAZE

50. Tian'an (Nanhai) New Cyber-City Nanhai, Guangdong Ind. 33.8% 128,000.00 2010
RREEBBHM ERE®E I%

51. Jiangsu Changzhou Project Changzhou, Jiangsu Com. and Res. 37.5% 190,900.00 2011
TERMIERR TERE EIMNT BX HE%E

52. Garden Hill Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 386,321.00 2011
FR%E BRABMM FE

53. Shumyip Taifu City Garden Maanshan, Anhui Res., Com., and Off. 67.0% 1,103,671.00 2011
REZELE ZRABELT BE WRE EX

54. Jiangsu Taizhou Project Taizhou, Jiangsu Res. and Com. 100% 570,094.00 2011
EkE TERE TN AE

Sub-total /]\it: 9,757,523.84
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Property List

W) % —

BEx

Group IV - Property interest held by the Group for investment
FHE-FAKRESFAEREZMERES

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEEEE
LIES bichld R#% SEfGER (FFK) 3=k
55. Shun Hing Square Shennan Zhong Road, Com., Off., Res. 100% 18,367.11 1996
Jiefang Road and Baoan  and Carpark
Road, Luohu, Shenzhen
B RNESRABERRR BE PRE
BERBREZR FEREES
56. Shum Yip Centre Shennan Zhong Road, Com. and Off. 100% 7,422.84 1997
Luohu, Shenzhen
RER D RINZE R R R BERBRE
57. Hua Min Building Renmin Nan Road, Com./Res., Com. 50% 5,853.09 1993
Luohu, Shenzhen and Carpark
ERKE RINE SR AR R w R EER
B85
58 Hua Min Building Renmin Nan Road, Com./Res. 100% 1,376.98 1993
Luohu, Shenzhen
ERKE YN B AR /1
59. Shum Yip Building Wenjin Zhong Road, Com., Off. and 100% 5,393.94 1991
Luohu, Shenzhen Carpark
RERNE RYI B IR B [SE 38 VNS
FES
60. Shen Gang Garden Shennan Dong Road, Com. and Res. 80% 3,390.14 1994
Luohu, Shenzhen
RBIEE RYI B R SR B HEREE
61. Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Com., Off., 75% 116,464.07 1994-2007
Com./Res., Ind.,
Res. and Carpark
BRABIXR AYIEAE HE-BAE
B/E I
FEREES
62. No.10 Fuxing Nan Road Futian, Shenzhen Res. 75% 96.66 1990
REMIK105% AYIEAE F=x
63. Shenhua Science & Technology Park Meilin Road, Futian, Ind. 75% 15,341.58 1994
Shenzhen
REREE W78 [ AR BR Ix
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M= — 8k

Group IV - Property interest held by the Group for investment
FHE-FAKRESFAEREZMERES

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEEER
ES i3k itk SEFEER (FFHXK) 3=k
64. Shop in No.117 Fuxing Road Futian, Shenzhen Com. 100% 50.49 1993
BEKI7RER AlEHER GES
65. Shen Gang Xin Cun Luohu, Shenzhen Ind. and Carpark 80% 8,609.88 1992
RBH RN R ITXREES
66. Fuxing Building No.9 Fuxing Road, Com., Off. and 100% 1,593.20 1993
Futian, Shenzhen Carpark
REKE R EEREERKIE HE PAEX
BES
67. Xian Shum Yip Commercial City Junction of Jiefang Road  Off 100% 2,694.16 2000
and Dongyi Road, Xian
BLREEM ALTRBRER—  BLOE
R
68. Tianan Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Off., Ind., Res. 37.5% 61,538.97 2000-2005
and Carpark
ARRERBIXE w78 R WAE T%-
EEREES
69. Shenrong Building Futian, Shenzhen Com. and Res. 40% 6,883.78 2000
RERE AYEAE BEREE
70. Huagang Xin Cun Futian, Shenzhen Res. 80% 4,078.73 1995
EEHN YA E T
71. Yitai Centre Luohu, Shenzhen Com. 100% 627.48 1995
TRFRH L AN EW = [EES
72. Qing Shui He Warehouse Zone Luohu, Shenzhen Ind., Res. and 95% 63,010.03 1985-1989
Off.
BKAEER AN EW = I¥ Ik
NS
73. Shum Yip Garden Futian, Shenzhen Com. 100% 2,646.43 2002
REEE AR R [EES
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Property List
M= — 8k

Group IV - Property interest held by the Group for investment
FHE-FAKRESFAEREZMERES

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEEER
ES bichS itk SEFEER (FFHXK) 3=k
74. Sungang Warehouse Zone Baoan Bei Road, Luohu, Ind. and Com. 95% 98,037.00 1990-2002
Shenzhen
BHEER YN EW R E bR HERIE
75. Compostie Building on Taoyuan Road Baoan Bei Road, Luohu, Com./Res. 95% 4,812.73 1991
Shenzhen
R EEE R 8 B % AL 3R [i)E
76. Zijing Yuan Futian, Shenzhen Carpark 100% 7,257.00 1997
ESP AR RE BES
77. Jinze Bldg. Tianhe District, Res. 80% 240.91 1997
Guangzhou
2ERE BN KA & =
78. Guangzhou Fuxing Com. & Trading Bldg. Huangpu Da Road, Off 80% 150.55 1997
Tianhe District,
Guangzhou
BNEEBERE BMAAREHAE NS
79. S.Z. Int'l. Trust and Investment Corp. Junction of Zhenxin Off 75% 1,316.54 1990
Building Road and Shangbu
Zhong Road, Futian,
Shenzhen
RYNEREEREBRAIAE YR A R R R /N
EHPEZR
80. Terra Plaza Futian, Shenzhen Res. 75% 90.00 1997
BRES YRR £
81. Shenyang Wuai Shenyang City, Liaoning ~ Com. and Ind. 28.8% 27,412.80 1994-1996
Province
BHELE EELRGT BMERTE
82. Pengji Properties Shenzhen Com., Res., Ind. 100% 289,725.17 1983-2001
and Carpark
BEME w HE EEILE
PR
Sub-total /}\&f: 754,482.26
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M= — 8k

Group V - Property interest held by the Group for self-occupation

FHE-AKEFAFEERZMEES

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
AREEE
ES it 4k Jick - SEfEER (EHX) R A
83. Shum Yip Centre Shennan Zhong Road, Off 100% 1,880.50 1997
Luohu, Shenzhen
RERLD R R R R R R /N
84. Shum Yip Building Wenjin Zhong Road, Com. and Off. 100% 2,060.20 1991
Luohu, Shenzhen
RERE RYN 8 & 3R P B HERBPLE
85. Shenrong Building Futian, Shenzhen Com., Res. and 40% 3,846.54 2000
Carpark
RERNE FIIERR mEAEER
FE5
86. No.4 Tengfei Street Shenyang Res. and Carpark 80% 153.93 1992
B A ATA5% & TEREES
87. Land in Shawan Shawan, Shenzhen Carpark 80% 1,480.00 2002
DE L YD &R FE5
88. Elaine Court No.211-215 Tong Choi ~ Res. 40% 43.01 1986
Street, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
TRER BEENEBXMIE F=E
215%
89. Forum Court No0.9-9B Peace Ave., Res. 40% 49.24 1979
Homantin, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
=ERE EBENEMXAATE ({E
9-9B%
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Group V - Property interest held by the Group for self-occupation
FHE-AKEFAFEERZMEES

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HEERE
/S 131k Ag SEfEER (FFHK) &R B
90. Tian Yuan Xin Cun Futian, Shenzhen Res. 100% 103.23 1997
563 AYEAE FE
91. Sungang Warehouse Futian, Shenzhen Off. and Res. 95% 10,502.41 1988-1991
BmEEE wIIERR WAERMEE
92. Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Com. and Res. 75% 4,270.08 1994-2005
BERABI#RE IR R BEREE
93. Xian Shum Yip Commercial City Junction of Jiefang Road  Off. 100% 712.88 2000
and Dongyi Road, Xian
PAR R 2 FI ALMBMEERE K WAE
RR
94. Block 1, Liangtong Aidewei Industrial Luohu, Shenzhen Ind. 100% 337.08 1990’s
Area
EREBRIEREIR FINE B R I%
95. Block 709, Liangtong Industrial Area Luohu, Shenzhen Ind. 80% 4,941.49 1994
BEREIER7091% FINE B R I%
96. Lian Nan Garden Luohu, Shenzhen Res. 80% 744.28 1993
EEtE AYN &R FE
97. Huagiao Estate, Danshui, Huizhou Huizhou City, Res. 80% 500.07 1989
Guangdong Province
BMHKEFIHN EREBMNMT F=x
98. Business Space-Time Centre Futian, Shenzhen Off. 100% 296.00 2006
L #YEAE WAE
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Group V - Property interest held by the Group for self-occupation
FHE-AKEFAFEERZMEES

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEEER
IES i34k R# SEfEER (F7K) ERAEH
99. Shenyang Dongfang Weinisi Shenyang City, Liaoning  Res. 28.8% 160.48 2005
Province
&R BEH EELREGT E=E
100.  Shenyang Wuai Logistic Building Shenyang City, Liaoning  Off 28.8% 1,831.20 1994-1996
Province
EEOEEER EELREGT i NES
101.  Building on Xinghe Road Huizhou City, Res 40% 1,358.24 2002
Guangdong Province
EMRKE T BRAEMT E=E
102.  Buildings and Land in Taihe County Jian City, Jiangxi Ind. 40.8% 13,574.32 1978-2004
Province
FNFLHREE IREERM I%
103.  Pengji Properties Shenzhen, Guangzhou, ~ Com., Off. Res. 100% 24,177.10 1983-1998
Zhuhai and Nanjing and Ind.
BENE A EM KERER BR BAE
FERTE
Sub-total /)&t 73,022.28
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Group VI - Property interest held by the Group under agreement

FEAE-FKERGBRRZUE

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
AREER
/S 131k Ag SEfEER (EHX) &R B
104. Jintian Garden Nanshan, Shenzhen Res. 80% 90.12 1991
FHEE I LR fF=E
105. Lian Tang Ind. Zone Da Gu Ling, Lian Tang, Res. 100% 2,767.00 1994
Luohu, Shenzhen
BETER MIBSEEE THE I%
106.  Dong Bin Res. Area Nanyou Oil Res. 45% 106.73 1992
Development Region,
Nanshan, Shenzhen
RETER AMlELlEEERAER I%
Sub-total /]N&t: 2,963.85

Grand-total #5f:
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

BREFAXSES

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Shenzhen
Investment Limited (“the Company”) will be held at Garden Room,
2nd Floor, Hotel Nikko Hong Kong, 72 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong on Wednesday, 3 June 2009 at 10:30 a.m. for the

following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the audited financial statements and the

report of the directors and the independent auditors’ report for the
year ended 31 December 2008.

2. To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008.

3. To elect directors and to authorise the board of directors to fix the

directors’ fees.

4. To re-appoint auditors and to authorise the board of directors to fix

their remuneration.

As special business, to consider and,

if thought fit, to pass with or

without modifications the following resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

5. “THAT:

(a)

subject to paragraph (b) of this resolution, the exercise by
the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all powers of the Company to repurchase
shares in the capital of the Company on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) or on any other
stock exchange on which the securities of the Company may
be listed and is recognised by the Securities and Futures
Commission and the Stock Exchange for this purpose, subject
to and in accordance with all applicable laws and/or the
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange or of any other stock exchange as
amended from time to time, be and is hereby generally and
unconditionally approved;

the aggregate nominal amount of shares to be repurchased
by the Company pursuant to the approval of paragraph (a) of
this resolution shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue
as at the date of the passing of this resolution and the authority
pursuant to paragraph (a) of this resolution shall be limited
accordingly; and

FYER AR A T 2008F F3R

HBE
FRAZRA(EYP=Z) EFHR=1+5

RYERBARAB ([ARE)EITR_FFTAH
D REEE NLBER

WIEREEE 7257 B E AR R 2R IE E B R ITRER

BEXRE

IAEERIE N5 IR -
EEHE_TTNFT_A=T"BLFEZL
ERMBHRNETEWEE LB I ZBEIRE -

EMREBRE
2 NS

TEN\F+AS+—BILER

BREENERESEETESHRE -

EERHMEERESTEETANS -

ERFHEE ZELKNERBTIARR (TwmESR
1&3]) :

EZERER
5. [8h&:

(a) EARRBROEZRBT  — R RN &
HLER AR EEENEBERE (IR
E)RITEARBMER] REBRERS
FrBERAR (TBEEFT]) RARE Z 555 A BE
EHYRHEFRAEERERZ RS R
B UM R 2 A EMES X S B
&?;?E”WH#& Bl Z PR BB 2D &/‘}Z
B PreE S LR RS E A A E 5 S
ZIRE - BRIARRRPRAP Z B fp
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ﬂE?é‘ﬁH’i$EE#%‘§EZ§%Z+ AR
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

BREFAXSES

6.

()

for the purposes of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual
general meeting of the Company is required by law to be

held; and

(iii

the passing of an ordinary resolution by shareholders of
the Company in general meeting revoking or varying the
authority given to the directors of the Company by this
resolution.”

“THAT:

(a)

subject to paragraph (c) of this resolution and pursuant to
Section 57B of the Companies Ordinance, the exercise by
the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all powers of the Company to allot, issue
and deal with additional shares in the capital of the Company
and to make and grant offers, agreements and options (including
warrants, bonds, debentures, notes and other shares which
carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into shares of the
Company) which would or might require shares to be allotted is

hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

the approval in paragraph (a) of this resolution shall authorise
the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period to
make and grant offers, agreements and options (including
warrants, bonds, debentures, notes and other shares which
carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into shares of the
Company) which would or might require shares to be allotted

after the end of the Relevant Period;

()

MARERM S

[BERME] DEARBRERBZHLEET
FIMEM&RF 2 Bz #5E :

(i) ARATEBRRBFAGHERE:

(i) JEBIREARRRARLT
SHREM B &

fE B R IBEF K

(i) AABBRRAEBRRAES LBBEBRSE
ERHERERRNRAERETARBES
ZHEN -]

(85

(a)

ERRBROBRZART RRE R FMEDE
57BiF —MREEMEERILERARTESS
REBBE (R TXHARE) RITEAR R
BHES  ARLHE BOTREEARABRASZ
BN - WAFH IR TRFBAE B 2B
B R (RREMERNRERTE
BAARARN 2 REER B GEREE
SR EMMKNL)

RRERQBZBEBEEARAEZER
BERMEAAFELHRTRBEREBHRE
RIZBC B 2 ERER - &Hﬂﬁé(@%
MAEENBELTERBARNRF RN 2B
HE Er EEE REREEMRKRD)
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
BRREAFAREES

(c) the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted or
agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted (whether
pursuant to an option or otherwise) by the directors of the
Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) of this
resolution, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as
hereinafter defined); or (ii) the exercise of rights of subscription
or conversion under the terms of any existing warrants, bonds,
debentures, notes or other securities issued by the Company
which carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into shares
of the Company; or (iii) the exercise of options granted under
any option scheme or similar arrangement for the time being
adopted for the grant or issue of shares or rights to acquire
shares in the Company; or (iv) any scrip dividend or similar
arrangement providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of
the whole or part of a dividend on shares of the Company in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
shall not exceed 20 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount
of the share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of the
passing of this resolution and the said approval shall be limited
accordingly; and

(d) for the purposes of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual
general meeting of the Company is required by law to be

held; and

(iii

the passing of an ordinary resolution by shareholders of
the Company in general meeting revoking or varying the
authority given to the directors of the Company by this
resolution.”

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares or issue of options, warrants
or other securities giving the right to subscribe for shares of the
Company open for a period fixed by the directors of the Company to
holders of shares whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company (and, where appropriate, to holders of other securities
of the Company entitled to the offer) on a fixed record date in
proportion to their then holdings of such shares of the Company
(or, where appropriate such other securities) (subject in all cases
to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors of the
Company may deem necessary or expedient in relation to fractional
entitlements or having regard to any restrictions or obligations under
the laws of, or the requirements of any recognised regulatory body or
any stock exchange in, any territory applicable to the Company).”
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7. “THAT subjects to the passing of resolution No. 5 and 6 set out in
the notice convening this meeting, the general mandate granted to
the directors of the Company to exercise the powers of the Company
to allot, issue and deal with additional shares in the Company
pursuant to resolution No. 6 set out in the notice convening this
meeting is hereby extended by the addition thereto of an amount
representing the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital
of the Company repurchased by the Company under the authority
granted pursuant to resolution No. 5 set out in the notice convening
this meeting, provided that such extended amount shall not exceed
10 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of
the Company in issue as at the date of the passing of this resolution.”

By order of the Board
HU Aimin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 April 2009

Registered Office:

8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre,
9 Science Museum Road,
Tsimshatsui,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong.
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Notes:

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is
entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, vote instead

of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

To be valid, a form of proxy, together with the power of attorney or other
authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that
power or authority must be deposited at the registered office of the Company
at 8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the
meeting or any adjournment thereof.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 29 May
2009 to Wednesday, 3 June 2009, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed final
dividend and to determine the identity of the shareholders who are entitled to
attend and vote at the meeting, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Registrars, Tricor Standard Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:00 p.m. on Wednesday,
27 May 2000.

Pursuant to rule 13.39(4) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), any vote of the shareholders at the
meeting shall be taken by poll and the Company will announce the results of

the poll in the manner prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

With regard to items 3 and 5 to 7 of this notice, a circular giving details of the
general mandates to repurchase shares and to issue shares of the Company and
details of directors seeking re-election will be despatched to the shareholders
together with the Annual Report 2008 of the Company on 30 April 2009.

This notice is also available for viewing on the designated website of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk and the website of
the Company at www.shenzheninvestment.com from 30 April, 2009.

As at the date of this notice, the Board comprises 8 directors, of which Mr.
HU Aimin, Mr. ZHANG Yijun, Mr. ZHAO Gesheng and Mr. LIU Weijin are the
executive directors of the Company, Dr. WU Jiesi is the non-executive director
of the Company and Mr. WONG Po Yan, Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael and Mr.
LI Wai Keung are the independent non-executive directors of the Company.
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